# VISA 2022/169299-7976-0-PC

L'apposition du visa ne peut en aucun cas servir d'argument de publicité Luxembourg, le 2022-06-07 Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier

# **Emirates NBD SICAV**

Investment Fund under Luxembourg Law Société d'Investissement à Capital Variable

Prospectus June 2022

# CONTENTS

1.	Notice to Investors	6
2.	Directory	8
3.	Definitions	10
4.	General Information	13
4.1	Organisation	13
4.2	Structure of the Fund	14
4.3	Meetings and Announcements	14
4.4	Reports and Accounts	15
4.5	Allocation of Assets and Liabilities among Sub-Funds	15
4.6	Determination of the Net Asset Value of Shares	16
4.7	Temporary Suspension of Issues, Redemptions and Conversions	18
4.8	Dissolution and Liquidation of the Fund, any Sub-Fund or any Class of Shares	18
4.9	Merger of the Fund and of Sub-Funds	19
4.10	Division of Sub-Funds	20
4.11	Amalgamation of Classes	20
4.12	Material Contracts	21
4.13	Documents Available for Inspection	21
4.14	Management and Administration	22
4.15	Board of Directors	23
4.16	Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager(s) and Global Distributor	25
4.17	Shari'a Compliance	26
4.18	Depositary	28
4.19	Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Listing Agent and Transf	
5.	Investment Policies	33
5.1	Investment Policy of each Sub-Fund	33
5.2	Financial derivative instruments and other invested assets	34
5.3	Global Exposure	35
6.	Risk Factors	36
6.1	General	36
6.2	Interest Rate Risk	36

6.3	Counterparty Credit Risk	36
6.4	Economic Risk	37
6.5	Issuer Risk	37
6.6	Liquidity Risk	37
6.7	Currency Risk	37
6.8	Currency Risk – Hedged Share Class	38
6.9	Custodial Risk	38
6.10	Valuation Risk	39
6.11	Credit spread risk	39
6.12	Operational Risk	39
6.13	Regulatory, Business, Legal and Tax	39
6.14	Conflicts of Interest	39
6.15	Emerging Markets	39
6.16	Fixed Income Securities – General	40
6.17	Sovereign Bonds	40
6.18	Corporate Bonds	41
6.19	Investment Grade Rated Securities	41
6.20	Sub-Investment Grade/High Yield	41
6.21	Distressed Debt Securities	41
6.22	Convertible Bonds	42
6.23	Securitised Bonds	42
6.24	Local Currency Securities	43
6.25	Subordinated Debts	43
6.26	Equities	43
6.27	Unlisted Securities	43
6.28	Derivatives	44
6.29	Management risk	44
6.30	Liquidity risk	45
6.31	Market and Other Risks	45
6.32	Unlisted instruments	45
6.33	Credit Linked Notes	46
6.34	Securities Lending, Borrowing Transactions and Repurchase Agreements	46

6.35	Collateral management	46
6.36	Eurozone Breakup / Failure of Euro	47
6.37	Investment Funds	47
6.38	Shari'a Compliance	47
6.39	Sukuk	47
6.40	Common Reporting Standard ("CRS")	48
6.41	Sustainability Risk	49
6.42	China Access Channels Specific Risks	49
6.43	Specific risks of investing in Contingent Convertible Debt Securites	53
7.	The Shares	54
7.1	General	54
7.2	Subscription for Shares	55
7.3	Class Descriptions, Eligibility for Shares, Minimum Subscription and Holding Amounts	56
7.4	Conversion of Shares	57
7.5	Redemption of Shares	58
7.6	Transfer of Shares	59
7.7	Late Trading and Market Timing	60
7.8	Data Protection	60
7.9	Investors rights	62
8.	Dividend Policy	63
8.1	General	63
8.2	Distributing Classes	63
8.3	Dividend Declaration	63
8.4	Dividend Payment	64
8.5	Reinvestment	64
8.6	Dividend Income Equalisation	64
9.	Management and Fund Charges	64
9.1	Management Company Fees	64
9.2	Fees of the Investment Manager and the Global Distributor	64
9.3	Fees of the Sub-Investment Managers	65
9.4	Performance Fees	65

9.5	Fees of the Depositary, Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar,  Transfer Agent and Listing Agent	66
9.6	Operating and Administrative Expenses	66
9.7	Extraordinary Expenses	66
9.8	Swing Pricing	67
9.9	Rebate Arrangements	68
9.10	Directors Fees	68
9.11	Shari'a Board Fees	68
10.	Investment Restrictions and Financial Techniques and Instruments	68
10.1	Investment Restrictions	68
10.2	Investment Techniques and Instruments	74
10.3	Risk Management Process	79
10.4	Benchmarks	80
10.5	Sustainability related disclosures	81
11.	Taxation	81
11.1	Taxation of the Fund	81
11.2	Taxation of the Shareholders	83
11.3	UK Reporting Funds	84
11.4	US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Requirements ("FATCA")	85
Appendi	ix 1: Investment Objectives, Policies and Additional Information for Sub-Funds	87
Appendi	ix 2: Summary of Fees and Expenses for Sub-Funds	.116

#### Notice to Investors

Emirates NBD SICAV (the "Fund") is authorised under Part I of the Luxembourg law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective investment (the "Law of 2010"). The Fund has appointed Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA (the "Management Company") to serve as its designated management company in accordance with the Law of 2010. The Fund qualifies as an Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS") under Article 1, paragraph 2, points a) and b) of the Directive 2009/65/EC, and may therefore be offered for sale in the European Union ("EU") Member States (subject to notification to EU countries other than Luxembourg). In addition, applications to register the Fund may be made in other non-EU countries. The registration of the Fund on the official list of UCITS approved by the Luxembourg Regulatory Authority constitutes neither approval nor disapproval by any Luxembourg authority as to the adequacy or accuracy of this Prospectus or the Key Investor Information Documents or as to the assets held in the various sub-funds of the Fund (individually a "Sub-Fund", collectively the "Sub-Funds"). Any representations to the contrary are unauthorised and unlawful.

None of the Shares has been or will be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "1933 Act") or under the securities laws of any state or political subdivision of the United States of America or any of its territories, possessions or other areas subject to its jurisdiction including the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (the "United States"), and such Shares may be offered, sold or otherwise transferred only in compliance with the 1933 Act and such state or other securities laws. Certain restrictions also apply to the subsequent transfer of Shares in the United States or to or for the account of any US Person (as defined in Regulation S under the 1933 Act) which includes any resident of the United States, or any corporation, partnership or other entity created or organised in or under the laws of the United States (including any estate of any such person created or organised in the United States). The attention of investors is drawn to certain compulsory redemption provisions applicable to US Persons described in Section 7.5 "Redemption of Shares". The Fund has not been and will not be registered under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

The distribution of this Prospectus in other jurisdictions may also be restricted; persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer is not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer.

Shares in any Sub-Fund described in this Prospectus as well as in the Key Investor Information Document(s) are offered only on the basis of the information contained therein and (if applicable) any addendum hereto and the latest audited annual financial report and any subsequent semi-annual financial report of the Fund.

A Key Investor Information Document ("KIID") for each available class of shares in each Sub-Fund (a "Class" or collectively the "Classes") shall be made available upon request to investors free of charge prior to their subscription for Shares. Prospective investors must consult the KIID for the relevant Class and Sub-Fund in which they intend to invest. Prospective investors should also review this Prospectus carefully and in its entirety and consult with their legal, tax and financial advisors in relation to: (i) the legal and regulatory requirements within their own countries for the subscribing, purchasing, holding, converting, redeeming or disposing of Shares; (ii) any foreign exchange restrictions to which they are subject in their own countries in relation to the subscribing, purchasing, holding,

converting, redeeming or disposing of Shares; (iii) the legal, tax, financial or other consequences of subscribing for, purchasing, holding, converting, redeeming or disposing of Shares; and (iv) any other consequences of such activities.

Before consent to distribute this Prospectus is granted, certain jurisdictions require it to be translated into an appropriate language. Unless contrary to local law in the jurisdiction concerned, in the event of any inconsistency or ambiguity in relation to the meaning of any word or phrase in any translation, the English version shall prevail. Any information or representation given or made by any person which is not contained herein or in any other document which may be available for inspection by the public should be regarded as unauthorised and should accordingly not be relied upon. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offer, issue or sale of Shares shall under any circumstances constitute a representation that the information given in this Prospectus is correct as at any time subsequent to the date hereof. Unless stated to the contrary, all references herein to times and hours refer to Luxembourg local time. Certain Shares are or will be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Details may be obtained from the Listing Agent.

#### **Kingdom of Saudi Arabia**

This document may not be distributed in the Kingdom except to such persons as are permitted under the Investment Fund Regulations issued by the Capital Market Authority.

The Capital Market Authority does not make any representation as to the accuracy or completeness of this document, and expressly disclaims any liability whatsoever for any loss arising from, or incurred in reliance upon, any part of this document. Prospective subscribers of the securities offered hereby should conduct their own due diligence on the accuracy of the information relating to the securities to be offered. If you do not understand the contents of this document you should consult an authorised financial adviser.

# Notice to residents of Hong Kong

You are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. This document has not been registered by the Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong pursuant to the Companies Ordinance ("CO"), and the Fund has not been authorised by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. Accordingly: (i) the shares may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other than to persons that are considered "professional investors" within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") and any rules made thereunder or in other circumstances which do not result in such document constituting either a "prospectus" as defined in section 2(1) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("CWUO") or an offer to the public within the meaning of the SFO or the CO; and (ii) no person may issue, or have in its possession for the purpose of issue, any invitation, advertisement or other document relating to the shares whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" within the meaning of the SFO and any rules made thereunder.

# 2. Directory

# **BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE FUND**

Mr. Steve Corrin, Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited, Dubai

Mr. Martin Vogel, Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA, Luxembourg

Mr. Mark Creasey, Independent Director

Mr. Ajit Menon, Emirates NBD Bank PJSC, Dubai

Mr. Lovesh Gheraiya, Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited, Dubai

# **MANAGEMENT COMPANY**

Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA 19, rue de Bitbourg L-1273 Luxembourg Luxembourg

#### **BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY**

Chairman:

Mr. Géry Daeninck, Independent Director

Directors:

Mr. John Li How Cheong, Independent Director

Mr. Martin Vogel, Chief Executive Officer, Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA

# INVESTMENT MANAGER AND GLOBAL DISTRIBUTOR

Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited

8<sup>th</sup> Floor, East Wing

The Gate Building, DIFC,

PO Box 506578

Dubai

UAE

# **DEPOSITARY**

State Street Bank International Gmbh, Luxembourg Branch 49, Avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg Luxembourg

#### **ADMINISTRATOR**

State Street Bank International Gmbh, Luxembourg Branch 49, Avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg Luxembourg

# **AUDITORS OF THE FUND**

Deloitte Audit S.ar.l. 20 Boulevard de Kokelscheuer, 1821 Luxembourg Luxembourg

# **LUXEMBOURG LEGAL ADVISORS**

Arendt & Medernach S.A. 41A, avenue John F. Kennedy L-2082 Luxembourg Luxembourg

# SHARI'A BOARD

Internal Shari'a Supervision Committee

Emirates NBD Bank

Dr. Mohammad Ali El Gari

Dr. Mohamed Abdul Rahim Sultan Al-Ulama

Dr. Salim Al Ali

Dr. Muhammad Qaseem

Dr. Amin Fateh

## 3. Definitions

The following words shall have the following meanings in this Prospectus:

- "AAOIFI" means Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions.
- "ACC" refers to accumulating Shares.
- "AED" means United Arab Emirates Dirham.
- "Administrator" means State Street Bank International Gmbh, Luxembourg Branch. or such other entity appointed as administrator from time to time.
- "Annual General Meeting" means the annual general meeting of the Shareholders.
- "Appendix" means the relevant appendix of the Prospectus.
- "Articles of Incorporation" means the articles of incorporation of the Fund.
- "Auditor(s)" means Deloitte Audit S.à r.l. or such other entity appointed by the Fund from time to time.
- "Board of Directors" means the board of directors of the Fund.
- "Business Day" means any day in which banks in Luxembourg and London are open for normal full banking business (excluding Saturdays and Sundays as well as 24 December). In addition and where relevant for a specific Sub-Fund, any days in the UAE which are declared as public holidays shall not be considered as Business Days. Also, specifically with regard to Emirates India Equity Fund, any days in India which are declared as public holidays shall not be considered as Business Day for this specific Sub-Fund. Such days and the list of impacted Sub-Funds will be communicated to investors in due course.
- "Calculation Day" means a Valuation Day at the end of a calendar quarter.
- "CET" means Central European Time.
- "Class" means a class of Shares of a Sub-Fund.
- "CRS" means the Common Reporting Standard, within the meaning of the Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information in Tax Matters, as set out in the Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 on the Common Reporting Standard.
- "CSSF" means the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier, the financial regulatory authority in charge of the supervision of UCIs in Luxembourg.
- "CSSF Circular 08/356" means the CSSF circular 08/356 of 4 June 2008 determining the rules applicable to undertakings for collective investment (UCIs) when they employ certain techniques and instruments relating to transferable securities and money market instruments.
- "CSSF Circular 11/512" means the CSSF circular 11/512 of 30 May 2011 determining the (i) presentation of the main regulatory changes in risk management following the publication of CSSF Regulation 10-4 and ESMA clarifications, (ii) further clarifications from the CSSF on risk management rules and (iii) the definition of the content and format of the risk management process to be communicated to the CSSF.
- "CSSF circular 13/559" means the CSSF circular 13/559 of 18 February 2013 regarding ESMA guidelines on ETFs and other UCITS issues.
- "CSSF circular 18/698" means the CSSF circular 18/698 on the authorization and organization of Luxembourgish investment management companies, including specific provisions on the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing.
- "Company Law" means the law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies (as amended).
- "Data Controller" means for the purposes of the GDPR, the Fund.
- "Data Processors" means any data processor described in Section 7.8 of the Prospectus.

"Data Protection Law" means the data protection law applicable to the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and the GDPR.

"Depositary" means State Street Bank International Gmbh, Luxembourg Branch. or such other entity appointed by the Fund as depositary from time to time.

"Directive 2009/65/EC" means the EC Council Directive 2009/65/EC of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS), as may be amended from time to time.

"EU" means the European Union.

"EUR", "Euro" or "€" means the European single currency.

"Extraordinary Expenses" means any extraordinary expenses of the Fund, including, without limitation, litigation expenses, formation expenses and the full amount of any tax, levy, duty or similar charge imposed on the Fund or its assets that would not be considered as ordinary expenses.

"FATCA" means the provisions of the United States Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment (HIRE) Act of 18 March 2010 commonly referred to as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA).

"Fund" means Emirates NBD SICAV.

"GBP" means United Kingdom Pounds Sterling.

"GDPR" means Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data.

"Global Distributor" means Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited or such other entity appointed from time to time as global distributor.

"Group of Companies" means companies belonging to the same body of undertakings and which must draw up consolidated accounts in accordance with Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13 June 1983 on consolidated accounts and according to recognised international accounting rules, as amended.

"Haram" any activity deemed as non-Shari'a compliant by the Shari'a Board.

"Inc" refers to distributing Shares.

"Institutional Investors" means institutional investors as defined from time to time by the CSSF.

"ISDA" means the International Swap and Derivatives Association.

"Investment Manager" means Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited or such other entity appointed from time to time as asset manager.

"KIID" means the Key Investor Information Document(s) of each Class for each Sub-Fund.

"Law of 2010" means the Luxembourg law of 17 December 2010 relating to undertakings for collective investment, as amended from time to time.

"Management Fee" means the fees paid by the Fund to the Investment Manager calculated as a percentage of the average net assets of each Sub-Fund or Class.

"Management Company" means Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA or such other entity appointed as management company by the Fund from time to time.

"Management Company Fee" means the fees paid by the Fund to the Management Company as further defined in Appendix 2.

"Member State" means a member state of the EU. The states that are contracting parties to the agreement creating the European Economic Area other than the member states of the EU, within the limits set forth by this agreement and related acts, are considered as equivalent to member states of the EU.

"MiFID II" means the Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments repealing Directive 2004/39/EC and amending Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU.

"Money Market Instruments" means instruments normally dealt in on the money market which are liquid and have a value which can be accurately determined at any time.

"Murabaha" means Shari'a compliant cost-plus financing contract.

"OECD" means Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.

"Operating and Administrative Expenses" means all ordinary operating expenses of the Fund as set out in Section 9.5 of this Prospectus.

"Other Regulated Market" means a market which is regulated, operates regulatory and is recognised and open to the public, namely a market: (i) that meets the following cumulative criteria: liquidity; multilateral order matching (general matching of bid and ask prices in order to establish a single price); transparency (the circulation of complete information in order to give clients the possibility of tracking trades, thereby ensuring that their orders are executed on current conditions); (ii) on which the securities are dealt in at a certain fixed frequency; (iii) which is recognised by a Member State or by a public authority which has been delegated by that Member State or by another entity which is recognised by that Member State or by that public authority such as a professional association; and (iv) on which the securities dealt are accessible to the public.

"Other State" any state of Europe which is not a Member State, and any state of America, Africa, Asia, Australia and Oceania.

"Performance Fees" means the fees paid to the Investment Manager as defined under 9.2 below.

"Prospectus" means this prospectus of the Fund as amended from time to time.

"Reference Currency" means the currency in which all the underlying assets of the relevant Sub-Fund are valued and reported. The Reference Currency for each Sub-Fund is set out in Appendix 1.

"Regulated Market" means a regulated market as defined in MiFID II. A list of regulated markets according to the MIFID II is regularly updated and published by the European Commission.

"SFTR" means securities financing transactions within the meaning of the Regulation (EU) 2015/2365 of the European Parliament and the Council of 25 November 2015 on transparency of securities financing transactions and of reuse.

"SGD" means the Singapore Dollar.

"Shareholder(s)" means shareholder(s) of the Fund.

"Share(s)" means the share(s) of the Fund.

"Subscription Day" will be the Valuation day for all Classes, as further defined under 7.2 below, unless otherwise described in Appendix 1.

"Sub-Data Processors" means any sub-data processor described in Section 7.8 of the Prospectus.

"Sub-Fund" means a sub-fund of the Fund.

"Sub-Investment Manager" means Jupiter Asset Management Limited or such other entity appointed from time to time as sub-investment manager.

"Sukuk" means Shari'a-compliant alternative to bonds.

"Sustainability Factors" means environmental, social and employee matters, respect for human rights, anticorruption and anti-bribery matters."

"Redemption Day" be the Valuation day for all Classes, as further defined under 7.5 below, unless otherwise described in Appendix 1.

"Transaction Fees" means in respect of each Sub-Fund the costs and expenses of buying and selling its portfolio securities and financial instruments, brokerage fees and commissions, interest or taxes payable, and other transaction-related expenses.

"Transferable Securities" means shares and other securities equivalent to shares, bonds and other debt instruments, and any other negotiable securities which carry the right to acquire any such transferable securities by subscription or exchanges, with the exclusion of techniques and instruments.

"UAE" means the United Arab Emirates.

"UCI(s)" means undertaking(s) for collective investment.

"UCITS" means undertaking(s) for collective investment in transferable securities pursuant to Article 1, paragraph 2, points a) and b) of Directive 2009/65/EC.

**"UCITS Directive"** means Directive 2014/91/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23<sup>rd</sup> July 2014 amending Directive 2009/65/EC on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities (UCITS) as regards depositary functions, remuneration policies and sanctions, as may be amended from time to time.

"UK" means the United Kingdom.

"United States" means the United States of America.

"USD" means United States Dollars.

"Valuation Day" means the Business Day as of which the net asset value per Share of a Sub-Fund or Class of Shares is determined, as set out in Appendix 1.

"Valuation Point" means the point in time at which the net asset value of a Class of Shares is calculated.

"Zakat" means the obligation that an individual has to donate a certain proportion of wealth each year to charitable causes.

# 4. General Information

# 4.1 Organisation

The Fund is an investment company organised as a *société anonyme* under the laws of the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg and qualifies as a SICAV, incorporated under the Law of 2010 and listed on the official list of UCITS, authorised under Part I of the Law of 2010. The Fund's registered office is at 49 avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The Fund was incorporated in Luxembourg on 6 September 2013 for an unlimited period. The Articles of Incorporation were published in the *Mémorial*, *Recueil des Sociétés et Associations* (the "*Mémorial*") on 18 October 2013. The Fund is registered with the *Registre de Commerce et des Sociétés*, Luxembourg, under number B 180066. The Articles of Incorporation are on file with the Chancery of the District Court of Luxembourg (*Greffe du Tribunal d'Arrondissement*).

The minimum capital of the Fund, as provided by law, which must be achieved within six months after the date on which the Fund has been authorized as a UCITS under Luxembourg law, shall be the equivalent in U.S. Dollar of EUR 1,250,000. The initial capital of the Fund is the equivalent in USD of 31.000 EUR divided into 31.000 Shares of no par value. The capital of the Fund is represented by fully paid up Shares of no par value. The share capital is at all times equal to the total net assets of all the Sub-Fund(s).

# 4.2 Structure of the Fund

The Fund purports to invest the funds available to it in assets permitted by applicable law, with the purpose of spreading investment risks and affording its Shareholders the results of the management of its assets.

The Fund comprises several Sub-Funds. The Fund offers investors within the same investment vehicle a choice of investment in one or more Sub-Funds, which are distinguished mainly but not only by their specific investment policy and objective and/or by the currency in which they are denominated. The specifications of each Sub-Fund are described in Appendices 1 and 2. The Board of Directors may, at any time, decide to create additional Sub-Funds and, in such case, this Prospectus will be updated by adding the details of such Sub-Fund(s) to Appendices 1 and 2.

For each Sub-Fund, the Board of Directors may decide to issue separate Classes whose assets will be commonly invested but where a specific sales or redemption charge structure, fee structure, denomination, minimum subscription amount, dividend policy or such other distinctive feature as decided from time to time by the Board of Directors may be applied. Where different Classes are issued within a Sub-Fund, the details and features of each type of Class are described in Appendices 1 and 2.

Class A, B, C, D, E and G will be available to all investors under the conditions of minimum investment, top up and holding described in Appendix 2.

Class I and P are reserved for institutional investors whithin the meaning of article 174 of the Law of 2010.

Class R Shares are available to individuals in certain limited circumstances when investing through distributors, financial advisors, platforms or other intermediaries (together the "Intermediaries") on the basis of a separate agreement or fee arrangement between the Global Distributor and an Intermediary. Class R Shares are meant to comply with the restrictions on the payment of commissions set-out under the FCA Handbook in relation to Retail Distribution Review.

Class S Shares are available to individuals investing through UAE local banks and insurance platforms distributing inhouse managed systematic investment plans under the conditions of minimum investment described in Appendix 2.

Class X Shares are reserved for Sub-Funds and Feeder Funds managed by the Investment Manager when investing in other Sub-Funds of the Fund

#### 4.3 Meetings and Announcements

Unless otherwise stated in the notice of convocation, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the registered office of the Fund in Luxembourg on the fourth Thursday in July at 9 am. If such day is not a Business Day, the annual general meeting shall be held on the next following Business Day. Notices of all general meetings will be sent to registered Shareholders by post at least eight calendar days prior to the meeting at the addresses shown on the register of Shareholders. Such notices will include the meeting agenda and will specify the time and place of the meeting and the conditions of admission. Notices of meetings will also refer to the rules of quorum and majorities required by Luxembourg law and laid down in Articles 67 and 67-1 of the Luxembourg law of 10 August 1915 on commercial companies (as amended) and the Articles of Incorporation. Each whole Share confers the right to one vote. The vote on the payment of a dividend (if any) on a particular Sub-Fund or Class requires a separate majority vote from the meeting of Shareholders of the Sub-Fund or Class concerned. Any change in the Articles of

Incorporation affecting the rights of a Sub-Fund or Class must be approved by a resolution of both the general meeting of the Fund and the Shareholders of the Sub-Fund or Class concerned. Dividend announcements are described in Section 8.3 "Dividend Declaration".

#### 4.4 Reports and Accounts

Audited annual reports as at 31<sup>st</sup> March shall be published within four months following the end of each accounting year and unaudited semi-annual reports shall be published within two months following the period to which they refer. Annual and semi-annual reports shall be made available at the registered offices of the Fund and the Depositary during ordinary office hours, and online at www.emiratesnbd.com/assetmanagement.

The Fund's accounting year ends on 31<sup>st</sup> March each year. The reference currency of the Fund is USD. The aforesaid reports will comprise consolidated accounts of the Fund expressed in USD as well as individual information on each Sub-Fund expressed in the Reference Currency of each Sub-Fund. These reports will be prepared in accordance with the International Financial reporting Standards and interpretations issued and adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

#### 4.5 Allocation of Assets and Liabilities among Sub-Funds

Each Sub-Fund constitutes a separate portfolio. The assets and liabilities relating to each Sub-Fund are segregated from each other. No Sub-Fund will be liable for obligations incurred in relation to any other Sub-Fund. For the purpose of allocating the assets and liabilities between the Sub-Funds, the Board of Directors has established a pool of assets for each Sub-Fund in the following manner:

- (a) the proceeds from the issue of each Share of each Sub-Fund are applied in the books of the Fund to the pool of assets established for that Sub-Fund and to the assets/liabilities and income/expenditure attributable;
- (b) where any asset is derived from another asset, such financial derivative asset is applied in the books of the Fund to the same pool as the asset from which it was derived and on each revaluation of an asset the increase or diminution in value is applied to the relevant pool;
- (c) where the Fund incurs a liability which relates to any asset of a particular pool or to any action taken in connection with an asset of a particular pool, such liability is allocated to the relevant pool, provided that all liabilities, whichever Sub-Fund they are attributable to, are, unless otherwise agreed upon with the creditors, only binding upon the relevant Sub-Fund;
- (d) in the case where any asset or liability of the Fund cannot be considered as being attributable to a particular pool, such asset or liability is allocated to all the pools in equal parts or, if the amounts so justify, pro rata to the net asset values of the relevant Sub-Funds;
- (e) upon the payment of dividends to the Shareholders in any Sub-Fund, the net asset value of such Sub-Fund shall be reduced by the amount of such dividends. Under the Articles of Incorporation, the Board of Directors may decide to create within each Sub-Fund one or more Classes whose assets will be commonly invested pursuant to the specific investment policy of the Sub-Fund concerned but where a specific sales or redemption charge structure, fee structure, denomination, minimum subscription amount or dividend policy may be applied to each Class. A separate net asset value, which will differ as a consequence of these variable factors, will be calculated for each Class. If one or more Classes have been created within the same Sub-Fund, the allocation rules set out above shall apply, as appropriate, to such Classes. The Board of Directors reserves the right to apply additional criteria as appropriate.

#### 4.6 Determination of the Net Asset Value of Shares

The net asset value per Share of each Sub-Fund is typically determined on each day which is a Business Day, although for certain Sub-Funds the net asset value per Share may be determined on a less frequent basis. The frequency of the valuation applicable to each Sub-Fund is set out in Appendix 1.

The net asset value of the Shares of each Class is determined in such Class's Reference Currency on each Valuation Day by dividing the net assets attributable to each Class by the number of Shares of such Class then outstanding. For the avoidance of doubt, the unit of a Reference Currency is the smallest unit of that currency (e.g. if the Reference Currency is USD, the unit is the cent). Fractions of units, calculated to three decimal places, may be allocated as required. The net assets of each Class are made up of the value of all the assets attributable to such Class less the total liabilities attributable to such Class calculated at such time as the Board of Directors shall have set for such purpose. The value of the assets of the Fund is determined as at the end of the relevant Valuation Day. The actual calculation of the value of the assets will take place on the following Business Day and is determined in the following manner:

- (a) the value of any cash on hand or on deposit, bills and demand notes and accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, cash dividends and interest declared or accrued as aforesaid, and not yet received shall be deemed to be the full amount thereof, unless, however, the same is unlikely to be paid or received in full, in which case the value thereof shall be determined after making such discount as the Board of Directors may consider appropriate in such case to reflect the true value thereof;
- (b) the value of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments and any other assets which are quoted or dealt in on any stock exchange shall be based on the latest available closing price, and Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments and any other assets traded on any Regulated Market or Other Regulated Market shall be valued in a manner as similar as possible to that provided for quoted securities;
- (c) for non-quoted assets or assets not traded or dealt in on any stock exchange or a Regulated Market or Other Regulated Market, as well as quoted or non-quoted assets on such other market for which no valuation price is available, or assets for which the quoted prices are not representative of the fair market value, the value thereof shall be determined prudently and in good faith by the Board of Directors on the basis of foreseeable purchase and sale prices;
- (d) Money Market Instruments with a remaining maturity of 180 days or less will be valued by the amortized cost method, which approximates market value. Under this valuation method, the relevant Sub-Fund's investments are valued at their acquisition cost as adjusted for amortization of premium or accretion of discount rather than at market value;
- (e) shares or units in underlying open-ended UCIs shall be valued at their last determined and available net asset value as reported or provided by such UCI or its agents or, if such price is not representative of the fair market value of such assets, then the price shall be determined by the Board of Directors on a fair and equitable basis, including on the basis of their last unofficial net asset values (i.e. estimates of net asset values) if more recent than their last official net asset values, provided that satisfactory due diligence has been carried out by the Investment Manager, in accordance with instructions and under the overall control and responsibility of the Board of Directors, as to the reliability of such unofficial net asset values. The Net Asset Value calculated on the basis of unofficial net asset values of the target UCI may differ from the Net Asset Value which would have been calculated, on the relevant Valuation Day, on the basis of the official net asset values determined by the administrative agents of the target UCI. The Net

Asset Value is final and binding notwithstanding any different later determination. Units or shares of closed-ended UCIs will be valued at their last available stock market value;

- (f) the liquidating value of futures, forward and options contracts not traded on exchanges or on Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets shall mean their net liquidating value determined, pursuant to the policies established by the Board of Directors, on a basis consistently applied for each different variety of contracts. The liquidating value of futures, forward and options contracts traded on exchanges or on Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets shall be based upon the last available settlement prices of these contracts on exchanges and/or Regulated Markets or Other Regulated Markets on which the particular futures, forward or options contracts are traded by the Fund; provided that if a futures, forward or options contract could not be liquidated on the day with respect to which net assets are being determined, the basis for determining the liquidating value of such contract shall be such value as the Board of Directors may deem fair and reasonable;
- (g) the value of a credit default swap shall be determined by comparing it to the prevailing par market swap. A par market swap is one which can be initiated in the market today for no exchange of principal, and its deal spread is such that it results in the swap's market value being equal to zero. The spread between the initial default swap and the par market swap is then discounted as an annuity using relevant risk-adjusted discount rates. Par market swap rates will be obtained from a cross section of market counterparties. Any other swaps shall be valued at their market value. The Fund is authorised to apply other appropriate valuation principles for the assets of the Fund and/or the assets of a given Class if the aforesaid valuation methods appear impossible or inappropriate due to extraordinary circumstances or events, in order to reflect better the probable realisation value established with prudence and good faith.
- (h) Interest rate swaps will be valued on the basis of their market value established by reference to the applicable interest rate curve.
- (i) total return swaps will be valued at fair value under procedures approved by the Board of Directors. As these swaps are not exchange-traded, but are private contracts into which the Fund and a swap counterparty enter as principals, the data inputs for valuation models are usually established by reference to active markets. However it is possible that such market data will not be available for total return swaps near the Valuation Day. Where such markets inputs are not available, quoted market data for similar instruments (e.g. a different underlying instrument for the same or a similar reference entity) will be used provided that appropriate adjustments are made to reflect any differences between the total return swaps being valued and the similar financial instrument for which a price is available. Market input data and prices may be sourced from exchanges, a broker, an external pricing agency or a counterparty. If no such market input data are available, total return swaps will be valued at their fair value pursuant to a valuation method adopted by the Board of Directors which shall be a valuation method widely accepted as good market practice (i.e. used by active participants on setting prices in the market place or which has demonstrated to provide reliable estimate of market prices) provided that adjustments that the Board of Directors may deem fair and reasonable be made. The Auditors will review the appropriateness of the valuation methodology used in valuing total return swaps. In any way the Company will always value total return swaps on an arm-length basis.

All other swaps will be valued at fair value as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures established by the Board of Directors.

(k) All other securities instruments and other assets are valued at fair market value as determined in good faith pursuant to procedures established by the Board of Directors.

Shari'a compliant assets shall also be valued according with the above rules in so far as is applicable.

The value of assets denominated in a currency other than the Reference Currency of a Sub-Fund shall be determined by taking into account the rate of exchange prevailing at the time of the determination of the net asset value. The

net asset value per Share of each Class and the issue and redemption prices thereof are available at the registered office of the Fund.

The liabilities of the Fund are described under section "Management and Fund Charges" and in the Articles.

#### 4.7 Temporary Suspension of Issues, Redemptions and Conversions

The determination of the net asset value of Shares of one or more Classes may be suspended during: (a) any period when any of the principal markets or stock exchanges on which a substantial portion of the investments of the Sub-Fund concerned is quoted or dealt in, is closed otherwise than for ordinary holidays, or during which dealings therein are restricted or suspended; (b) the existence of any state of affairs which constitutes an emergency as a result of which disposal or valuation of assets of the Sub-Fund concerned would be impracticable; (c) any breakdown in the means of communication or computation normally employed in determining the price or value of the assets of the Sub-Fund concerned or the current prices or values on any market or stock exchange; (d) any period when the Fund is unable to repatriate funds for the purpose of making payments on the redemption of

Shares or during which any transfer of funds involved in the realisation or acquisition of investments or payments due on redemption of Shares cannot in the opinion of the Board of Directors be effected at normal rates of exchange; (e) any other circumstance or circumstances beyond the control and responsibility of the Board of Directors where a failure to do so might result in the Fund or its Shareholders incurring any liability to taxation or suffering other pecuniary disadvantages or other detriment which the Fund or its Shareholders might not otherwise have suffered.

The Board of Directors has the power to suspend the issue, redemption and conversion of Shares in one or more Classes for any period during which the determination of the net asset value per Share of the Sub-Fund(s) concerned is suspended by the Fund by virtue of the powers described above. Any subscription/redemption/conversion request made or in abeyance during such a suspension period may be withdrawn by written notice to be received by the Fund before the end of such suspension period. Should such withdrawal not be effected the Shares in question shall be subscribed/redeemed/converted on the first Valuation Day following the termination of the suspension period. Investors who have requested the subscription, redemption or conversion of Shares shall be informed of such suspension when such request is made. In the event where a suspension period exceeds a certain period determined by the Board of Directors, all Shareholders of the Class concerned shall be informed.

#### 4.8 Dissolution and Liquidation of the Fund, any Sub-Fund or any Class of Shares

The Fund and the Sub-Funds are incorporated for an unlimited period, unless otherwise provided in Appendix 1.

In the event that for any reason the value of the net assets in any Sub-Fund or the value of the net assets of any Class within a Sub-Fund has decreased to, or has not reached, an amount of US\$40,000,000 (which is determined by the Board of Directors to be the minimum level for such Sub-Fund or such Class to be operated in an economically efficient manner or other such amount as may be determined by the Board of Directors from time to time), or if a change in the economical or political situation relating to the Sub-Fund or Class concerned would have material adverse consequences on the investments of that Sub-Fund or Class, or in order to rationalise the Classes and/or the Sub-Funds offered, the Board of Directors may decide to redeem compulsorily all the Shares of the relevant Class or Classes issued in such Sub-Fund at the Net Asset Value per Share (taking into account actual realization prices of

investments and realization expenses) calculated at the Valuation Point at which such decision shall take effect and therefore close or liquidate such Class or Sub-Fund.

The decision of the Board of Directors will be published (either in newspapers to be determined by the Board of Directors or by way of a notice sent to the Shareholders at their addresses indicated in the register of Shareholders) prior to the effective date of the compulsory redemption and the publication and will indicate the reasons for, and the procedures of the compulsory redemption. Except where to do so would not be in the interests of the Shareholders, or could jeopardise equal treatment between the Shareholders, the Shareholders of the Sub-Fund or Class concerned may request redemption or exchange of their Shares free of charge (other than those retained by the Fund to meet realization expenses) prior to the effective date of the compulsory redemption.

Notwithstanding the powers conferred to the Board of Directors by the preceding paragraph, the Shareholders of any one or all Classes of Shares issued in any Sub-Fund may at a general meeting of such Shareholders, upon proposal from the Board of Directors, redeem all the Shares of the relevant Class or Classes at their Net Asset Value (taking into account actual realization prices of investments and realization expenses) calculated at the Valuation Point at which such decision shall take effect. There shall be no quorum requirements for such general meeting of Shareholders which shall decide by resolution taken by a simple majority of the validly cast votes.

Assets which may not be distributed to their beneficiaries upon the implementation of the redemption will be deposited with the "Caisse de Consignation" on behalf of the persons entitled thereto.

All redeemed Shares shall be cancelled.

The dissolution of the last Sub-Fund will result in the liquidation of the Fund.

However, the Fund may at any time be dissolved by a resolution of the general meeting of Shareholders subject to the quorum and majority requirements referred to in the Articles and in compliance with the provision of the Company Law.

Liquidation of the Fund shall be carried out in compliance with the Company Law, the Law of 2010 and with the Articles.

#### 4.9 Merger of the Fund and of Sub-Funds

The Board of Directors may decide to proceed with a merger (within the meaning of the Law of 2010) of the assets of the Fund or a Sub-Fund, whether as absorbing or absorbed party, with those of (i) another existing Sub-Fund within the Fund or another existing sub-fund within another Luxembourg or foreign UCITS, or of (ii) another Luxembourg or foreign UCITS.

Such a merger shall be subject to the conditions and procedures imposed by the Law of 2010, in particular concerning the terms of the merger to be established by the Board of Directors and the information to be provided to the Shareholders.

The Board of Directors is competent to decide on the effective date of the merger. However, in accordance with the Law of 2010, where the Fund is the absorbed entity which, thus, ceases to exist as a result of the merger, the general

meeting of Shareholders of the Fund must decide on the effective date of the merger. Such general meeting will decide by resolution taken with no quorum requirement and adopted by a simple majority of the votes validly cast.

Where the Fund or a Sub-Fund is involved in a merger under the circumstances described above, whether as absorbing or absorbed party, Shareholders will be entitled to request, without any charge other than those charged by the Fund or the Sub-Fund to meet divestment costs, the redemption of their Shares in the relevant Sub-Fund in accordance with the provisions of the Law of 2010.

The Fund or a Sub-Fund thereof may further absorbe (i) another existing sub-fund within another Luxembourg or foreign UCI, or (ii) another Luxembourg or foreign UCI in compliance with the Law of 10 August 1915.

Notwithstanding the powers conferred to the Board of Directors by the preceding section, such a merger may be decided upon by a general meeting of the Shareholders of the Sub-Fund concerned for which there shall be no quorum requirements and which will decide upon such a merger by resolutions taken by simple majority of the votes validly cast. The general meeting of the Shareholders of the Sub-Fund concerned will decide on the effective date of such a merger it has initiated within the Fund, by resolution taken with no quorum requirement and adopted at a simple majority of the votes validly cast.

#### 4.10 Division of Sub-Funds

In the event that the Board of Directors believes it would be in the interests of the Shareholders of the relevant Sub-Fund or that a change in the economic or political situation relating to the Sub-Fund concerned would justify it, the Board of Directors may decide to reorganise a Sub-Fund by dividing it into two or more Sub-Funds. Such decision will be published in the same manner as described above and, in addition, the publication will contain information in relation to the new Sub-Funds. Such publication will be made one month before the date on which the reorganisation becomes effective in order to enable the Shareholders to request redemption of their Shares free of charge before, the effective date.

# 4.11 Amalgamation of Classes

In the event that for any reason the value of the assets in any Class has decreased to an amount determined by the Board of Directors (in the interests of Shareholders) to be the minimum level for such Class to be operated in an economically efficient manner, or if a change in the economical, political or monetary situation relating to the Class concerned would have material adverse consequences on the investments of that Class or if the range of products offered to investors is rationalised, the Board of Directors may decide to allocate the assets of any Class to those of another existing Class within the Fund and to redesignate the Shares of the Class or Classes concerned as Shares of another Class (following a split or consolidation, if necessary, and the payment of the amount corresponding to any fractional entitlement to Shareholders).

The Fund shall send a written notice to the Shareholders of the relevant Class one month prior to the effective date of the amalgamation in order to enable the Shareholders to request redemption or exchange of their Shares, free of charge, during such period. This notice will indicate the reasons and the procedure for the amalgamation. Except where to do so would not be in the interests of Shareholders, or could jeopardise equality of treatment between the

Shareholders, the Shareholders of the Class concerned may continue to request redemption or exchange of their Shares without any additional charges (other than those retained by the Fund to meet realisation expenses) prior to the effective date of the amalgamation.

#### 4.12 Material Contracts

The following material contracts have been entered into:

- (a) A Management Company Services Agreement effective from 6 September 2013, as amended on 7 April 2017, between the Fund and the Management Company pursuant to which the latter acts as the management company of the Fund. Under this agreement, the Management Company provides management, administrative and distribution services, and risk management services to the Fund, subject to the overall supervision and control of the Board of Directors. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and is terminable by either party upon six months' written notice.
- (b) An Investment Management Agreement dated 6 September 2013, as amended on 7 April 2017, between the Fund, the Management Company and Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited pursuant to which the latter acts as Investment Manager to the Fund on behalf of the Management Company. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and is terminable by either party upon six months' written notice.
- (c) A Sub-Investment Advisory Agreement dated 26 February 2014, as may be amended, between the Investment Manager and Jupiter Asset Management Limited pursuant to which the latter acts as Sub-Investment Manager in relation to the management of certain Sub-Funds as more fully disclosed in Appendix 1. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and is terminable by either party upon six months' written notice.
- (d) A Global Distribution Agreement dated 6 September 2013 between the Fund, the Management Company and Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited pursuant to which the latter acts as Global Distributor to the Fund on behalf of the Management Company. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and is terminable by either party upon six months' written notice.
- (e) A Custody Agreement effective from 6 September 2013, as amended on 4 August 2016, between the Fund and State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch (formerly State Street Bank Luxembourg S.C.A.) pursuant to which the latter is appointed as Depositary of the assets of the Fund. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and is terminable by either party upon six months' written notice.
- (f) An Administration Agreement effective from 6 September 2013 between the Fund, the Management Company and State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch (formerly State Street Bank Luxembourg S.C.A.)., pursuant to which the latter is appointed as Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, principal Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent of the Fund on behalf of the Management Company. This agreement is entered into for an unlimited period and may be terminated by either party upon six months' written notice.

#### 4.13 Documents Available for Inspection

Copies of the contracts mentioned above are available for inspection, and copies of the Articles of Incorporation, the current Prospectus, the KIIDs and the latest financial reports may be obtained free of charge during normal office hours at the registered office of the Fund. Such reports form an integral part of this Prospectus. Copies of this

Prospectus, the KIIDs and the latest financial reports are also available online at www.emiratesnbd.com/assetmanagement.

Procedures relating to the Management Company which Luxembourg regulation requires to be made available to investors for consultation are published on the following website: https://www.waystone.com/waystone-policies/

#### 4.14 Management and Administration

The Fund is managed by Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA which is subject to the provisions of Chapter 15 of the 2010 Law.

The Management Company has been incorporated on August 2, 2003 as a *société anonyme* under Luxembourg law for an indeterminate period and is registered with the Luxembourg Trade Register (RCS) under number B 96744. Its registered seat is at 19, rue de Bitbourg, L-1273 Luxembourg. The last consolidated version of the articles of incorporation have been deposited with the RCS on April 8, 2014, and has been published on 7 June 2014 in the *Mémorial C, Récueil des Sociétés et Associations ("Mémorial")*, the official gazette of the Grand – Duchy of Luxembourg; its fully paid-up share capital amounts to EUR 2,450,000-. The names and legal documents of all funds managed are available at the domicile of the Management Company and on the website https://www.waystone.com.

The conducting officers of the Management Company are responsible for the Management Company's daily business and operations.

The Management Company is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Fund. In fulfilling its responsibilities set for by the Law of 2010 and the Management Company Services Agreement, it is permitted to delegate all or a part of its functions and duties to third parties, provided that it retains responsibility and oversight over such delegates. The appointment of third parties is subject to the approval of the Fund and the CSSF. The Management Company's liability shall not be affected by the fact that it has delegated its functions and duties to third parties. The Management Company has delegated the following functions to third parties: investment management, transfer agency, administration, listing, as well as marketing and distribution.

The Management Company also acts as management company for other funds, in addition to the Fund. The list of funds managed by the Management Company is accessible on the following website: https://www.waystone.com/our-funds/waystone-management-company-lux-s-a/.

The Management Company is responsible for the management and control of the Fund and has been appointed as such by the Board of Directors. Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited has been appointed as Investment Manager and Global Distributor. State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch (formerly State Street Bank Luxembourg S.C.A.) has been appointed to act as Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, principal Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent.

The Management Company has in place a remuneration policy in line with the Directive 2014/91/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 July 2014 amending 2009/65/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 on the coordination of laws, regulations and administrative provisions relating to undertakings for collective investment in transferable securities.

The remuneration policy sets out principles applicable to the remuneration of senior management, all staff members having a material impact on the risk profile of the financial undertakings as well as all staff members carrying out independent control functions.

In particular, the remuneration policy complies with the following principles in a way and to the extent that is appropriate to the size, internal organisation and the nature, scope and complexity of the activities of the Management Company:

- i. it is consistent with and promotes sound and effective risk management and does not encourage risk taking which is inconsistent with the risk profiles, rules or Articles of Incorporation of the Fund;
- ii. if and to the extent applicable, the assessment of performance is set in a multi-year framework appropriate to the holding period recommended to the investors of the Fund in order to ensure that the assessment process is based on the longer-term performance of the Fund and its investment risks and that the actual payment of performance-based components of remuneration is spread over the same period;
- iii. it is in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and interests of the Management Company and the Fund and of the Shareholders, and includes measures to avoid conflicts of interest;
- iv. fixed and variable components of total remuneration are appropriately balanced and the fixed component represents a sufficiently high proportion of the total remuneration to allow the operation of a fully flexible policy on variable remuneration components, including the possibility to pay no variable remuneration component.

The remuneration policy is determined and reviewed at least on an annual basis by a remuneration committee.

The details of the up-to-date remuneration policy of the Management Company, including, but not limited to, a description of how remuneration and benefits are calculated, the identity of the persons responsible for awarding the remuneration and benefits, including the composition of the remuneration committee, are available on https://www.waystone.com/waystone-policies, a paper copy will be made available free of charge upon request.

#### 4.15 Board of Directors

The board of directors of the Fund is composed as follows.

## Martin Vogel (Swiss):

Martin Vogel is a Swiss attorney-at-law and an alumni of IMD and INSEAD. After having worked as a lawyer specialized in the areas of banking and finance law, he joined Bank Julius Baer & Co. Limited. In 1996, where his most recent role was Managing Director and Member of the Executive Management Committee of Julius Baer Asset Management in Zurich. He left the Julius Baer Group in 2008 to pursue his own professional career. Martin is currently CEO, Board Member and large shareholder of Thêta Sàrl (Waystone Management Company (Lux) SA is a

subsidiary of Thêta Sàrl and one of the largest independent substance and service providers for Luxembourg investment funds). Martin is also active in diverse fund associations and a regular speaker at international fund conferences.

#### Mark Creasey (English)

Mark Creasey is a Chartered Certified Accountant, qualifying with KPMG in Jersey in 1995. He has more than 25 years' experience in the finance industry. In 1998, he joined Standard Bank Jersey Limited, where he held a number of senior roles, including six years as a Director in their Funds division. In 2011 he moved to JTC Group Limited where he was a Director in the Fund services division. Since July 2015 he has been acting as an Independent Non Executive sitting on the boards of a number of collective investment funds. He has extensive experience in both conventional and Shari'a compliant structures. He is a fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants and is a Member of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment. He is also a director of Emirates Funds Limited and Emirates Portfolio Management PCC.

#### Steve Corrin (English)

Steve is Senior Executive Officer of Emirates NBD Asset Management in Dubai. He has over 25 years' experience in investment distribution in the UK, Middle East and Far East and has been resident in Dubai since 2001. Prior to becoming SEO, Steve was Head of Sales with responsibility for expanding the business's reach into regional and international markets for both institutional investors and wholesale distributors such as insurance companies, private banks and wealth advisers.

Prior to joining Emirates NBD Asset Management in 2010, Steve worked with a number of regional institutions including time as General Manager (ME Ops) at Anglo Irish Bank (IOM) PLC and senior roles at Amiri Capital and Dow Jones International. He was also instrumental in the early establishment of the bancassurance industry in the UAE during his time with Scottish Provident International Life Assurance.

He is a member of the Institute of Directors, the London Institute of Banking & Finance and the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investments and is also a Director of Emirates NBD Fund Managers (Jersey) Ltd, Emirates Portfolio Management PCC, Emirates Funds Ltd and Emirates NBD SICAV

# Ajit Menon (Indian)

Ajit leads the operations, risk and IT function at Emirates NBD Asset Management, an entity regulated by the Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA). He is responsible for managing a number of diverse operational activities for the business in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements and international best practice, as well as group policies. He has over 20 years' experience, of which 14 years have been in the field of treasury, investment and asset management operations. Ajit is also responsible for supporting the establishment of operational infrastructure for existing or new products and services, collaborating with teams including sales, fund management and compliance. He has been actively involved in the management of both the Jersey and Luxembourg funds for the last 10 years, including providing specialist operational expertise in the development of new funds, the updating of the prospectus and working with key stakeholders to ensure the product offering is appropriate for the firm's client base. He is also responsible for overseeing the management of service deliverables with all key service providers including the fund administrator, custodian, transfer agent and the management company across both Jersey and Luxembourg fund platforms.

He holds a Master's degree in Commerce and Business Administration and is a Chartered Fellow of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment, UK (CISI) holding a Level 6 qualification. He is also a Certified Anti-Money Laundering Specialist with the Association of Anti-Money Laundering Specialists. In addition, he is a certified

"Operational Risk Manager" from PRMIA (Professional Risk Manager's International Association), United States. He is also a "Professional Member" of the "Institute of Operational Risk" UK.

He is currently a Director on Emirates NBD Fund Managers Limited, Emirates Funds Limited, Emirates Portfolio Management PCC and Emirates NBD SICAV."

# Lovesh Gheraiya (Canadian)

Lovesh leads the business support and strategy function Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited, an entity regulated by the DFSA. Lovesh is responsible for managing a number of diverse business support activities (Finance, Sales and Business Support, Products etc.) in accordance with all applicable regulatory requirements and International best practice, as well as Group policy. He holds the status of an Authorized Person in capacity as Finance Officer for Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited and Investor Relations Officer for ENBD REIT (CEIC) Ltd. He has been actively involved in the management of both the Jersey and Luxembourg Funds for the last 10 years, including providing specialist expertise in development of new funds, the updating of the prospectus and working with key stakeholders to ensure the product offering is appropriate for our client base.

Lovesh holds a Master's degree in Business Administration, specializing in Finance and Marketing, and a Chartered member of the Chartered Institute for Securities & Investment, UK (CISI). He is also a Certified Anti-Money Laundering Specialist with the Association of Anti-Money Laundering Specialists.

He is currently a Director on Emirates NBD SICAV and Investment Relations Officer for ENBD REIT (CEIC) LTD.

4.16 Investment Manager, Sub-Investment Manager(s) and Global Distributor

#### **Investment Manager and Global Distributor:**

Emirates NBD Asset Management Limited has been appointed as investment manager (the "Investment Manager") and global distributor (the "Global Distributor").

The investment management of the Fund is effected under the control and the final responsibility of the Management Company. In order to implement the investment policy of each Sub-Fund, the Management Company has delegated with the consent of the Fund, the management of the assets of the Sub-Funds to the Investment Manager.

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager has discretion, on a day-to-day basis and subject to the overall control and responsibility of the Management Company, to purchase and sell securities and otherwise to manage the Sub-Funds' portfolios. The Investment Manager, in the execution of its duties and the exercise of its powers, shall be responsible for the compliance of the Sub-Funds with their investment policies and restrictions.

The Investment Manager is a limited company, based in Dubai International Financial Centre (the "DIFC") and regulated by the Dubai Financial Services Authority (the "DFSA"). Its primary activity involves the provision of investment management services to various investment vehicles. The Investment Manager is a wholly owned subsidiary of Emirates NBD Bank PJSC.

The Investment Manager has also been appointed as Global Distributor by the Management Company to market and promote the activities of the Fund in areas where it is lawful to do so.

# **Sub-Investment Manager(s):**

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager may delegate the management of the assets of each Sub-Fund to one or several sub-investment manager(s) (the "Sub-Investment Manager(s)") subject to the prior approval of the Fund, the Management Company and the CSSF. The Sub-Investment Manager(s) may have discretion, on a day-to-day basis and subject to the overall control and responsibility of the Investment Manager to purchase and sell securities as delegate for the Investment Manager and otherwise manage the relevant Sub-Fund(s)' portfolios. The fees of each Sub-Investment Manager will be paid by the Investment Manager.

Pursuant to a sub-investment management agreement dated 26 February 2014, Jupiter Asset Management Limited has been appointed as Sub-Investment Manager in relation to the management of certain Sub-Funds as more fully disclosed in Appendix 1.

Jupiter Asset Management Limited was established in 1985 and Jupiter Fund Management Plc. was listed on the London Stock Exchange on 21st June 2010. As at 31st March 2017, the amount of the assets under management (AUM) was \$54.4bn. Jupiter Asset Management Limited and Jupiter Unit Trust Managers Limited are authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom, under the reference numbers 141274 and 122488, respectively.

Pursuant to a sub-investment management agreement dated 17 April 2016, UTI International Private Limited of 3, Raffles Place, # 08-02, Bharat Building, Singapore 048617 has been appointed as Sub-Investment Manager in relation to the management of certain Sub-Funds as more fully disclosed in Appendix 1.

UTI International Private Limited was incorporated in Singapore on 15 November 2006 and is regulated by the Monetary Authority of Singapore in the conduct of financial services and investment management activities. UTI International Singapore is a fully owned subsidiary of UTI Asset Management Company ("UTI AMC"). UTI Asset Management Company Ltd is a company incorporated in India under the Companies Act, 1956. Its registered office is at UTI Tower, GN Block, Bandra-Kurla Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051. UTI AMC was established in 1964, the pioneer of the asset management industry in India, by an Act of Parliament and set up by the Reserve Bank of India. It has an AUM of USD 46.55billion (as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017) and manages money for over 11 million clients. The firm provides support services to the Government of India for managing assets of USD 10 billion.

# 4.17 Shari'a Compliance

To ensure compliance with Islamic Shari'a principles, certain Sub-Funds (as defined as Shari'a compliant in Appendix 1) shall invest within the guidelines and restrictions as agreed and approved by the Investment Manager's Shari'a Board (the "Shari'a Board"). The Investment Manager is regulated by the DFSA and has a category 2 license and

license to operate as an Islamic window. The following individuals currently constitute the Shari'a Board. The composition of the Shari'a Board may change from time to time by the decision of the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. Such a change will be duly notified to the CSSF immediately and the prospectus shall be amended accordingly.

#### Dr. Mohammad Ali El Gari

Dr. El Gari is a Ph.D. Economics from the University of California and is a Professor of Islamic Economics and the former Director of the Centre for Research in Islamic Economics at King Abdul Aziz University in Saudi Arabia. Dr. Elgari is the recipient of the Islamic Development Bank Prize in Islamic Banking and Finance and holds the KLIFF Islamic Finance Award for Most Outstanding Contribution to Islamic Finance (Individual).

He is a member on the editorial board of several academic publications in the field of Islamic Finance and Jurisprudence, among them Journal of the Jurisprudence Academy (of the IWL), Journal of Islamic Economic Studies (IDB), Journal of Islamic Economic (IAIE, London), and the advisory board of Harvard Series in Islamic Law, Harvard Law School.

Dr. El Gari is also an advisor to numerous Islamic financial institutions throughout the world and is notably on the Shariah board of the Dow Jones Islamic index as well as a member of the Islamic Fiqh Academy and the Islamic Accounting & Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institution (AAIOFI).

#### Dr. Mohamed Abdul Rahim Sultan Al-Ulama

Dr. Al-Ulama holds various Shari'a Board memberships, including; National Bonds Corp. PJSC, Grand Islamic Scholars Body, Dubai Islamic Bank PJSC, Emirates Islamic Bank PJSC. He also is appointed Chairman of the Shari'a Board at Alizz Islamic Bank SAOG and Dar Al Takaful PJSC in addition to Head of the Fatwa Committee at Zakat Fund (Abu Dhabi). He is also a Professor at United Arab Emirates University. He received his doctorate degree from Umm Al Qura University.

#### Dr. Salim Al Ali

Dr. Ali is an Assistant Professor at the Department of Shari'a and Islamic Studies – College of Law at the UAE University. He is a specialist in Islamic financial law and legal and regulatory aspects of developing Islamic financial markets. He has participated in various national and international conferences to address sharia, legal and regulatory issues related to the Islamic banks, Islamic capital markets and takaful.

He is a member of the Shari'a Supervision Committee of First Abu Dhabi Bank, Ajman Bank, Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank and Al Hilal Group. Dr. Ali received his doctorate degree in Islamic Financial law from the University of London.

#### Dr. Muhammad Qaseem

Dr. Muhammad Qaseem is a well-known Shari'ah scholar and Islamic banking expert. He is the Chairman of the Shari'ah Board of Deutsche Bank Malaysia and Emaan Islamic Banking of Silk Bank Ltd. He is also a member of the ISSC of Dubai Islamic Bank, ENBD and some other institutions. Dr. Qaseem has also served as Shari'ah Board member of Central Bank of Pakistan, DFM, ADCB and many other Islamic banks.

Dr. Qaseem has taught in International Islamic University of Islamabad for more than 2 decades. He has contributed immensely to the growth and regulation of the Islamic banking industry in various capacities. He has also made valuable efforts for dissemination of Islamic banking knowledge through lectures, trainings, seminars, conferences and workshops. He has written numerous articles on Islamic banking issues and developed policies and manuals for Islamic banks.

#### Dr. Amin Fateh

Dr. Amin Fateh holds a bachelor's and Master's in honorable Hadith, and a PhD in Islamic studies. He has been part of the Islamic Banking industry ever since its early stages in 1988, initially contributing to the Shari'ah compliance function of Kuwait Finance House. Across the years he has work with many of the most prominent Shari'ah scholars in the field. For more than a decade he has led Islamic Shari'ah advisory Minhaj. He is currently a member of a number of Shari'ah Boards and committees in UAE and across the world, including ENBD-Islamic, EIB and the AAOIFI Shari'ah Committee in UAE. He lectured in many universities and is a profound bilingual Islamic Finance trainer who has provided many Islamic Finance training courses across the world.

The Shari'a Board is learned in matters relating to Shari'a and has both the capability and expertise necessary to evaluate categories of investments for conformity with Shari'a principles. Each Sub-Fund (as defined as Shari'a compliant in the Appendix 1), shall at all times invest in accordance with the rulings issued from time to time by the Shari'a Board.

In particular, the Shari'a Board shall study the Fund's Prospectus and relevant Supplements and the investment objectives and policies contained therein; give general advice to the Investment Manager regarding compliance with Islamic Shari'a and confirm that the investment activities of each relevant Sub-Fund comply with the principles and rules of Islamic Shari'a in all respects.

The Shari'a Board shall review the relevant Sub-Fund's activities on a periodic basis to ensure that the relevant Sub-Funds continue to conform to the Shari'a guidelines as set out from time to time. The relevant Sub-Funds will be reviewed and audited by the Shari'a Board for compliance at least annually. The Shari'a Board's function is also to review the financial records and books of all the Shari'a compliant Sub-Fund of the Fund (as defined in Appendix 1) to insure the profit calculation and distribution, as well as remuneration of the different parties to the respective Sub-Fund, are performed in a Shari'a compliant manner with regards to Shari'a compliant sub-funds (as defined in Appendix 1).

The Shari'a Board shall advise on cleansing of the Sub-Fund's income and Zakat calculation, in relation to the relevant Sub-Fund, where applicable.

The sum of all dividends/income purification amounts will be paid to a charity approved by the Shari'a Board. Details of the purification amounts and the relevant charity shall be further detailed in the Fund's annual report.

An income purification determination will be performed annually for the Fund. The income purification determination involves calculating the proportion of non-Shari'a compliant income to be purified from the total income by each applicable sub-fund. Once the purification amount is determined the Fund and approved by the Shari'a Board, the Fund shall pay the total non-Shari'a income amount to charity approved by the Shari'a Board.

It is the responsibility of each investor to ensure that the purification process of the Fund in respect of its Shari'a compliant Sub-Funds, as described in the Fund's annual report, corresponds to his/her investment intentions.

Shari'a compliant Sub-funds must at all times comply with applicable Luxembourg laws and regulations and in case of discrepancies between Luxembourg laws and regulations and Shari'a principles, Luxembourg laws and regulations prevail.

# 4.18 Depositary

The Fund has appointed State Street Bank International GmbH, acting through its Luxembourg Branch as its Depositary within the meaning of the 2010 Law pursuant to the Depositary Agreement. State Street Bank International GmbH is a limited liability company organized under the laws of Germany, having its registered office at Brienner Str. 59, 80333 München, Germany and registered with the commercial register court, Munich under number HRB 42872. It is a credit institution supervised by the European Central Bank (ECB), the German Federal Financial Services Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and the German Central Bank. State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch is authorized by the CSSF in Luxembourg to act as depositary and is specialized in depositary, fund administration, and related services. State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch is registered in the Luxembourg Commercial and Companies' Register (RCS) under number B 148 186. State Street Bank International GmbH is a member of the State Street group of companies having as their ultimate parent State Street Corporation, a US publicly listed company.

#### **Depositary's functions**

The relationship between the Fund and the Depositary is subject to the terms of the Depositary Agreement. Under the terms of the Depositary Agreement, the Depositary is entrusted with following main functions:

- ensuring that the sale, issue, repurchase, redemption and cancellation of Shares are carried out in accordance with applicable law and the Articles of Incorporation.
- ensuring that the value of the Shares is calculated in accordance with applicable law and the Articles of Incorporation.
- carrying out the instructions of the Fund unless they conflict with applicable law and the Articles of Incorporation.
- ensuring that in transactions involving the assets of the Fund any consideration is remitted within the usual time limits
- ensuring that the income of the Fund is applied in accordance with applicable law and the Articles of Incorporation.
- monitoring of the Fund's cash and cash flows.
- safekeeping of financial instruments to be held in custody and ownership verification and record keeping in relation to other assets.

## Depositary's liability

In the event of a loss of a financial instrument held in custody, determined in accordance with the UCITS Directive, and in particular Article 18 of the UCITS Regulation, the Depositary shall return financial instruments of identical type or the corresponding amount to the Fund without undue delay.

The Depositary shall not be liable if it can prove that the loss of a financial instrument held in custody has arisen as a result of an external event beyond its reasonable control, the consequences of which would have been unavoidable despite all reasonable efforts to the contrary pursuant to the UCITS Directive.

In case of a loss of financial instruments held in custody, the shareholders may invoke the liability of the Depositary directly or indirectly through the Fund provided that this does not lead to a duplication of redress or to unequal treatment of the shareholders.

The Depository is indemnified by the Fund against all liabilities suffered or incurred by the Depositary by reason of the proper performance of the Depositary's duties under the terms of the Depositary Agreement save where any such liabilities arise as a result of the Depositary's negligence, fraud, bad faith, wilful default or recklessness of the Depositary or the loss of financial instruments held in custody.

The Depositary will be liable to the Fund for all other losses suffered by the Fund as a result of the Depositary's negligent or intentional failure to properly fulfil its obligations pursuant to the UCITS Directive.

The Depositary shall not be liable for consequential or indirect or special damages or losses, arising out of or in connection with the performance or non-performance by the Depositary of its duties and obligations.

## Delegation

The Depositary has full power to delegate the whole or any part of its safe-keeping functions but its liability will not be affected by the fact that it has entrusted to a third party some or all of the assets in its safekeeping. The Depositary's liability shall not be affected by any delegation of its safe-keeping functions under the Depositary Agreement.

The Depositary has delegated those safekeeping duties set out in Article 22(5)(a) of the UCITS Directive to State Street Bank and Trust Company with registered office at State Street Financial Center, One Lincoln Street, Boston, Massachusetts, 02111, USA, with an office at 20 Churchill Place, Canary Wharf, London E14 5HJ, UK, whom it has appointed as its global sub-custodian. State Street Bank and Trust Company as global sub-custodian has appointed local sub-custodians within the State Street Global Custody Network.

Information about the safe-keeping functions which have been delegated and the identification of the relevant delegates and sub-delegates are available at the registered office of the Fund or at the following internet site: <a href="http://www.statestreet.com/about/office-locations/luxembourg/subcustodians.html">http://www.statestreet.com/about/office-locations/luxembourg/subcustodians.html</a>.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

The Depositary is part of an international group of companies and businesses ("State Street") that, in the ordinary course of their business, act simultaneously for a large number of clients, as well as for their own account, which may result in actual or potential conflicts. Conflicts of interest arise where the Depositary or its affiliates engage in activities under the depositary agreement or under separate contractual or other arrangements. Such activities may include:

- i) providing nominee, administration, registrar and transfer agency, research, agent securities lending, investment management, financial advice and/or other advisory services to the Fund;
- ii) engaging in banking, sales and trading transactions including foreign exchange, derivative, principal lending, broking, market making or other financial transactions with the Fund either as principal and in the interests of itself, or for other clients.

In connection with the above activities the Depositary or its affiliates:

i) will seek to profit from such activities and are entitled to receive and retain any profits or compensation in any form and, except as required by law, are not bound to disclose to, the Fund, any such profits or compensation in any form earned by affiliates of the Depositary or the Depositary when acting in any capacity, including any fee, charge, commission, revenue share, spread, mark-up, mark-down, interest, rebate, discount, or other benefit received in connection with any such activities;

- ii) may buy, sell, issue, deal with or hold, securities or other financial products or instruments as principal acting in its own interests, the interests of its affiliates or for its other clients;
- iii) may trade in the same or opposite direction to the transactions undertaken, including based upon information in its possession that is not available to the Fund;
- iv) may provide the same or similar services to other clients including competitors of the Fund and the fee arrangements it has in place will vary;
- v) may be granted creditors' and other rights by the Fund e.g. indemnification which it may exercise in its own interest. In exercising such rights, the Depositary or its affiliates may have the advantage of an increased knowledge about the affairs of the Fund relative to third party creditors thus improving its ability to enforce and may exercise such rights in a way that may conflict with the Fund's strategy.

The Fund may use an affiliate of the Depositary to execute foreign exchange, spot or swap transactions for the account of the Fund. In such instances the affiliate shall be acting in a principal capacity and not as a broker, agent or fiduciary of the Fund. The affiliate will seek to profit from these transactions and is entitled to retain and not disclose any profit to the Fund. The affiliate shall enter into such transactions on the terms and conditions agreed with the Fund. The Depositary will not, except as required by law, disclose any profit made by such affiliates.

Where cash belonging to the Fund is deposited with an affiliate being a bank, cash is not segregated from its own assets, a potential conflict arises in relation to the interest (if any) which the affiliate may pay or charge to such account and the fees or other benefits which it may derive from holding such cash as banker.

The Management Company may also be a client or counterparty of the Depositary or its affiliates and a conflict may arise where the Depositary refuses to act if the Management Company directs or otherwise instructs the Depositary to take certain actions that might be in direct conflict with the interests of the investors in a Fund.

The types and levels of risk that the Depositary is willing to accept may conflict with the Fund's preferred investment policy and strategy.

Potential conflicts that may arise in the Depositary's use of sub-custodians include five broad categories:

- i) our global custodian and subcustodians seek to make a profit as part of or in addition to their custody services. Examples include profit through the fees and other charges for the services, profit from deposit taking activities, revenue from sweeps and repo arrangements, foreign exchange transactions, contractual settlement, error correction (where consistent with applicable law) and commissions for sale of fractional shares;;
- ii) the Depositary will typically only provide depositary services where global custody is delegated to an affiliate of the Depositary. Our global custodian in turn appoints a network of affiliated and non-affiliated subcustodians. Multiple factors influence the determination of our global custodian to engage a particular subcustodian or allocate assets to them, including their expertise and capabilities, financial condition, service platforms and commitment to the custody business as well as the negotiated fee structure (which may include terms that result in fee reductions or rebates to the global custodian), significant business relationships and competitive considerations;
- iii) sub-custodians, both affiliated and non-affiliated, act for other clients and in their own proprietary interest, which might conflict with clients' interests and the fee arrangements they have in place will vary;
- iv) sub-custodians, both affiliated and non-affiliated, have only indirect relationships with clients and look to the Depositary as its counterparty, which might create incentive for the Depositary to act in its self-interest, or other clients' interests to the detriment of clients; and
- v) sub-custodians may have creditors' rights against client assets and other rights that they have an interest in enforcing.

In carrying out its duties the Depositary shall act honestly, fairly, professionally, independently and solely in the interests of the Fund and its shareholders.

The Depositary has functionally and hierarchically separated the performance of its depositary tasks from its other potentially conflicting tasks. The system of internal controls, the different reporting lines, the allocation of tasks and the management reporting allow potential conflicts of interest to be properly identified, managed and monitored. Additionally, in the context of the Depositary's use of sub-custodians, the Depositary imposes contractual restrictions to address some of the potential conflicts and maintains due diligence and oversight of sub-custodians. The Depositary makes available frequent reporting on clients' activity and holdings, with the underlying sub-custodians subject to internal and external control audits. Finally, the Depositary segregates the Fund's assets from its proprietary assets and follows a Standard of Conduct that requires employees to act ethically, fairly and transparently with clients. State Street has implemented a global policy laying down the standards required for identifying, assessing, recording and managing all conflicts of interest which may arise in the course of business. Each State Street business unit, including the Depositary, is responsible for establishing and maintaining a Conflicts of Interest Program for the purpose of identifying and managing organizational conflicts of interest that may arise within the business unit in connection with providing services to its Clients or in delivering its functional responsibilities.

Up-to-date information on the Depositary, its duties, any conflicts that may arise, the safe-keeping functions delegated by the Depositary, the list of delegates and sub-delegates and any conflicts of interest that may arise from such a delegation will be made available to shareholders on request.

The rights and duties of the Depositary are governed by the Depositary Agreement entered into on 4 August 2016 for an unlimited period of time from the date of its signature as amended from time to time. The Fund and the Depositary may terminate the Depositary Agreement on 6 months prior written notice; however, the Depositary shall continue to act as Depositary for up to two months pending a replacement depositary being appointed and that such replacement is appointed, the Depositary shall take all necessary steps to ensure the good preservation of the interests of the shareholders of the Fund. The Depositary Agreement may be terminated on shorter notice in certain circumstances, including where a material breach of the Depositary Agreement by the other party has not been cured within thirty (30) calendar days' of that party being given written notice of the material breach. The Depositary Agreement may be terminated forthwith upon a party being declared bankrupt, entering into a composition with creditors, obtaining a suspension of payment, being put under court controlled management or being the subject of a similar measure; and in the event that the Depositary reasonably determines that the Fund has ceased to satisfy the Depositary's customary credit requirements.

As far as legally permitted, the Depositary Agreement contains provisions indemnifying the Depositary, and exempting the Depositary from liability, in certain circumstances.

# 4.19 Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Listing Agent and Transfer Agent

With the consent of the Fund, the Management Company has appointed State Street Bank International GmbH, acting through its Luxembourg Branch also as administrative, registrar and transfer agent and as domiciliary and paying agent of the Fund (the Administrator) pursuant to the Administration Agreement.

The relationship between the Fund, the Management Company and the Administrator is subject to the terms of the Administration Agreement. Under the terms of the Administration Agreement, the Administrator will carry out all general administrative duties related to the administration of the Fund required by Luxembourg law, calculate the Net Asset Value per Share, maintain the accounting records of the Fund, as well as process all subscriptions, redemptions, conversions, and transfers of Shares, and register these transactions in the register of shareholders. In addition, as registrar and transfer agent of the Fund, the Administrator is also responsible for collecting the required information and performing verifications on investors to comply with applicable anti-money laundering rules and regulations.

The Administrator shall not, in the absence of fraud, negligence or willful default, be liable to the Fund or to any Shareholder for any act or omission in the course of or in connection with the discharge by the Administrator of its duties. The Fund has agreed to indemnify the Administrator or any persons appointed by it from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature whatsoever (other than those resulting from the fraud, negligence or willful default on the part of the Administrator), which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Administratior in performing its obligations or duties hereunder.

The Administrator is not responsible for any investment decisions of the Fund or the effect of such investment decisions on the performance of the Fund. The Administrator is a service provider to the Fund and is not responsible for the preparation of this Prospectus or the activities of the Fund and therefore accepts no responsibility for the accuracy of any information contained in this Prospectus.

The Administration Agreement has no fixed duration and each party may, in principle, terminate the agreement on not less than ninety (90) calendar days' prior written notice. The Administration Agreement may also be terminated on shorter notice in certain circumstances, for instance where one party commits a material breach of a material clause of the Administration Agreement. The Administration Agreement may be terminated by the Management Company with immediate effect if this is deemed by the Management Company to be in the interest of the investors. The Administration Agreement contains provisions exempting the Administrator from liability and indemnifying the Administrator in certain circumstances. However, the liability of the Administrator towards the Management Company and the Fund will not be affected by any delegation of functions by the Administrator.

# 5. Investment Policies

# 5.1 Investment Policy of each Sub-Fund

The Sub-Funds will seek to achieve their objectives, in accordance with the specific investment policies established for each Sub-Fund by the Board of Directors, by investing primarily in Transferable Securities that are considered by the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be to have the potential to meet the stated investment objective of the relevant Sub-Fund. The Board of Directors has determined the investment objective and policy of each Sub-Fund, as described in Appendix 1. There can be no assurance that the investment objective for any Sub-Fund will be attained. Pursuit of the investment objective and policy of each Sub-Fund must be in compliance with the limits and restrictions set forth in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions".

#### 5.2 Financial derivative instruments and other invested assets

Subject to the specific investment restrictions established for each Sub-Fund under Appendix 1, each Sub-Fund may utilise financial techniques and instruments for investment purposes, hedging purposes and efficient portfolio management such as securities lending and borrowing transactions and repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions.

Those financial techniques will be entered into for one or more of the following aims:

- reduction of risk;
- reduction of cost;

generation of additional capital or income for the Sub-Fund, through the transaction itself or through the reinvestment of the cash collateral, with a level of risk which is consistent with the risk profile of the Sub-Fund and the risk diversification rules applicable to it.

Such portfolio strategies may include transactions in financial futures contracts and options thereon. The Sub-Funds may also engage in transactions in options, on bond and stock indices and on portfolios of indices. The Sub-Funds may seek to hedge their investments against currency fluctuations which are adverse to the respective currencies in which these Sub-Funds are denominated by utilising currency options, futures contracts and forward foreign exchange contracts. The Sub-Funds may sell interest rate futures contracts, write call options or purchase put options on interest rates or enter into swap agreements for the purpose of hedging against interest rate fluctuations. The Sub-Funds may hold such ancillary liquid assets as the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be considers appropriate. Each Sub-Fund may also engage in securities lending and enter into repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements in compliance with the applicable regulations and relevant mandate.

A Sub-Fund will only enter into the aforementioned transactions with financial institutions specialised in such transactions and deemed appropriate by the Investment Manager in accordance with its internal approval policies (and subject to its ongoing review). Such transactions shall be entered into only in accordance with the standard terms laid down by the ISDA. The ISDA has produced standardised documentation for such transactions under the umbrella of its ISDA Master Agreement. Any legal restrictions will be applied to the issuer of the derivative instrument as well as to the underlying thereof. When using the techniques and instruments described in the preceding paragraphs, the Sub-Funds must comply with the limits and restrictions set forth in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions".

Such techniques and instruments shall be used only to the extent that they do not affect the Sub-Funds' investment objectives and policies. Use of the aforesaid techniques and instruments involves certain risks and there can be no assurance that the objective sought to be obtained from such use will be achieved.

Each Sub-Fund may incur costs and fees in connection with efficient portfolio management techniques. In particular, such techniques and transactions will be carried out directly by the Fund acting on behalf of the relevant Sub-Funds, with no intermediary or third party being involved. Therefore, there will be no intermediary or third party fees paid in connection with efficient portfolio management techniques. Information on other direct and indirect operational costs and fees incurred by each Sub-Fund in this respect, as well as the identity of the entities to which such costs and fees are paid and any affiliation they may have with the Depositary Bank, the Investment Manager or the Management Company, if applicable, may be available in the Annual Report.

None of the Sub-Funds have as a core strategy to achieve their investment objective through the entering into one, or several, single total return swaps or similar financial derivative instruments. However, the Sub-Funds may, on an ancillary basis, gain exposure to financial indices or assets which are in line with their investment objectives through one or several total return swaps or similar financial derivative instruments. The Sub-Funds will only enter into such instruments with first class regulated financial institutions specialized in such types of transactions. These counterparties to financial derivative instruments will be entities (which may or may not be related to the Management Company, Depositary or their delegates) with legal personality typically located in OECD jurisdictions. They will be subject to ongoing supervision by a public authority, be financially sound and have the necessary organisational structure and resources for the relevant type of transaction. In addition, a credit assessment (which may, but is not obliged to, include a minimum credit rating requirement) will be undertaken with respect to each counterparty. The counterparties will have no discretion as to the composition or management of the Sub-Fund assets or underlyings thereof. The identity of these counterparties will be disclosed in the annual report of the Fund.

Each Sub-Fund may incur costs and fees in connection with total return swaps or other financial derivative instruments with similar characteristics, upon entering into total return swaps and/or any increase or decrease of their notional amount. The amount of these fees may be fixed or variable. Information on costs and fees incurred by each Sub-Fund in this respect, as well as the identity of the recipients and any affiliation they may have with the Depositary Bank, the Investment Manager or the Management Company, if applicable, may be available in the Annual Report. Total return swaps entered into by a Sub-Fund may be in the form of funded and/or unfunded swaps. "Funded swap" means a swap where the total return receiver pays an upfront amount in return for the total return of the reference asset and can therefore be costlier due to the upfront payment requirement. "Unfunded swap" means a swap where no upfront payment is made by the total return receiver at inception.

All gross revenues arising from total return swaps, securities lendings, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements will be returned to the relevant Sub-Fund.

The securities lendings and repurchase agreements may notably be entered into with Emirates NBD, a company belonging to the Investment Manager's group. Transactions may also be concluded with other market counterparties and intermediated by Emirates NBD.

In addition to the above, the Sub-Funds which are Shari'a compliant can only obtain such exposures after prior approval from the Shari'a Board.

Investors should note that assets priced on an amortised basis may have a mark to market adjustment on realization and this could lead to losses on disposal.

#### 5.3 Global Exposure

The global exposure of the Sub-Funds is measured by either the Value at Risk (VaR) methodology or the commitment approach.

In financial mathematics and financial risk management, VaR is a widely used risk measure of the risk of loss on a specific portfolio of financial assets. For a given investment portfolio, probability and time horizon, VaR measures the potential loss that could arise over a given time interval under normal market conditions, and at a given confidence level. The calculation of VaR is conducted on the basis of a one-sided confidence interval of 99% and a holding period of 20 days. The exposure of the Sub-Funds is subject to periodic stress tests but the total level of risk is not expected to exceed the sum of the notionals.

The exposure of a Sub-Fund may further be increased by transitory borrowings not exceeding 10% of the assets of a Sub-Fund. The method used to calculate the global exposure and the expected level of leverage is calculated in accordance with the applicable regulations for each Sub-Fund are set out in Appendix 1.

The Global Risk determination process in relation to the derivatives in the commitment approach is executed in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

Under the commitment approach a Sub-Fund's Financial derivative positions are covered into the market value of the equivalent position in the underlying asset or by the national value or the price of futures contracts where they are more conservative. The Sub-Fund's global exposure will be limited to 100% of its Net Asset Value. Netting and hedging are permitted. The netting and hedging policy is in line with applicable laws and regulations.

#### 6. Risk Factors

# 6.1 General

This Section 6 explains some of the risks that apply to the Sub-Funds. It does not purport to be a complete explanation and other risks may also be relevant from time to time. The value of investments and the income derived from them may fall as well as rise and investors may not recoup the original amount invested in the Fund. Past performance is not indicative of future performance. There is no assurance that the investment objective of any Sub-Fund will actually be achieved. The risks which a prospective investor should take into account includes risks which are general to all Sub-Funds and those which are specific to certain Sub-Funds and arise in respect of the investment objective, policy and strategy which is adopted in relation to a specific Sub-Fund. Appendix 1 sets out which of the risk factors set out below are particularly relevant to each Sub-Fund.

#### 6.2 Interest Rate Risk

As nominal interest rates rise, the value of securities held by a Sub-Fund may decrease. Securities with longer durations tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates, usually making them more volatile than securities with shorter durations. A nominal interest rate can be described as the sum of a real interest rate and an expected inflation rate. Inflation indexed securities decline in value when real interest rates rise. In certain interest rate environments, such as when real interest rates are rising faster than nominal interest rates, inflation-indexed securities may experience greater losses than other fixed income securities with similar durations.

# 6.3 Counterparty Credit Risk

A Sub-Fund may be exposed to companies which act as a service provider, counterparty or guarantor when entering into over-the-counter markets in contracts. Their inability or unwillingness to honour obligations can subject a Sub-Fund to credit risk of losses incurred from late payments, failed payments and default.

#### 6.4 Economic Risk

The value of a Sub-Fund may decline due to factors affecting market conditions generally or particular industries represented in the markets. The value of a security held by a Sub-Fund may decline due to an actual or perceived change in general market conditions which are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates, or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors which affect a particular industry or industries, such as labour shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry. During a general downturn in the economy, multiple asset classes may decline in value simultaneously. Economic downturn can be difficult to predict due to speculation in inflationary, fiscal and monetary factors.

#### 6.5 Issuer Risk

An issuer of securities' inability or unwillingness to honour obligations can subject a Sub-Fund to the risk of losses. The issuer's ability to service its debt obligations may be adversely affected by specific issuer developments, the issuer's inability to meet specific projected business forecasts or the unavailability of additional financing.

# 6.6 Liquidity Risk

Certain investment positions in which the Sub-Funds will have an interest may be less liquid. The Sub-Funds may within the limits of the Law of 2010 invest in non–transferable securities, non-publicly traded securities or securities with a lack of trading volume. These investments could prevent the Sub-Fund from liquidating unfavourable positions promptly and subject the Sub-Fund to substantial losses. Such investments could also impair the ability of Shareholders to collect redemption proceeds in a timely manner and Shareholders may incur a dilution adjustment. During extreme market conditions securities that would normally be liquid may become less liquid and it may be difficult for Shareholders to collect redemption proceeds in a timely manner or Shareholders may incur a dilution adjustment. Assets amortised may not be readily realizable and may result in losses on premature realization.

## 6.7 Currency Risk

A Sub-Fund may be exposed to currency exchange risk where the assets and income are denominated in currencies other than the Reference Currency of the Sub-Fund. Changes in exchange rates between currencies or the conversion from one currency to another may cause the value of a Sub-Fund's investments to decline or increase. Currency exchange rates may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time. They are generally determined by

supply and demand in the currency exchange markets and the relative merits of investment in different countries, actual or perceived changes in interest rates and other complex factors. Currency exchange rates can also be affected unpredictably by intervention (or failure to intervene) by governments or central banks, or by currency controls or political developments.

A Sub-Fund may enter into currency exchange transactions in an attempt to protect against changes in a country's currency exchange rates. A Sub-Fund may enter into forward contracts to hedge against a change in such currency exchange rates that would cause a decline in the value of existing investments denominated or principally traded in a currency other than the Reference Currency of that Sub-Fund. To do this, the Sub-Fund would enter into a forward contract to sell the currency in which the investment is denominated or principally traded in exchange for the Reference Currency of the Sub-Fund. Although these transactions are intended to minimise the risk of loss due to a decline in the value of the hedged currency, at the same time they limit any potential gain that might be realised should the value of the hedged currency increase. The precise matching of the forward contract amounts and the value of the securities involved will not generally be possible because the future value of such securities will change as a consequence of market movements in the value of such securities between the date when the forward contract is entered into and the date when it matures. Therefore the successful execution of a hedging strategy which matches exactly the profile of the investments of any Sub-Fund cannot be assured.

### 6.8 Currency Risk – Hedged Share Class

A Sub-Fund may enter into currency exchange transactions to hedge against a change in currency exchange rates that would cause a decline in the value of a Class denominated in a currency other than the Reference Currency of the Sub-Fund. To do this, the Sub-Fund would enter into a forward contract to sell the Reference Currency of the Sub-Fund in exchange for the currency in which the Class is denominated. While the Sub-Fund or its authorised agent may attempt to hedge currency risks, there can be no guarantee that it will be successful in doing so and it may result in mismatches between the currency position of the Sub-Fund and the hedged Class. It may also result in an increase in the total expense ratio. The hedging strategies may be entered into whether the Reference Currency of a Sub-Fund is declining or increasing in value relative to the relevant currency of the hedged Class and so, where such hedging is undertaken it may substantially protect investors in the relevant hedged Class against a decrease in the value of the Reference Currency relative to the hedged Class currency, but it may also preclude investors from benefiting from an increase in the value of the Reference Currency.

### 6.9 Custodial Risk

A Sub-Fund may invest in markets where depositary and/or settlement systems are not fully developed. The assets of the Sub-Funds which are traded in such markets and which have been entrusted to sub-custodians, in circumstances where the use of such sub-custodians is necessary, may be exposed to risk in circumstances whereby the depositary will have no liability, provided the depositary has acted in accordance with its duties of supervision and control as per applicable regulation.".

#### 6.10 Valuation Risk

A Sub-Fund's assets comprise mainly of quoted investments where a valuation price can be obtained from an exchange or similarly verifiable source. However, there is a risk that where the Sub-Fund invests within the limits of the 2010 Law in unquoted and/or less liquid investments the values at which these investments are realised may be significantly different to the estimated fair values of these investments.

## 6.11 Credit spread risk

A Sub-Fund's investments may be adversely affected if any of the issuers it is invested in are subject to an actual or perceived deterioration to their credit quality. Any actual or perceived deterioration may lead to an increase in the credit spreads of the issuer's securities.

### 6.12 Operational Risk

A Sub-Fund's investments may be adversely affected due to the operational process of the Sub-Fund. A Sub-Fund may be subject to losses arising from inadequate or failed internal controls, processes and systems, or from human or external events.

## 6.13 Regulatory, Business, Legal and Tax

In some jurisdictions the interpretation and implementation of laws and regulations and the enforcement of shareholders' rights under such laws and regulations may involve significant uncertainties. Furthermore, there may be differences between accounting and auditing standards, reporting practices and disclosure requirements and those generally accepted internationally. Some of the Sub-Funds may be subject to withholding and other taxes. Tax law and regulations of any country are constantly changing, and may be changed with retrospective effect. The interpretation and applicability of tax law and regulations by tax authorities in some jurisdictions are not consistent and transparent and may vary from region to region.

#### 6.14 Conflicts of Interest

The Management Company and the various third parties to which the Management Company has delegated its functions may have conflicts of interest in relation to their duties to the Fund. The Management Company will, however, ensure that all such potential conflicts of interest are resolved fairly and in the best interests of the Shareholders in so far as it is possible to do so.

Potential conflicts of interest may especially arise in connection with securities lending, repurchase and reverse repurchase transactions, as the Investment Manager is using Emirates NBD to provide intermediation services.

### 6.15 Emerging Markets

A Sub-Fund may invest in less developed or emerging markets. These markets may be volatile and less liquid and the investments of the Sub-Fund in such markets may be considered speculative and subject to significant delays in

settlement. Practices in relation to settlement of securities transactions in emerging markets involve higher risks than those in developed markets, in part because the Fund will need to use brokers and counterparties which are less well capitalised, and custody and registration of assets in some countries may be unreliable. Delays in settlement could result in investment opportunities being missed if a Sub-Fund is unable to acquire or dispose of a security. The risk of significant fluctuations in the net asset value and of the suspension of redemptions in those Sub-Funds may be higher than for Sub-Funds investing in major world markets. In addition, there may be a higher than usual risk of political, economic, social and religious instability and adverse changes in government regulations and laws in emerging markets and assets could be compulsorily acquired without adequate compensation. The assets of a Sub-Fund investing in such markets, as well as the income derived from the Sub-Fund, may also be affected unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates and exchange control and tax regulations and consequently the net asset value of Shares of that Sub-Fund may be subject to significant volatility. Some of these markets may not be subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and practices comparable to those of more developed countries and the securities markets of such countries may be subject to unexpected closure. There may be less government supervision and legal regulation and less well defined tax laws and procedures than in countries with more developed securities markets. Some emerging markets governments exercise substantial influence over the private economic sector and the political and social uncertainties that exist for many developing countries are particularly significant. Another risk common to most such countries is that the economy is heavily export oriented and, accordingly, is dependent upon international trade. The existence of overburdened infrastructures and obsolete financial systems also presents risks in certain countries, as do environmental problems.

### 6.16 Fixed Income Securities – General

Investment in fixed income securities is subject to interest rate, sector, security and credit risks. Lower rated securities will usually offer higher yields than higher rated securities to compensate for the reduced creditworthiness and increased risk of default that these securities carry. Investors should note that credit ratings may not necessarily reflect the true risk of an investment and that the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be may use its own set of credit rating criteria to perform its credit analysis, which may differ from the criteria used by the credit rating agencies.

## 6.17 Sovereign Bonds

A Sub-Fund may invest in debt obligations issued or guaranteed by governments or their agencies (sovereign bonds). The governmental entity that controls the repayment of sovereign bonds may not be able or willing to repay the principal and/or interest when due in accordance with the terms of such debt. A governmental entity's willingness or ability to repay principal and interest due in a timely manner may be affected by, among other factors, its cash flow situation, the extent of its foreign reserves, the availability of sufficient foreign exchange on the date a payment is due, the relative size of the debt service burden to the economy as a whole, the governmental entity's policy towards the International Monetary Fund and the political constraints to which a governmental entity may be subject. Governmental entities may also be dependent on expected disbursements from foreign governments, multilateral agencies and others abroad to reduce principal and interest arrearage on their debt. The commitment on the part of these governments, agencies and others to make such disbursements may be conditioned on a governmental entity's implementation of economic reforms and/or economic performance and the timely service of such debtor's obligations. Failure to implement such reforms, achieve such levels of economic performance or

repay principal or interest when due may result in the cancellation of such third parties' commitments to lend funds to the governmental entity, which may further impair such debtor's ability or willingness to service its debt on a timely basis. Consequently, governmental entities may default on their sovereign bonds. Holders of sovereign bonds may be requested to participate in the rescheduling of such debt and to extend further loans to governmental entities. There is no bankruptcy proceeding by which sovereign bonds, on which a governmental entity has defaulted, may be collected in whole or in part.

## 6.18 Corporate Bonds

A Sub-Fund may invest in corporate bonds. Corporate bonds are subject to the risk of the issuer's inability to meet principal and interest payments on the obligation and may also be subject to price volatility due to such factors as interest rate sensitivity, market perception of the creditworthiness of the issuer and general market liquidity. When interest rates rise, the value of corporate bonds can be expected to decline. Corporate bonds with longer maturities tend to be more sensitive to interest rate movements than those with shorter maturities.

#### 6.19 Investment Grade Rated Securities

A Sub-Fund may invest in investment grade rated securities. Investment grade rated securities are assigned credit ratings by ratings agencies on the basis of the creditworthiness or risk of default of a bond issue. Rating agencies review, from time to time, such assigned ratings of the securities and may subsequently downgrade the rating if economic circumstances impact the relevant bond issues.

## 6.20 Sub-Investment Grade/High Yield

A Sub-Fund may invest in sub-investment grade/high yield securities. These fixed income securities (rated BB+ or lower by Standard & Poor's, Ba1 or lower by Moody's or an equivalent rating from any other recognised rating agency) typically are subject to greater market fluctuations and to greater risk of loss of income and principal, due to default by the issuer, than are higher rated fixed income securities. Lower rated fixed income securities' values tend to reflect short term corporate, economic and market developments and investor perceptions of the issuer's credit quality to a greater extent than lower yielding higher rated fixed income securities' values. In addition, it may be more difficult to dispose of, or to determine the value of, high yield fixed income securities. There are fewer investors in lower rated securities, and it may be harder to buy and sell securities at an optimum time. Fixed income securities rated BB+ or Ba1 or lower, or an equivalent rating from any other recognised rating agency, are described by the ratings agencies as "predominantly speculative with respect to capacity to pay interest and repay principal in accordance with the terms of the obligation. While such debt will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these are outweighed by large uncertainties or major risk exposures to adverse conditions".

# 6.21 Distressed Debt Securities

A Sub-Fund may invest in distressed debt securities. Investment in such distressed debt securities (which qualify as transferable securities) involves purchases of obligations of companies that are experiencing significant financial or business distress, including companies involved in bankruptcy or other reorganisation and liquidation proceedings. Acquired investments may include senior or subordinated debt securities, promissory notes and other evidences of

indebtedness, as well as payables to trade creditors. Although such purchases may result in significant investor returns, they involve a substantial degree of risk and may not show any return for a considerable period of time. In fact, many of these investments ordinarily remain unpaid unless and until the company reorganises and/or emerges from bankruptcy proceedings, and as a result may have to be held for an extended period of time. The level of analytical sophistication, both financial and legal, necessary for successful investment in companies experiencing significant business and financial distress is unusually high.

There is no assurance that the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be will correctly evaluate the nature and magnitude of the various factors that could affect the prospects for a successful reorganisation or similar action. In any reorganisation or liquidation proceeding relating to a company in which a Sub-Fund invests, an investor may lose its entire investment or may be required to accept cash or securities with a value less than the original investment. Under such circumstances, the returns generated from the investment may not compensate a Sub-Fund adequately for the risks assumed. Investing in distressed debt can also impose duties on the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager which may conflict with duties which it owes to a Sub-Fund.

A specific example of where the Investment Manager may have a conflict of interest is where it invests the assets of a Sub-Fund in a company in serious financial distress and where that investment leads to the Investment Manager investing further amounts of the Sub-Fund's assets in the company or taking an active role in managing or advising the company, or one of the Investment Manager's employees becomes a director or other officer of the company. In such cases, the Investment Manager or its employee may have duties to the company and/or its members and creditors which may conflict with, or not correlate with, the interests of the Shareholders of that Sub-Fund. In such cases, the Investment Manager may also have discretion to exercise any rights attaching to the Sub-Fund's investments in such a company. The Investment Manager will take such steps as it considers necessary to resolve such potential conflicts of interest fairly.

### 6.22 Convertible Bonds

Investments in convertible bonds may, in addition to normal bond risks and fluctuations, be subject to fluctuations in response to numerous factors, including but not limited to, variations in the periodic operating results of the issuer, changes in investor perceptions of the issuer, the depth and liquidity of the market for convertible bonds and changes in actual or forecasted global or regional economic conditions. In addition, the global bond markets have from time to time experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. Any such broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of convertible bonds.

### 6.23 Securitised Bonds

Certain Sub-Funds may have exposure to a wide range of asset backed securities (including asset pools in credit card loans, auto loans, residential and commercial mortgage loans, collateralised mortgage obligations and collateralised debt obligations), agency mortgage pass-through securities and covered bonds. The obligations associated with these securities may be subject to greater credit, liquidity and interest rate risk compared to other fixed income securities such as government issued bonds. Asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities are securities that entitle the holders thereof to receive payments that are primarily dependent upon the cash flow arising from a

specified pool of financial assets such as residential or commercial mortgages, motor vehicle loans or credit cards. Asset backed securities and mortgage backed securities are often exposed to extension and prepayment risks that may have a substantial impact on the timing and size of the cash flows paid by the securities and may negatively impact the returns of the securities. The average life of each individual security may be affected by a large number of factors such as the existence and frequency of exercise of any optional redemption and mandatory prepayment, the prevailing level of interest rates, the actual default rate of the underlying assets, the timing of recoveries and the level of rotation in the underlying assets.

## 6.24 Local Currency Securities

A Sub-Fund may invest in local currency securities. Such investments will be subject to the risks related to investing in emerging market securities as described above. In addition, when purchasing local Currency securities, exchange rate fluctuations may occur between the trade date for a transaction and the date on which the currency is acquired to meet settlement demands.

#### 6.25 Subordinated Debts

A Sub-Fund may invest in subordinated debt. Subordinated debt is debt which, in the case of insolvency of the issuer, ranks after other debts in relation to repayment. Because subordinated debt is repayable after senior debts have been re-paid, the chance of receiving any repayment on insolvency is reduced and therefore subordinated debt represents a greater risk to the investor.

### 6.26 Equities

A Sub-Fund may invest in equity or equity-related investments. The values of equity securities may decline due to general market conditions which are not specifically related to a particular company, such as real or perceived adverse economic conditions, changes in the general outlook for corporate earnings, changes in interest or currency rates or adverse investor sentiment generally. They may also decline due to factors which affect a particular industry or industries, such as labour shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions within an industry. Equity securities generally have greater price volatility than fixed income securities.

#### 6.27 Unlisted Securities

A Sub-Fund may invest in unlisted securities within the investment restrictions as further detailed under point 10 below. In general there is less governmental regulation and supervision of transactions in the unlisted securities markets than for transactions entered into on organised exchanges. In addition, many of the protections afforded to participants on some organised exchanges, such as the performance guarantee of an exchange clearing house, may not be available in connection with unlisted securities. Therefore, any Sub-Fund investing in unlisted securities will be subject to the risk that its direct counterparty will not perform its obligations under the transactions and that the Sub-Fund will sustain losses. Additional risks in relation to unlisted financial derivatives are set out below.

#### 6.28 Derivatives

A portion of a Sub-Fund's investments may consist of financial derivative instruments, to reduce risks or costs or to generate additional capital or income. Specific Sub-Funds may use more complex derivative investment instruments. The use of derivatives by each Sub-Fund is set out in more detail in Appendix 1. Generally, derivative instruments are financial contracts whose value depend upon, or is derived from, the value of an underlying asset, reference rate or index, and may relate to stocks, bonds, high yield debt securities, interest rates, currencies or currency exchange rates and related indexes. Examples of derivative instruments which a Sub-Fund may use include options contracts, futures contracts, options on futures contracts, swap agreements (including credit swaps, credit default swaps, total return swaps, options on swap agreements, straddles, forward currency exchange contracts and structured notes). A Sub-Fund's use of derivative instruments involves risks different from, or possibly greater than, the risk associated with investing directly in the underlying asset. The following sets out important risk factors investors should understand and consider in relation to derivative instruments.

#### Counterparty risk

In accordance with its investment objective and policy, a Sub-Fund may trade 'over-the-counter' (OTC) financial derivative instruments such as non-exchange traded securities, futures and options, forwards, swaps (including total return swaps) or contracts for difference. Such OTC financial derivative instruments will be safe-kept with the Depositary. Entering into transactions on the OTC markets will expose the Sub-Fund to the credit of its counterparties and their ability to satisfy the terms of the contracts. In the event of a bankruptcy or insolvency of a counterparty, the Sub-Fund could experience delays in liquidating the position and significant losses, including declines in the value of its investments during the period in which the Sub-Fund seeks to enforce its rights, inability to realise any gains on its investments during such period and fees and expenses incurred in enforcing its rights. There is also a possibility that the above agreements and derivative techniques are terminated due, for instance, to bankruptcy, supervening illegality or change in the tax or accounting laws relative to those at the time the agreement was originated. However, this risk is limited in view of the limits and rules laid down in Sections 10.1 - "Investment Restrictions" 10.2 and "Investment Techniques and Instruments". In particular the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be, will aim to mitigate the counterparty risk by receiving collateral in accordance with such section.

## Leverage Risk

Derivative instruments allow the Sub-Funds to gain a larger exposure to asset values than the amount the Sub-Funds invest. As a result, losses on derivative instruments can exceed the amount invested in them which may impact the value of the Sub-Funds as a whole.

### 6.29 Management risk

Derivative instruments are highly specialised instruments that require investment techniques and risk analysis different from those associated with securities. The use of a derivative instrument requires an understanding not only of the underlying asset but also of the derivative instrument itself, without the benefit of observing the performance of the derivative instrument under all possible market conditions.

#### 6.30 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk exists when a particular derivative instrument is difficult to purchase or sell. If a derivative transaction is particularly large or if the relevant market is less liquid (as is the case with many privately negotiated derivatives), it may not be possible to initiate a transaction or liquidate a position at an advantageous time or price.

#### 6.31 Market and Other Risks

Like most other investments, derivative instruments are subject to the risk that the market value of the instrument will change in a way detrimental to a Sub-Fund's interest. While some strategies involving derivative instruments can reduce the risk of loss, they can also reduce the opportunity for gain or even result in losses by offsetting favourable price movements in other Sub-Fund investments.

#### 6.32 Unlisted instruments

For unlisted instruments, or over-the-counter derivative instruments, where two parties contract directly rather than through an exchange, a Sub-Fund will usually have a contractual relationship only with the counterparty of such unlisted instrument and not the reference obligor on the reference obligation. The Sub-Fund generally will have no right directly to enforce compliance by the reference obligor with the terms of the reference obligation nor any rights of set-off against the reference obligor, may be subject to set-off rights exercised by the reference obligor against the counterparty or another person or entity, and generally will not have any voting or other contractual rights of ownership with respect to the reference obligation. The Sub-Fund will not directly benefit from any collateral supporting the reference obligation and will not have the benefit of the remedies that would normally be available to a holder of such reference obligation. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of the counterparty, the Sub-Fund will be treated as a general creditor of such counterparty, and will not have any claim with respect to the reference obligation. Consequently, the Sub-Fund will be subject to the credit risk of the counterparty as well as that of the reference obligor. As a result, concentrations of over-the-counter derivative instruments entered into with any one counterparty will subject the Sub-Fund to an additional degree of risk with respect to defaults by such counterparty as well as by the reference obligor. Additionally, while the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be expects that the returns on an over-the-counter derivative instrument will generally reflect those of the related reference obligation, as a result of the terms of the over-the-counter derivative instrument and the assumption of the credit risk of the over-the-counter derivative instrument counterparty, an over-the-counter derivative instrument may have a different expected return, a different (and potentially greater) probability of default and expected loss characteristics following a default, and a different expected recovery following default.

Additionally, when compared to the reference obligation, the terms of an over-the-counter derivative instrument may provide for different maturities, distribution dates, interest rates, interest rate references, credit exposures, or other credit or non-credit related characteristics. Upon maturity, default, acceleration or any other termination (including a put or call) other than pursuant to a credit event (as defined therein) of the over-the-counter derivative instrument, the terms of the over-the-counter derivative instrument may permit or require the issuer of such over-the-counter derivative instrument to satisfy its obligations under the over-the-counter derivative instrument by delivering to the relevant Sub-Fund securities other than the reference obligation or an amount different than the then current market value of the reference obligation.

### 6.33 Credit Linked Notes

Credit linked notes and similar structured notes involve a counterparty structuring a note whose value is intended to move in line with the underlying security specified in the note. Unlike financial derivative instruments, cash is transferred from the buyer to the seller of the note. In the event that the counterparty (structurer of the note) defaults, the risk to the Sub-Fund is to that of the counterparty, irrespective of the value of the underlying security within the note. Additional risks result from the fact that the documentation of such notes programmes tends to be highly customised. The liquidity of a credit linked note or similar notes can be less than that for the underlying security, a regular bond or debt instrument, and this may adversely affect either the ability to sell the position or the price at which such a sale is transacted.

# 6.34 Securities Lending, Borrowing Transactions and Repurchase Agreements

Securities lending transactions and repurchase agreements involve additional risks to financial derivative instruments in that: (i) in the event of the failure of the counterparty with which cash of a Sub-Fund has been placed there is the risk that collateral received may realise less than the cash placed out, whether because of inaccurate pricing of the collateral, adverse market movements or a deterioration in the credit rating of issuers of the collateral; (ii) locking cash in transactions of excessive size or duration, delays in recovering cash placed out or difficulty in realising collateral may restrict the ability of the Fund to meet redemption requests, security purchases or, more generally, reinvestment, which may entail liquidity risks, (iii) in the event of the insolvency of the counterparty or it is otherwise unable or refuses to honour its obligations to return securities or cash to the Sub-Fund as required by the terms of the transaction. The Sub-Fund may also incur operational risks such as, inter alia, non-settlement or delay in settlement of instructions, failure or delays in satisfying delivery obligations under sales of securities, and legal risks related to the documentation used in respect of such transactions.

Counterparty risk is generally mitigated by the transfer or pledge of collateral in favour of the Sub-Fund. However, there are certain risks associated with collateral management, including difficulties in selling collateral and/or losses incurred upon realization of collateral, as described below.

## 6.35 Collateral management

Counterparty risk arising from investments in OTC financial derivative instruments and securities lending transactions, repurchase agreements is generally mitigated by the transfer or pledge of collateral in favour of the Sub-Fund. However, transactions may not be fully collateralised. Fees and returns due to the Sub-Fund may not be collateralised. If a counterparty defaults, the Sub-Fund may need to sell non-cash collateral received at prevailing market prices. In such a case the Sub-Fund could realise a loss due, inter alia, to inaccurate pricing or monitoring of the collateral, adverse market movements, deterioration in the credit rating of issuers of the collateral or illiquidity of the market on which the collateral is traded. Difficulties in selling collateral may delay or restrict the ability of the Sub-Fund to meet redemption requests.

A Sub-Fund may also incur a loss in re-investing cash collateral received, where permitted. Such a loss may arise due to a decline in the value of the investments made. A decline in the value of such investments would reduce the amount of collateral available to be returned by the Sub-Fund to the counterparty as required by the terms of the

transaction. The Sub-Fund would be required to cover the difference in value between the collateral originally received and the amount available to be returned to the counterparty, thereby resulting in a loss to the Sub-Fund.

### 6.36 Eurozone Breakup / Failure of Euro

Concerns that the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis could worsen may lead to the reintroduction of national currencies in one or more Eurozone countries or, in particularly dire circumstances, the abandonment of the Euro. The departure or risk of departure from the Eurozone by one or more Eurozone countries and/or the abandonment of the Euro as a currency could have major negative effects on the Fund's investments as well as on the ability of the Fund's counterparties to fulfil their obligations. In addition, countries may impose capital control which could impact the Fund's ability to repatriate proceeds. Legal uncertainty may render hedging arrangements ineffectual.

#### 6.37 Investment Funds

The investments of the Sub-funds in other investment funds may result in an increase of total operating, administration, depositary, management and performance fees/expenses. However the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be will seek to negotiate a reduction in Management Fees and any such reduction will be for the sole benefit of the relevant Sub-Fund.

#### 6.38 Shari'a Compliance

Certain Sub-Funds of the Fund may seek to invest in accordance with generally accepted Shari'a compliant principles. Such investment policy may restrict the investable universe of the Investment Manager which may, in turn, inhibit returns. Additionally, should an asset be deemed non-compliant, or move from a compliant to a non-compliant status, the Investment Manager will within 30 days sell such non-compliant asset and use its best endeavors to replace the aforementioned asset with new Sharia compliant assets. In the case where a capital gain is realized by selling such asset, such capital gain will be purified in accordance with the Internal Shari'a Supervision Committee's advice on the appropriate methodology to do so and on the allocation of the purification proceeds among charities. Al Noor Training Centre for Persons with Disabilities has been approved by the Shari'a Board and the Board of Directors for purification purposes. Al Noor was established in 1984 with the objective of assisting handicapped children with both academic and vocational training. Al Noor operates under the supervision of the Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs, consequent to the Ministerial Decree No. 247 dated 22 May 1997, under professional license no. 108439. This may dilute returns when compared to a conventional counterpart.

Shari'a compliant Sub-funds must at all times comply with applicable Luxembourg laws and regulations and in case of discrepancies between Luxembourg laws and regulations and Shari'a principles, Luxembourg laws and regulations shall prevail.

### 6.39 Sukuk

Price changes in Sukuk are influenced predominantly in the same way as conventional fixed income securities by interest rate developments in the capital markets, which in turn are influenced by macro-economic factors. Sukuk could suffer when capital market interest rates rise, while they could increase in value when capital market interest rates fall. The price changes also depend on the term or residual time to maturity of the Sukuk. Furthermore, the

sukuk market remains a nascent market which can create low levels of liquidity and increased transaction costs. Sukuk may be backed by Sovereign or Corporate issuers. In general, Corporate issuers represent an increased credit risk to investors and may display greater price volatility.

Funds investing in Sovereign Sukuk issued by governments or government related entities from countries referred as Emerging or Frontier Markets bear additional risks linked to the specifics of such countries (e.g. currency fluctuations, political and economic uncertainties, repartiation restrictions, etc).

### 6.40 Common Reporting Standard ("CRS")

The Fund may be subject to the Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information in Tax Matters and its Common Reporting Standard ("CRS") as set out in the Luxembourg law of 18 December 2015 on the Common Reporting Standard (the "CRS Law").

Under the terms of the CRS Law, the Fund is likely to be treated as a Luxembourg Reporting Financial Institution. As such, without prejudice to other applicable data protection provisions as set out in the Fund documentation, the Fund is required to annually report to the Luxembourg tax authorities personal and financial information related, *inter alia*, to the identification of, holdings by and payments made to (i) investors that are reportable persons under the CRS Law, and (ii) Controlling Persons (as defined below) of certain non-financial entities which are themselves reportable persons. This information, as exhaustively set out in the CRS Law, may include personal data related to the reportable persons (the "CRS Information").

The Fund's ability to satisfy its reporting obligations under the CRS Law will depend on each investor providing the Fund with the required CRS Information, as explained above, along with the required supporting documentary evidence. In this context, the investors are hereby informed that, as data controller, the Fund will process such CRS Information for the purposes as set out in the CRS Law. The investors undertake to inform their controlling persons, if applicable, of the processing of their CRS Information by the Fund.

For the purposes of this section, "Controlling Person" means the natural persons who exercise control over an entity. In the case of a trust, the settlor(s), the trustee(s), the protector(s) (if any), the beneficiary(ies) or class(es) of beneficiaries, and any other natural person(s) exercising ultimate effective control over the trust, and in the case of a legal arrangement other than a trust, such term means persons in equivalent or similar positions. The term "Controlling Persons" must be interpreted in a manner consistent with the Financial Action Task Force Recommendations.

Investors are further informed that the CRS Information related to reportable persons within the meaning of the CRS Law will be disclosed to the Luxembourg tax authorities annually for the purposes set out in the CRS Law. In particular, reportable persons are informed that certain operations performed by them will be reported to them through the issuance of statements, and that part of this information will serve as a basis for the annual disclosure to the Luxembourg tax authorities. Similarly, investors undertake to inform the Fund within thirty (30) days of receipt of these statements should any personal data not be accurate. The investors further undertake to immediately inform the Fund of and provide the Fund with all supporting documentary evidence of any changes related to the CRS Information after occurrence of such changes. Any investor that fails to comply with the Fund's CRS Information or documentation requests may be held liable for penalties imposed on the Fund and attributable to such investor's failure to provide the Information or subject to disclosure of the CRS Information by the Fund to the Luxembourg tax authorities.

## 6.41 Sustainability Risk

Sustainability Risk means an environmental, social or governance event or condition that, if it occurs, could cause an actual or a potential material negative impact on the value of the investments made by the Fund.

Such risk is principally linked to climate-related events resulting from climate change (a.k.a Physical Risks) or to the society's response to climate change (a.k.a Transition Risks), which may result in unanticipated losses that could affect the Fund's investments and financial condition. Social events (e.g. inequality, inclusiveness, labour relations, investment in human capital, accident prevention, changing customer behavior, etc.) or governance shortcomings (e.g. recurrent significant breach of international agreements, bribery issues, products quality and safety, selling practices, etc.) may also translate into Sustainability Risks.

## 6.42 China Access Channels Specific Risks

#### QFII Regime Risks

As the Sub-Funds may invest in A-Shares through institutions that have obtained the Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor status ("QFII") in the mainland PRC, certain restrictions imposed on QFIIs may have an adverse effect on the Sub-Funds' liquidity and performance. In particular, a Sub-Fund's ability to make the relevant investments or to fully implement or pursue its investment objective and strategy is subject to the applicable laws, rules and regulations (including restrictions on investments and repatriation of principal and profits) in the PRC, which are subject to change and such change may have potential retrospective effect.

Prospective investors should refer to the Foreign Investment Regulation in the PRC. Under the prevailing regulations, foreign investors can invest in A-Shares and certain other investment products in the PRC through QFII from the China Securities Regulatory Commission (the "CSRC") within a certain investment limit ("Quota") as approved by the State Administration of Foreign Exchange ("SAFE"). If not otherwise stated in the investment policy of the Sub-Fund, the Sub-Funds are not investing at the A-Share market for the time being, but may invest in it at a time that the Directors and Investment Manager determine in which case the prospectus will be amended. Prior notice will be given to the relevant investors should the Sub-Funds intend to invest in the A-Share market. QFIIs are subject to strict investment restrictions imposed by the CSRC.

The restrictions on repatriation of the invested capital and net profits may impact on the Sub-Funds' ability to meet the realisation on requests of its Shareholders. In the event that realisation requests for a large number of Shares are received, the Sub-Funds may need to realise other investments instead of the investments held through a QFII for the purposes of meeting such realisation requests and/or suspending the determination of the net asset value of the Sub-Funds and dealing of the Sub-Funds. It is likely that such impact will increase as the investment of the Sub-Funds in A-Shares increases.

Investments by the Sub-Funds in investment products in the PRC are to be made and held within the specified quota of the relevant QFII representing the Sub-Funds. This specified Quota is shared by the Sub-Funds with other investors investing through the same QFII. As the investment restrictions apply to the specified Quota as a whole (and not simply to that portion of the specified Quota relating to investments of the Sub-Funds), any violation of any such restriction arising from activities relating to investments of the specified Quota other than those of the Sub-Funds may result in the revocation of, or other regulatory action being imposed on, all the investments in the specified Quota, including those of the Sub-Funds. Further, the Sub-Funds may not be able to repatriate all or part of its realised profits if the investments in the specified Quota as a whole do not make any profit or the level of profits made by the entire specified Quota is below that of the portion of the specified Quota invested by the Sub-Funds.

Sub-Funds may also invest in A-Shares through institutions that have obtained the Renminbi Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor status in the mainland PRC. Any risks in relation to such type of investment are disclosed below and further referred to under the Appendix I, in the specific section concerning the relevant Sub-Funds.

#### Local Custodian Risk

There is a risk that certain Sub-Funds may suffer losses, whether direct or consequential, from the default or bankruptcy of the QFII Local Custodian or disqualification of the same party from acting as a custodian. This may adversely affect such Sub-Funds in the execution or settlement of any transaction or in the transfer of any funds or securities.

#### PRC Brokerage Risk

The execution and settlement of transactions or the transfer of any funds or securities may be conducted by brokers ("PRC Brokers") appointed by a QFII. The Sub-Funds may incur losses due to the acts or omissions of the PRC Brokers in the execution or settlement of any transaction or in the transfer of any monies or securities. In addition, there is a risk that certain Sub-Funds may suffer losses, whether direct or consequential, from the default or bankruptcy of the PRC Broker or disqualification of the same from acting as a broker. This may adversely affect certain Sub-Funds in the execution or settlement of any transaction or in the transfer of any funds or securities. Reasonably competitive commission rates and prices of securities will generally be sought to execute the relevant transactions in PRC markets.

#### Risks linked with dealing in securities via Stock Connect

To the extent that the relevant Sub-Fund's investments in China are dealt via Stock Connect, such dealing may be subject to additional risk factors. Stock Connect is a mutual market access programme through which non-PRC investors can deal in select securities listed on a PRC stock exchange, currently the SSE and the SZSE, through a platform organized by the HKSE via a broker in Hong Kong and PRC domestic investors can deal in select securities listed on the SEHK through a platform put in place by a PRC stock exchange, currently the SSE and SZSE.

The relevant regulations are subject to change. Stock Connect is subject to quota limitations which may restrict the Sub-Fund's ability to deal via Stock Connect on a timely basis. This may impact the Sub-Fund's ability to implement its investment strategy effectively. Currently, the scope of Stock Connect includes all constituent stocks of the SSE 180 Index, the SSE 380 Index, the SZSE Component Index, the SZSE Small/Mid Cap Innovation Index (with market capitalization of RMB 6 billion or above) as well as all China A Shares dual-listed on either the SSE or SZSE and the SEHK except for listed shares which are not traded in RMB and/or which are under 'risk alert' or under delisting arrangements. Shareholders should note further that under the relevant regulations a security may be recalled from the scope of Stock Connect. This may adversely affect the relevant Sub-Fund's ability to meet its investment objective, e.g. when the Investment Manager wishes to purchase a security which is recalled from the scope of Stock Connect.

### Beneficial owner of the SSE/SZSE Shares

Stock Connect currently comprises the Northbound link, through which Hong Kong and overseas investors like the Fund may purchase and hold China A Shares listed on the SSE or the SZSE ("SSE/SZSE Shares"), and the Southbound link, through which investors in Mainland China may purchase and hold shares listed on the HKSE. The Fund trades SSE/SZSE Shares through its broker affiliated to the Fund sub-custodian who is SEHK exchange participants. These SSE/SZSE Shares will be held following settlement by brokers or custodians as clearing participants in accounts in the Hong Kong Central Clearing and Settlement System ("CCASS") maintained by the Hong Kong Securities and Clearing Corporation Limited ("HKSCC") as central securities depositary in Hong Kong and nominee holder. HKSCC in turn

holds SSE/SZSE Shares of all its participants through a "single nominee omnibus securities account" in its name registered with ChinaClear, the central securities depositary in Mainland China.

Because HKSCC is only a nominee holder and not the beneficial owner of SSE/SZSE Shares, in the unlikely event that HKSCC becomes subject to winding up proceedings in Hong Kong, investors should note that SSE/SZSE Shares will not be regarded as part of the general assets of HKSCC available for distribution to creditors even under Mainland China law. However, HKSCC will not be obliged to take any legal action or enter into court proceedings to enforce any rights on behalf of investors in SSE/SZSE Shares in Mainland China. Foreign Investors like the concerned Sub-Funds of the Fund investing through the Stock Connect holding the SSE/SZSE Shares through HKSCC are the beneficial owners of the assets and are therefore eligible to exercise their rights through the nominee only.

#### Not protected by Investor Compensation Fund

Investors should note that any Northbound or Southbound trading under Stock Connect will not be covered by Hong Kong's Investor Compensation Fund nor the China Securities Investor Protection Fund and thus investors will not benefit from compensation under such schemes.

Hong Kong's Investor Compensation Fund is established to pay compensation to investors of any nationality who suffer pecuniary losses as a result of default of a licensed intermediary or authorised financial institution in relation to exchange-traded products in Hong Kong. Examples of default are insolvency, in bankruptcy or winding up, breach of trust, defalcation, fraud, or misfeasance.

#### **Quota restrictions**

Investments into Stock Connect are subject to a daily quota that limits the maximum value of net buy trades that can be executed on each trading day. The daily quota will be reset every day. Unused daily quota will not be carried over to next day's daily quota and may change from time to time without prior notice.

Such quota and other limitations may restrict a Sub-Fund's ability to invest in Stock Connect Securities on a timely basis, and the relevant Sub-Fund may not be able to effectively pursue its investment strategy.

Once the daily quota is used up, acceptance of the corresponding buy orders will also be immediately suspended and no further buy orders will be accepted for the remainder of the day. Buy orders which have been accepted will not be affected by the using up of the daily quota, while sell orders will be continued to be accepted. Buying services will be resumed on the following trading day.

# Difference in trading day and trading hours

Due to differences in public holiday between Hong Kong and Mainland China or other reasons such as bad weather conditions, there may be a difference in trading days and trading hours in the two Mainland China markets, SSE and SZSE, and HKSE. Stock Connect will thus only operate on days when both markets are open for trading and when banks in both markets are open on the corresponding settlement days. So, it is possible that there are occasions when it is a normal trading day for the Mainland China market but it is not possible to carry out any China A Shares trading in Hong Kong.

The investment manager should take note of the days and the hours during which Stock Connect is open for business and decide according to its own risk tolerance capability whether or not to take on the risk of price fluctuations in China A Shares during the time when Stock Connect is not trading.

## The recalling of eligible stocks and trading restrictions

A stock may be recalled from the scope of eligible stocks for trading via Stock Connect for various reasons, and in such event the stock can only be sold but is restricted from being bought. This may affect the investment portfolio or strategies of the Investment Manager. The Investment Manager should therefore pay close attention to the list of eligible stocks as provided and renewed from time to time by SSE/SZSE and HKSE.

Under Stock Connect, the Investment Manager will only be allowed to sell China A Shares but restricted from further buying if: (i) the China A Share subsequently ceases to be a constituent stock of the relevant indices; (ii) the China A Share is subsequently under "risk alert"; (iii) the corresponding H share of the China A Share subsequently ceases to be traded on SEHK and/or (iv) in respect of SZSE Shares only, such Shares, based on any subsequent periodic review, that are determined to have a market capitalisation of less than RMB 6 billion. Investors should also note that price fluctuation limits would be applicable to China A Shares.

## Trading costs

In addition to paying trading fees and stamp duties in connection with China A Shares trading, the Sub-Funds carrying out Northbound trading via Stock Connect should also take note of any new portfolio fees, dividend tax and tax concerned with income arising from stock transfers which would be determined by the relevant authorities.

## Local market rules, foreign shareholding restrictions and disclosure obligations

Under Stock Connect, China A Shares listed companies and trading of China A Shares are subject to market rules and disclosure requirements of the China A Shares market. Any changes in laws, regulations and policies of the China A Shares market or rules in relation to Stock Connect may affect share prices. The Investment Manager should also take note of the foreign shareholding restrictions and disclosure obligations applicable to China A Shares.

The Investment Manager will be subject to restrictions on trading (including restriction on retention of proceeds) in China A Shares as a result of its interest in the China A Shares. The Investment Manager is solely responsible for compliance with all notifications, reports and relevant requirements in connection with its interests in China A Shares.

Under the current Mainland China rules, once an investor holds or controls up to 5% of the shares of a company listed on either the SSE or the SZSE, the investor is required to disclose his interest within three working days and during which he cannot trade the shares of that company.

After that, the investor is also required to make disclosure within three working days every time a change in his shareholding reaches 5%. From the day the disclosure obligation arises to two working days after the disclosure is made, the investor may not trade the shares of that company. Overseas investors holding China A Shares via Stock Connect are subject to the following restrictions (i) shares held by a single foreign investor (such as the Umbrella Fund) investing in a listed company must not exceed 10% of the total issued shares of such listed company; and (ii) total A Shares held by all foreign investors (i.e. Hong Kong and overseas investors) who make investments in a listed company must not exceed 30% of the total issued A shares of such listed company. If the aggregate foreign shareholding exceeds the 30% restriction, the foreign investors would be required to unwind their positions on the excessive shareholding according to a last-in-first-out basis within five trading days.

Trading in securities through the Stock Connect may be subject to clearing and settlement risk. If the PRC clearing house defaults on its obligation to deliver securities / make payment, the Fund may suffer delays in recovering its losses or may not be able to fully recover its losses.

According to existing Mainland China practices, a Sub-Fund being the beneficial owner of China A Shares traded via Stock Connect cannot appoint proxies to attend shareholders' meetings on its behalf.

### Currency risks

Northbound investments by the relevant Sub-Funds in the SSE/SZSE securities will be traded and settled in Renminbi. If the relevant Sub-Fund holds a class of shares denominated in a local currency other than RMB, the Sub-Fund will be exposed to currency risk if the Sub-Fund invests in a RMB product due to the need for the conversion of the local currency into RMB. During the conversion, such Sub-Fund will also incur currency conversion costs. Even if the price of the RMB asset remains the same when the Sub-Fund purchases it and when the Sub-Fund redeems / sells it, the

Sub-Fund will still incur a loss when it converts the redemption / sale proceeds into local currency if RMB has depreciated.

The above may not cover all risks related to Stock Connect and any above mentioned laws, rules and regulations are subject to change.

# Ownership of Stock Connect securities

Stock Connect securities are uncertificated and are held by HKSCC for its account holders. Physical deposit and withdrawal of Stock Connect securities are not available under the Northbound Trading for the Sub-Funds investing into such securities.

The relevant Sub-Fund's title or interests in, and entitlements to Stock Connect securities (whether legal, equitable or otherwise) will be subject to applicable requirements, including laws relating to any disclosure of interest requirement or foreign shareholding restriction. It is uncertain whether the Chinese courts would recognise the ownership interest of the investors to allow them standing to take legal action against the Chinese entities in case disputes arise. This is a complex area of law and the Client should seek independent professional advice.

### 6.43 Specific risks of investing in Contingent Convertible Debt Securites

#### *Trigger level risk:*

Trigger levels differ and determine exposure to conversion risk depending on the CET1 distance to the trigger level. The conversion triggers will be disclosed in the prospectus of each issuance. Nonetheless, the investor needs an ongoing understanding of the amount of CET1 the issuer has in place relative to the trigger level. The amount of CET1 varies depending on the issuer while trigger levels differ depending on the specific terms of issuance. The trigger could be activated either through a material loss in capital as represented in the numerator or an increase in risk weighted assets as measured in the denominator. Transparency is critical to mitigating the risk.

#### Coupon cancellation:

Coupon payments on AT1 instruments are entirely discretionary and may be cancelled by the issuer at any point, for any reason, and for any length of time. While all CoCos (AT1 and T2) are subject to conversion or write down when the issuing bank reaches the trigger level, for AT1s there is an additional source of risk for the investor in the form of coupon cancellation in a going concern situation. Coupon payments on AT1 instruments are entirely discretionary and may be cancelled by the issuer at any point, for any reason, and for any length of time. The cancellation of coupon payments on AT1 CoCos does not amount to an event of default. Cancelled payments do not accumulate and are instead written off. This significantly increases uncertainty in the valuation of AT1 instruments and may lead to mispricing of risk. Perhaps most challenging to investors, given the required absence of dividend stoppers/pushers, the AT1 holders may see their coupons cancelled while the issuer continues to pay dividends on its common equity and variable compensation to its workforce.

## Capital structure inversion risk:

Contrary to classic capital hierarchy, CoCo investors may suffer a loss of capital when equity holders do not. In certain scenarios, holders of CoCos will suffer losses ahead of equity holders, e.g., when a high trigger principal write-down CoCo is activated. This cuts against the normal order of capital structure hierarchy where equity holders are expected to suffer the first loss. This is less likely with a low trigger CoCo when equity holders will already have suffered loss. Moreover, high trigger Tier 2 CoCos may suffer losses not at the point of gone concern but conceivably in advance of lower trigger AT1s and equity.

#### Call extension risk:

AT1 CoCos are issued as perpetual instruments, callable at predetermined levels only with the approval of the competent authority. It cannot be assumed that the perpetual CoCos will be called on call date. AT1 CoCos are a form of permanent capital. The investor may not receive return of principal if expected on call date or indeed at any date.

#### Unknown risk:

The structure of the instruments is innovative yet untested. In a stressed environment, when the underlying features of these instruments will be put to the test, it is uncertain how they will perform. In the event a single issuer activates a trigger or suspends coupons, will the market view the issue as an idiosyncratic event or systemic? In the latter case, potential price contagion and volatility to the entire asset class is possible. This risk may in turn be reinforced depending on the level of underlying instrument arbitrage. Furthermore, in an illiquid market, price formation may be increasingly stressed.

#### Yield/Valuation risk:

Investors have been drawn to the instrument as a result of the CoCos' often attractive yield which may be viewed as a complexity premium. Yield has been a primary reason this asset class has attracted strong demand, yet it remains unclear whether investors have fully considered the underlying risks. Relative to more highly rated debt issues of the same issuer or similarly rated debt issues of other issuers, CoCos tend to compare favourably from a yield standpoint. The concern is whether investors have fully considered the risk of conversion or, for AT1 CoCos, coupon cancellation.

#### Conversion risk:

Contingent convertible debt securities are complex financial instruments in respect of which, trigger levels (and thus exposure to conversion risk) differ widely. In particular, conversion may cause the value of the investment to fall significantly and irreversibly, and in some cases even to zero. The terms of the bond will set out specific trigger events and conversion rates. Trigger events may be outside of the issuer's control. A common trigger event is the decrease in the issuer's capital ratio below a given threshold. Conversion may cause the value of the investment to fall significantly and irreversibly, and in some cases even to zero. It might be difficult for the Investment Manager of a Sub-Fund to assess how the securities will behave upon conversion. In case of conversion into equity, the Investment Manager might be forced to sell these new equity shares because the investment policy of the Sub-Fund does not allow equity in its portfolio. This forced sale may itself lead to liquidity issue for these shares.

## Concentration risk:

To the extent that investments are concentrated in a particular industry, the contingent convertible bonds investors will be susceptible to loss due to adverse occurrences affecting that industry

# 7. The Shares

## 7.1 General

The Shares of each Sub-Fund will be offered in registered form and will be issued without certificates. Fractions of Shares will be issued up to three decimal places. All Shares are of no par value and must be fully paid upon issue. Subject to the restrictions described below, Shares of each Class of each Sub-Fund are freely transferable and are each entitled to participate equally in the profits and liquidation proceeds attributable to that Class. The rules

governing such allocation are set forth below. The Shares carry no preferential or pre-emptive rights, and each Share entitles its registered holder to one vote at all general meetings of Shareholders and at all meetings of the Sub-Fund in which such Share is held. Shares redeemed by the Fund become null and void. The Board of Directors may restrict or prevent the ownership of Shares by any person, firm or corporation if the ownership is such that it may be contrary to the interests of the Fund or of the majority of its Shareholders or of any Sub-Fund or Class therein. Where it appears to the Board of Directors that a person who is precluded from holding Shares, either alone or in conjunction with any other person, is a beneficial owner of Shares, the Fund may proceed to compulsorily redeem all Shares so owned. The Board of Directors may fix minimum subscription amounts for each Class, which, if applicable, are detailed below in Section 7.3 "Class Description, Eligibility for Shares, Minimum Subscription and Holding Amounts".

The Fund/Management Company may require from existing investor, at any time, additional information together with all supporting documentation deemed necessary for the Fund to comply with AML measures in force in Luxembourg.

Further information in relation to the subscription, conversion and redemption of Shares is set out below.

#### 7.2 Subscription for Shares

Subscription day for all Classes will be the Valuation day. Notice must be received by the Administrator by 12:00 CET on the business day prior to the Subscription day; unless such other notice period is agreed by any one Director from time to time or is specified separately for any Sub-fund in Appendix 1 (the "Dealing Cut Off") and except if subscriptions are made through an Agent. In such case, orders for subscriptions may have to be received within a different timeframe, in which case the Agent will inform the investor of the relevant procedure. Shares of each Class shall be allotted at the net asset value per Share of such Class determined as of the applicable Valuation Day, plus any applicable sales charge.

The applicable sales charge for each Class of each sub fund has been detailed in appendix 2.

Payment for Shares must be received by the Administrator within three business days following the Subscription day. The Board of Directors reserves the right to accept or refuse any application in whole or in part and for any reason. The Fund may also limit the distribution of Shares of a given Class or Sub-Fund to specific countries. The issue of Shares of a given Class shall be suspended whenever the determination of the net asset value per Share of such Class is suspended by the Fund (see Section 4.7 "Temporary Suspension of Issues, Redemptions and Conversions").

The Fund may accept payment for subscriptions in a Sub-Fund in the form of securities and other instruments, provided that such securities or instruments in the opinion of the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be comply with the investment objectives and policies of such Sub-Fund and in compliance with the conditions set forth by Luxembourg law, in particular the obligation to deliver a valuation report from the Fund's Auditor (réviseur d'entreprises agréé) which shall be available for inspection. Any costs incurred in connection with a contribution in kind of securities or other instruments shall be borne by the relevant Shareholders. Subscriptions in kind will have to be previously and expressly authorized by the Board of Directors of the Fund, the Investment Manager and the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be.

The Fund, the Management Company and the Registrar and Transfer Agent will at all times comply with any obligations imposed by any applicable laws, rules and regulations with respect to money laundering, as they may be amended or revised from time to time, and in particular with the Luxembourg law dated 12 November 2004 on the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing, as amended, as well as any circular or guidelines issued from time to time by the Regulatory Authority in furtherance of the Law of 2004. To that end, the Fund, the Management Company and the Registrar and Transfer Agent will furthermore adopt procedures designed to ensure, to the extent applicable, that they shall comply with the foregoing undertaking. As a result, the Registrar and Transfer Agent has to ensure that the identity of subscribers who are individuals (demonstrated by a certified copy of their passport or identification card) or of subscribers who are not individuals (demonstrated by a certified copy of their articles of incorporation or equivalent documentation) or the status of financial intermediaries (demonstrated by a recent original extract of the Trade Register and, where applicable or if requested, a certified copy of the business authorisation delivered by the competent local authorities) are disclosed to the Fund. Such information shall be collected for compliance reasons only and shall not be disclosed to unauthorised persons.

Confirmation of completed subscriptions will be mailed, at the risk of the Shareholder, to the address indicated in the Shareholder's application, within 10 Business Days following the issue of Shares. The Global Distributor may enter into agreements with certain distributors pursuant to which they agree to act as, or appoint nominees for, investors subscribing for Shares through their facilities (distribution and nominee agreements). In such capacity the distributor may arrange subscriptions, conversions and redemptions of Shares in a nominee name on behalf of individual investors and request the registration of such operations on the register of Shareholders of the Fund in such nominee name. The nominee/distributor maintains its own records and provides the investor with individualised information as to its holdings of Shares in the Fund.

# 7.3 Class Descriptions, Eligibility for Shares, Minimum Subscription and Holding Amounts

The Board of Directors may from time to time decide to create within each Sub-Fund different Classes which may have any combination of the following features:

Each Sub-Fund may contain one or more of the following Classes: A, B, C, D, E, G, I, P, R and S. These Classes may differ in their minimum initial and additional subscription amounts, minimum holding amount, eligibility requirements, and applicable fees and expenses, as detailed in Appendices 1 and 2.

Each Class, where available, may be offered in the Reference Currency of the relevant Sub-Fund, or may be denominated in any other currency as determined from time to time by the Board of Directors. The currency denomination of each Class will be represented in the name of the Class by a short form reference to such currency. Classes not denominated in the Reference Currency of the relevant Sub-Fund may be hedged against the Reference Currency of such Sub-Fund as further described in the relevant Appendix.

# **Hedged Currency Classes**

A Sub-Fund does not hold a separate portfolio of assets relating to each Class of the same Sub-Fund. The assets and liabilities of each Class are allocated on a percentage basis. In the case of hedged currency Classes, a Sub-Fund may

incur liabilities in connection with currency hedging transactions carried out in relation to and for the benefit of a single Class. With respect to Sub-Funds with different currency Classes, currency hedging transactions for one Class may in extreme cases adversely affect the net asset value of other Classes within the same Sub-Fund.

#### **Initial Offering Price**

The initial offering price for the respective currencies of each Class of each Sub-Fund can be obtained from the registered office of the Fund or from the Registrar and Transfer Agent upon request.

Minimum Subscription and Holding Amount and Minimum Additional Subscription Amount

The minimum subscription amount, minimum holding amount and minimum additional subscription amount requirements in relation to the relevant Class type are stated in Appendix 2. For Classes available in any currency not listed in Appendix 2, the minimum subscription amount, minimum holding amount and minimum additional subscription amount can be obtained online at www.emiratesnbd.com/assetmanagement, from the registered office of the Fund or from the Registrar and Transfer Agent upon request. Where no minimum amount is specified for a particular Class, no minimum amount is applicable. The availability of any Class may differ from Sub-Fund to Sub-Fund.

Where a Shareholder wishes to add to its holding in a given Class, the additional subscription amount must be at least the amount set out in Appendix 2 (or specified by directors of the Fund). The Board of Directors is not obliged to accept additional subscriptions falling below the specified amount.

Any one Director has the discretion, from time to time, to waive any applicable minimum subscription amounts. The Board of Directors may, at any time, decide to compulsorily redeem all Shares from Shareholders whose holdings would, as a result of application for partial redemption of its Shares, be less than the minimum subscription amount or who consequently fail to satisfy any other applicable eligibility requirements set out in Appendix 2. In such case, the Shareholder concerned will receive one month's prior notice so as to be able to increase its holding above such amount or otherwise satisfy the eligibility requirements.

#### 7.4 Conversion of Shares

Subject to any suspension of the determination of the net asset values concerned, Shareholders have the right to convert all or part of their Shares of any Class into Shares of the same Class in another Sub-Fund or into Shares of another existing Class of the same or another Sub-Fund by applying for conversion in the same manner as for the issue of Shares. However, the right to convert Shares is subject to compliance with any conditions (including any minimum subscription amounts) applicable to the Class into which the conversion is to be effected. Therefore, if, as a result of a conversion, the value of a Shareholder's holding in the new Class would be less than the minimum subscription amount specified in Appendix 2, the Fund may decide not to accept the request for conversion of the Shares. In addition, if, as a result of a conversion, the value of a Shareholder's holding in the original Class would become less than the relevant minimum subscription amount, the Shareholder may be deemed (if the Fund so decides) to have requested the conversion of all of its Shares.

The number of Shares issued upon conversion will be based upon the respective net asset values of the two Classes concerned on the Valuation Day in respect of which the conversion request is processed.

Requests for Conversion between Classes in the same Sub-Fund:

For Conversions between different Classes in the same Sub-Fund, conversion requests received in good order prior to 12:00 CET on the business day prior to a Valuation Day will be processed on that Valuation Day, except if conversions are made through an Agent. In such latter case, the Agent will inform the investor of the relevant procedure. Requests received after 12:00 CET on any business day prior to a Valuation Day will be deferred to the next Valuation Day in the same manner as for the issue and redemption of Shares.

Requests for Conversion between Classes in different Sub-Funds

For Conversions between Classes in different Sub-Funds, conversion requests received in good order prior to 12:00 CET on the business day prior to a common Valuation Day will be processed the following Valuation Day. Requests received after 12:00 CET on the business day prior to a common Valuation Day will be deferred to the following common Valuation Day in the same manner as for the issue and redemption of Shares.

For the avoidance of doubt, for conversions between Classes in different Sub-Funds, the notification period for conversion requests shall be the same as the notification period for redemptions applicable to the Sub-Fund from which conversion is requested. The number of Shares issued upon conversion will be based upon the respective net asset value of the Shares of the relevant Sub-Funds on the Valuation Day in respect of which the conversion request is accepted and will be calculated as follows:

$$A = (B \times C \times D) / E$$

A is the number of Shares to be allocated in the new Sub-Fund/Class

B is the number of Shares to be converted in the original Sub-Fund/Class

C is the net asset value on the applicable Valuation Day of the Shares to be converted in the initial Sub-Fund/Class D is the exchange rate applicable on the effective transaction day for the currencies of the two Sub- Funds/Classes E is the net asset value on the applicable Valuation Day of the Shares to be allocated in the new Sub- Fund/Class

After the conversion, the Registrar and Transfer Agent will inform the Shareholder(s) as to the number of new Shares obtained as a result of the conversion, as well as the net asset value.

#### 7.5 Redemption of Shares

Any Shareholder may apply for redemption of its Shares in part or in whole on any business day preceding a Valuation Day, by 12:00 CET, except if redemptions are made through an Agent. In such case, the Agent will inform the investor of the relevant procedure. Redemptions shall be effected at the net asset value per Share of the relevant Class determined on the applicable Valuation Day, minus any applicable adjustments for swing pricing. Redemption payments will be made in the Reference Currency of the relevant Class and the Administrator will issue payment instructions to its correspondent bank for payment normally no later than three Business Days after the relevant Valuation Day. The Board of Directors reserves the right in exceptional circumstances to extend the period for

payment of redemption proceeds to such period, not exceeding 10 Business Days, as shall be necessary to repatriate proceeds of the sale of investments in the event of impediments due to exchange control regulations or other relevant constraints in the market in which a substantial part of the assets of a Sub-Fund are invested or in exceptional circumstances where a Sub-Fund is unable to meet a redemption request within three Business Days after the relevant Valuation Day. Any Shareholder may elect to redeem Shares in specie, provided that the Fund determines that the redemption would not be detrimental to the remaining Shareholders and the redemption is effected in compliance with the conditions set forth by Luxembourg law, in particular the obligation to deliver a valuation report from the Fund's Auditor (réviseur d'entreprises agréé) which shall be available for inspection. Any costs incurred in connection with redemptions in kind shall be borne by the relevant Shareholders. Redemptions in kind are subject to the prior and express authorization of the Board of Directors or its duly appointed delegate and the relevant Shareholder.

If, as a result of a redemption, the value of a Shareholder's holding falls below the relevant minimum holding amount, that Shareholder may be deemed (if the Board of Directors so decides) to have requested redemption of all of its Shares.

Shareholders are required to notify the Registrar and Transfer Agent immediately in the event that they are or become US Persons or hold Shares for the account or benefit of US Persons or otherwise hold Shares in breach of any law or regulation or otherwise in circumstances having, or which may have, adverse regulatory, tax or fiscal consequences for the Fund or the Shareholders or which may otherwise be detrimental to the interests of the Fund. If the Board of Directors becomes aware that a Shareholder (a) is a US Person or is holding Shares for the account of a US Person, (b) is holding Shares in breach of any law or regulation or otherwise in circumstances having, or which may have, adverse regulatory, tax or fiscal consequences for the Fund or the Shareholders or which may otherwise be detrimental to the interests of the Fund, the Board of Directors may redeem the Shares in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation. Additionally, if requests for redemption of more than 10% of the total number of Shares in issue of any Sub-Fund are received, subject to the restrictions specified above, the Board of Directors may decide that such redemption requests be deferred for a period considered to be in the best interest of the Sub-Fund, from the date the relevant redemption requests were received to allow for the disposal of assets by the relevant Sub-Fund in order to realise the proceeds required to meet such requests. Redemption requests which have not been dealt with because of such deferral will be given priority as if the request had been made for the next following Valuation Day until completion of full settlement of the original requests. Redemption of Shares of a given Sub-Fund shall be suspended whenever the determination of the net asset value per Share of such Sub-Fund is suspended by the Fund for the reasons listed under section 4.7 ("Temporary Suspension of Issues, Redemptions and Conversions"). From time to time it may be necessary for the Fund to borrow on a temporary basis to fund redemptions. For restrictions applicable to the Fund's ability to borrow, see Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions".

# 7.6 Transfer of Shares

The transfer of registered Shares may normally be effected by delivery to the Registrar and Transfer Agent of an instrument of transfer in appropriate form. On receipt of the transfer request, the Registrar and Transfer Agent may, after reviewing the endorsement(s), require that the signature(s) be guaranteed by an approved bank, stockbroker

or public notary. Shareholders are advised to contact the Registrar and Transfer Agent prior to requesting a transfer to ensure that they have all the correct documentation for the transaction.

## 7.7 Late Trading and Market Timing

The Fund and the Registrar and Transfer Agent ensure that the practices of late trading and market timing will be eliminated in relation to the distribution of Shares. The cut-off times mentioned in this Section 7 will be observed rigidly and any decision to accept trades will be done on the basis that it will not prejudice the interests of the other shareholders. Investors do not know the net asset value per Share at the time of their request for subscription, redemption, or conversion. Subscriptions, redemptions and conversions of Shares should be made for investment purposes only. The Fund, the Registrar and Transfer Agent, and the Management Company do not permit market-timing or other excessive trading practices. Excessive, short-term trading practices may disrupt portfolio management strategies and harm the Fund's performance. To minimise harm to the Fund and the Shareholders, the Registrar and Transfer Agent on its behalf has the right to reject any subscription or conversion order from any investor who is believed to engage in excessive trading or has a history of excessive trading or if an investor's trading, in the opinion of the Registrar and Transfer Agent, has been or may be disruptive to the Fund or any of the Sub-Funds. In making this judgment, the Registrar and Transfer Agent may consider trading done in multiple accounts under common ownership or control.

Moreover, the Fund and/or Registrar and Transfer Agent have the power to redeem all Shares held by a Shareholder who is or has been engaged in excessive trading. The Registrar and Transfer Agent, the Management Company, and the Fund will not be held liable for any loss resulting from rejected orders or mandatory redemptions.

### 7.8 Data Protection

In accordance with the Data Protection Law, the Fund, acting as data controller (the "Data Controller"), hereby informs the Shareholders (or if the Shareholder is a legal person, informs the natural persons related to the Shareholder, such as its contact persons and/or beneficial owners) that certain personal data provided to the Fund or its delegates may be collected, recorded, stored, adapted, transferred or otherwise processed for the purposes set out below.

Such personal data includes (i) for individual Shareholders: the name, address (including postal and/or e-mail address), banking details, invested amount and holdings of each Shareholder; (ii) for corporate Shareholders: the name and address (including postal and/or e-mail address) of the natural person related to the Shareholders; and (iii) any personal data the processing of which is required in order to comply with regulatory requirements, including tax law and foreign laws (all the personal data mentioned above, collectively, the "Personal Data").

Natural persons mentioned above are hereinafter referred to as "Data Subjects".

Shareholders who are legal persons undertake and guarantee to process Personal Data and to supply such Personal Data to the Fund in compliance with the Data Protection Law, including, where appropriate, informing the Data Subjects of the contents of the present section, in accordance with Articles 12, 13 and/or 14 of the GDPR.

Personal Data supplied by Shareholders is processed in order to enter into and execute the subscription of Shares in the Fund to comply with the legal obligations imposed on the Fund and for the legitimate interests of the Fund, which should never override the interests and fundamental rights and freedoms of Data Subjects. In particular, the Personal Data supplied by Shareholders is processed for the purpose of: (i) maintaining the register of Shareholders; (ii) processing subscriptions, redemptions and conversions of Shares and payments of dividends to Shareholders; (iii) maintaining controls in respect of late trading and market timing practices; (iv) complying with applicable anti-money laundering rules; (v) marketing and client-related services; (vi) FATCA and CRS purposes, (vii) complying with regulatory requirements, including foreign laws and (viii) marketing.

The "legitimate interests" of the Fund referred to above are: (a) the processing purposes described in points (i) to (viii) of the above paragraph of this clause; (b) meeting and complying with the Fund's accountability requirements and regulatory obligations globally; the provision of the proof, in the event of a dispute, of a transaction or any commercial communication; and (c) exercising the business of the Fund in accordance with reasonable market standards.

In the context of the above mentioned purposes, the Fund may delegate the processing of the Personal Data, in compliance and within the limits of the applicable laws and regulations, to other data recipients which refer to, inter alia, the Management Company, the Investment Manager and Global Distributor, the Administrator, the Depositary, the Shari'a Board, the Auditors and the legal advisors of the Fund and their service providers and delegates (the "Data Processors").

The Data Processors may, under their own responsibility, disclose the Personal Data to their agents and/or delegates (the "Sub-Data Processors"), which shall process the Personal Data for the sole purposes of assisting the Data Processors in providing their services to the Fund and/or assisting the Data Processors in fulfilling their own legal obligations. Data Processors and Sub-Data Processors may, as the case may be, process the Personal Data as data processors (when processing the Personal Data upon instructions of the Fund), or as independent data controllers (when processing the Personal Data for their own purposes or fulfilling their own legal obligations). The Personal Data may also be transferred to third-parties such as governmental or regulatory agencies, including tax authorities, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. In particular, Personal Data may be disclosed to the Luxembourg tax authorities, which in turn may, acting as data controller, disclose the same to foreign tax authorities. Certain Data Processors and Sub-Data Processors are located in countries outside the European Economic Area ("EEA") which are deemed not to offer an adequate level of protection by the European Commission. Where the Data Processors and Sub-Data Processors are located outside the EEA in a country which does not ensure an adequate level of protection for Personal Data, the Data Controller and/or Data Processors will enter into legally binding transfer agreements with the relevant Data Processors and Sub-Data Processors in the form of the EU Commission's approved model clauses. In this respect, the Data Subjects have a right to request copies of the relevant document for enabling the Personal Data transfer(s) towards such countries by writing to the Data Controller.

In accordance with the conditions laid down by the Data Protection Law, Data Subjects have the right to:

• request access to their Personal Data (i.e. the right to obtain from the Fund confirmation as to whether or not Personal Data is being processed, to be provided with certain information about the Fund's processing

of Personal Data, to access such data, and to obtain a copy of the Personal Data undergoing processing (subject to legal exceptions));

- request the correction of their Personal Data where it is inaccurate or incomplete (i.e. the right to require from the Fund that inaccurate or incomplete Personal Data be updated or corrected accordingly);
- object to the processing of their Personal Data (i.e. the right to object, on grounds relating to their particular situation, to processing of Personal Data which is based on the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or the legitimate interests of the Fund. The Fund shall stop such processing unless it can either demonstrate compelling legitimate grounds for the processing that override their interests, rights and freedoms or that it needs to process the data for the establishment, exercise or defence of legal claims);
- request erasure of their Personal Data (i.e. the right to require that Personal Data be erased in certain circumstances, including where it is no longer necessary for the Fund to process this data in relation to the purposes for which it collected or processed);
- request for restriction of the use of their Personal Data (i.e. the right to obtain that the processing of Personal Data should be restricted to storage of such data unless consent of the Data Subjects has been obtained); and
- request for Personal Data portability (i.e. the right to have the data transferred to them or another controller in a structured, commonly used and machine-readable format, where this is technically feasible).

Data Subjects may exercise the above rights by writing to the Fund at the following address: 49 avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.

Data Subjects must also be informed of the existence of their right to lodge a complaint with the National Commission for Data Protection (the "CNPD") at the following address: 1, Avenue du Rock'n'Roll, L-4361 Esch-sur-Alzette, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, or with any competent data protection supervisory authority.

The Shareholder may, at its discretion, refuse to communicate Personal Data to the Fund. In this event however the Fund may reject the request for subscription for Shares under the terms and conditions set forth in this Prospectus. Personal Data shall not be retained for periods longer than those required for the purpose of its processing subject to any limitation periods imposed by applicable law.

# 7.9 Investors rights

The Fund draws the investors' attention to the fact that any investor will only be able to fully exercise his investor rights directly against the Fund, notably the right to participate in general shareholders' meetings if the investor is registered himself and in his own name in the shareholders' register of the Fund. In cases where an investor invests in the Fund through an intermediary or a nominee investing into the Fund in his own name but on behalf of the

investor, it may not always be possible for the investor to exercise certain shareholder rights directly against the Fund. Investors are advised to take advice on their rights.

# 8. Dividend Policy

#### 8.1 General

The Board of Directors shall in each accounting year have the option, if it deems appropriate, to propose to the Shareholders of any Sub-Fund or Class at the Annual General Meeting the payment of a dividend out of all or part of the net investment income or capital of such Sub-Fund or Class. The Board of Directors may only propose the payment of a dividend if, after the deduction of such distribution, the Fund's capital will exceed the minimum capital required by Luxembourg law.

#### 8.2 Distributing Classes

#### **Annual Distribution**

The Board of Directors expects to recommend distribution of substantially all of the net interest income of the following Classes for each year:

A (Inc), B (Inc), C (Inc), D (Inc), E (Inc), G (Inc), I (Inc), P (Inc), R (Inc).

It is the intention of the Fund to apply for UK Reporting Fund status for Income Class Shares. It is intended that dividends will typically be distributed to so far as possible reflect, at the dividend declaration date, equalised reportable income as defined under such regime. However the Board of Directors reserves the right to report instead of distribute such income. Broadly, investors will be taxed on the higher of the reportable income and any cash distribution received. Please refer to Section 11.3 for information regarding the Reporting Fund regime.

UK Reporting Fund Status – Other Classes

The Board of Directors may choose to apply for UK Reporting Fund status in respect of other Classes. However, no guarantee can be given that Reporting Fund status will be obtained. Such Classes with Reporting Fund status may either report or distribute income, at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors. A list of Classes which currently have UK Reporting Fund status may be obtained from the registered office of the Fund or from the Registrar and Transfer Agent upon request. Please refer to Section 11.3 for information regarding the Reporting Fund regime.

# 8.3 Dividend Declaration

For Classes in respect of which a distribution is intended, dividends will typically be declared at the end of the relevant period, depending on the frequency of that particular Sub-Fund, as stipulated in Appendix 1 and 2. At the sole discretion of the Board of Directors, additional dividends may be declared.

### 8.4 Dividend Payment

Dividends will normally be paid within 6 weeks following the dividend declaration date or as soon as practicable thereafter. Dividend payments will normally be made by electronic bank transfer. Shareholders should expect to receive the dividend payment within 10 Business Days following the payment date. Payment will be made in the Reference Currency of the relevant Shares. Dividends not cashed within five years will lapse and the unclaimed dividend will revert to the relevant Class in accordance with Luxembourg law. No interest shall be paid on distributions declared by the Fund and kept by it at the disposal of the shareholders.

#### 8.5 Reinvestment

For investors holding the accumulation Class of shares all declared dividends will be reinvested back into the particular Class of the Sub-Fund, free of any subscription fees.

## 8.6 Dividend Income Equalisation

For the purposes of calculating dividend income, income is equalised with a view to ensuring that the level of income per Share is not affected by the issue and redemption of Shares. The subscription price of Shares will therefore be deemed to include an equalisation payment calculated by reference to the accrued income of the relevant Shares, and the first distribution in respect of such Shares will include a payment of capital usually equal to the amount of such equalisation payment. The redemption price of each Share will also include an equalisation payment in respect of the accrued income of the relevant Shares up to the date of redemption.

## 9. Management and Fund Charges

# 9.1 Management Company Fees

The Management Company is entitled for the performance of its services to a fee, paid by the Fund, as further defined in Appendix 2.

## 9.2 Fees of the Investment Manager and the Global Distributor

The Investment Manager and the Global Distributor are entitled to receive, out of the assets of each class within each Sub-Fund, a fee as further detailed in Appendix 2.

Subject to the investment restrictions described in this Prospectus, Sub-Funds may invest in other collective investment schemes managed by the Investment Manager. Where such collective investment schemes are managed directly or indirectly by the Investment Manager, or by a company to which the Investment Manager is linked by joint management or control or by a direct or indirect participation exceeding 10% of the capital or voting rights ("Related Funds"), no management and advisory fee will be charged to the relevant Sub-Fund in relation to such investments. Furthermore, no subscription, redemption and/or conversion fees may be charged to the relevant Sub-Fund in connection with Related Funds.

## 9.3 Fees of the Sub-Investment Managers

The Sub-Investment Managers are entitled to receive a fee, out of the Management Fee paid to the Investment Manager, as further detailed in the relevant sub-Investment Management Agreement.

#### 9.4 Performance Fees

The Investment Manager will be entitled to a performance fee in respect of all performance fee paying Classes, as identified in Appendix 2.

The performance fee will be crystallised and payable annually by the Fund at the end of the financial year or, for a Share Class launched during a given financial year, at the end of the financial year following the financial year during which the Share Class was launched (the "Crystallisation Date"). Furthermore, the performance fee shall also crystallise and be payable on any Early Crystallisation Date, as further set out below..

The performance fee will accrue and be calculated in the currency denomination of the relevant Class on each Calculation Day, being the Valuation Day (the "Calculation Day").

An estimate of the performance fee payable at the next Calculation Day earned to date will be made and accrued on each Valuation Day of the relevant Share Class.

The performance fee will be payable on:

- (i) the increase of the NAV of the Share Classes over the NAV recorded at the previous Crystallisation, increased of the hurdle rate (the "Hurdle Rate Return") described in Appendix 2 and after taking into account subsequent subscriptions, redemptions and dividend distributions, provided that:
- (ii) the Hurdle Rate Return, if negative, shall be floored at zero; and
- (iii) any underperformance or loss previously incurred during the performance reference period (the "Performance Reference Period") has been recovered before a performance fee becomes payable. The Performance Reference Period is equal to a period of five years preceding the relevant Crystallisation Date or Early Crystallisation Date, as applicable, or to such a shorter period from the launch of respectively a Sub-Fund or a Share Class, as applicable.

For the purposes of determining the NAV of the Sub-Fund at the relevant Calculation Day calculations will be made net of all costs, but before deducting performance fees, before the NAV is swung (as detailed below under "Swing Pricing") and any issue or redemption of shares in the Share Class on the relevant Subscription Day shall be disregarded. All distributions payable at the Calculation Day will be included in the NAV at that Valuation Day. For purpose of the calculation of such performance fee, the Hurdle Rate Return described in Appendix 2 will be applied on a pro rata basis

The performance fee payable on each Crystallisation Date or Early Crystallisation Date, as applicable, represents a definitive charge to the Share Class and is not recoverable by the Share Class in the event that there is a subsequent

fall in the NAV of the Share Class or subsequent under performance when compared to the Hurdle Rate Return, defined for each Sub-Fund in Appendix 2.

In case of a share redemption, distribution, merger or closure of sub-funds during the reference period, the performance fee, if applicable, will be (i) crystallized on the date of the share redemption, distribution, merger or closure of the sub-fund, respectively, ("Early Crystallisation Date") and (ii) immediately due to the Investment Manager.

Exceptionally, the performance fee, if applicable, will not be crystallised if the receiving fund is a newly created fund with no track record and with an investment policy substantially similar to that of the sub-fund.

9.5 Fees of the Depositary, Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent

The Depositary, Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent is entitled to receive, out of the assets of each Class within each Sub-Fund, a fee calculated in accordance with customary banking practice in Luxembourg. In addition, the Depositary, Administrative Agent, Domiciliary Agent, Paying Agent, Registrar, Transfer Agent and Listing Agent is entitled to be reimbursed by the Fund for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and disbursements and for charges of any correspondents.

## 9.6 Operating and Administrative Expenses

The Fund bears all its Operating and Administrative Expenses including but not limited to: formation expenses such as organization and registration costs and material costs of any service provider as approved by the Board of Directors; the Luxembourg asset-based taxe d'abonnement (up to the maximum rate referred to in Section 11 "Taxation"); attendance fees and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Board of Directors; expenses incurred by the Management Company on behalf of the Fund; legal and auditing fees and expenses; ongoing registration and listing fees (including translation expenses and fees due to authorised participants, market makers, as relevant); and the costs and expenses of preparing, printing, and distributing the Prospectus, the KIIDs, financial reports and other documents made available to Shareholders, as well as where relevant research fees. Operating and Administrative Expenses do not include Transaction Fees and Extraordinary Expenses. Directors will be entitled to receive remuneration from the Fund as disclosed in the annual financial statements of the Fund.

The Fund's final formation expenses will be capitalised and amortised over a period of five years, as permitted by Luxembourg law. The expenses relating to the creation of new Sub-Funds may be capitalised and amortised over a period not exceeding five years, as permitted by Luxembourg law. Initial formation expenses are not expected in total to exceed Euro 650,000 for the Fund and will be borne only by the Sub-Funds initially launched.

## 9.7 Extraordinary Expenses

The Fund bears any Extraordinary Expenses, as approved by the Board of Directors. Extraordinary Expenses are accounted for on a cash basis and are paid when incurred or invoiced from the net assets of the Sub-Funds to which they are attributable.

### 9.8 Swing Pricing

Shares will be issued and redeemed at a single price (the "Price") (excluding subscription or redemption charges, if any) which will be the net asset value per Share, which may be adjusted in the manner set out below.

As outlined above, the net asset value per Share will be arrived at by dividing the net asset value attributable to a Class by the number of Shares of that Class. The net asset value per Share may be adjusted on any Valuation Day in the manner set out below depending on whether or not a Fund is in a net subscription position or in a net redemption position on such Valuation Day to arrive at the Price.

In certain cases, subscriptions, redemptions or conversions in a Fund may have a negative impact on the net asset value per Share. Where subscriptions, redemptions, and conversions cause the Fund to buy and/or sell underlying investments, the value of these investments may be affected by bid/offer spreads, as well as the duties and charges, which may in turn negatively impact the Fund's net asset value per Share, and potentially (negatively) affecting the Shareholders.

To mitigate such effects, on any Valuation Day the Board of Directors may, at their discretion and for all Sub-Funds, determine to apply an alternative net asset value calculation method (to include such reasonable factors as they see fit) to the net asset value per Share. This method of valuation is intended to pass the estimated costs of underlying investment activity of the Fund to the active Shareholders by adjusting the net asset value of the relevant Share and thus to protect the remaining/existing Shareholders from costs associated with ongoing subscription and redemption activity. In particular, the alternative net asset value calculation method will involve increasing, when the Fund is in a net subscription position, and deducting from, when the Fund is in a net redemption position, the net asset value per Share by such rate (the "Swing Factor") as the Board of Directors consider represents an appropriate rate to meet duties and charges and spreads. In other words, where a Swing Factor is applied, it will increase the Price where the Fund is in a net redemption position.

This alternative net asset value calculation method may take account of trading spreads on the Fund's investments, the value of any duties and charges incurred as a result of trading and may include an allowance for market impact. Where the Board of Directors, based on the prevailing market conditions and the level of subscriptions or redemptions requested by Shareholders or potential Shareholders in relation to the size of the relevant Portfolio, have determined for a particular Portfolio to apply an alternative net asset value calculation method, the Portfolio may be valued either on a bid or offer basis.

Because the determination of whether to value the Fund's net asset value on an offer or bid basis is based on the net transaction activity of the relevant day, Shareholders transacting in the opposite direction of the Fund's net transaction activity may benefit at the expense of the other Shareholders in the Fund. In addition, the Fund's net asset value and short-term performance may experience greater volatility as a result of this alternative net asset value calculation method. The Swing Factor is not expected to exceed 1.5% of net asset value per Share and will apply for redemptions or subscriptions placed in excess of 15% of the Fund's net asset value on any Business Day.

The Price of each Class in the Fund will be calculated separately but the Swing Factor will similarly be applied to each Class of the same Sub-Fund.

Notwithstanding the above, and where justified to protect the interest of the Shareholders, the Board of Directors may in their discretion apply the alternative net asset value calculation method explained above in other circumstances.

#### 9.9 Rebate Arrangements

Subject to applicable law and regulations, the Investment Manager may at its discretion and at its own expense, on a negotiated basis, enter into private arrangements with a distributor pursuant to which the Investment Manager makes payments to or for the benefit of such distributor which represent a rebate of all or part of the fees paid by the Fund to the Investment Manager. In addition, subject to applicable law and regulations, the Investment Manager or a distributor may at their discretion, on a negotiated basis, enter into private arrangements with a holder or prospective holder of Shares pursuant to which the Investment Manager or distributor is entitled to make payments to such holder of Shares of part or all of such fees. Consequently, the effective net fees payable by a Shareholder who is entitled to receive a rebate under the arrangements described above may be lower than the fees payable by a Shareholder who does not participate in such arrangements. Such arrangements reflect terms privately agreed between parties other than the Fund, and for the avoidance of doubt, the Fund cannot, and is under no duty to, enforce equality of treatment between Shareholders by other entities.

### 9.10 Directors Fees

Directors of the Fund shall be entitled to fees up to a total of Euro 45,000 per annum and per Director. These fees will be accrued equally across all Sub Funds and are payable quarterly in arrears.

### 9.11 Shari'a Board Fees

The remuneration of the Shari'a Board is determined and paid by the Investment Manager and per Shari'a compliant Sub-funds. The global remuneration of the Shari'a Board shall not, in principle, exceed the amount of USD 50,000 per annum.

## 10. Investment Restrictions and Financial Techniques and Instruments

### 10.1 Investment Restrictions

10.1.1 The assets of the Sub-Funds shall comprise only one or more of the following:

- (a) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments admitted to or dealt in on a Regulated Market;
- (b) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in a Member State;

- (c) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments admitted to official listing on a stock exchange in an Other State or dealt in on an Other Regulated Market in an Other State;
- (d) recently issued Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments, provided that:
  - i) the terms of issue include an undertaking that application will be made for admission to official listing on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market as described under items (a), (b) or (c) above of this Section 10.1.1; and
  - ii) such admission is secured within one year of issue;
- (e) units of UCITS and/or other UCIs within the meaning of the first and second indent of Article 1 paragraph 2, points a) and b) of Directive 2009/65/EC, whether or not established in a Member State or in an Other State, provided that:
  - i) such other UCIs are authorised under laws which provide that they are subject to supervision considered by the Regulatory Authority to be equivalent to that laid down in EU law, and that cooperation between authorities is sufficiently ensured (currently the United States of America, Canada, Switzerland, Hong Kong, Japan, Norway, the Isle of Man, Jersey and Guernsey);
  - ii) the level of protection for unit holders in such other UCIs is equivalent to that provided for unit holders in a UCITS, and in particular that the rules on assets segregation, borrowing, lending, and uncovered sales of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments are equivalent to the requirements of Directive 2009/65/EC:
  - iii) the business of such other UCIs is reported in half-yearly and annual reports to enable an assessment of the assets and liabilities, income and operations over the reporting period; and
  - iv) no more than 10% of the assets of such UCITS or of the other UCIs, whose acquisition is contemplated can, according to their constitutional documents, in aggregate be invested in units of other UCITS or other UCIs
- (f) deposits with credit institutions which are repayable on demand or have the right to be withdrawn, and maturing in no more than 12 months, provided that the credit institution has its registered office in a Member State or, if the registered office of the credit institution is situated in an Other State, provided that it is subject to prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority as equivalent to those laid down in EU law;
- (g) financial derivative instruments, i.e. in particular credit default swaps, options and futures, including equivalent cash-settled instruments, dealt in on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market referred to in item (a), (b) or (c) above of this Section 10.1.1, and/or financial derivative instruments dealt in over-the-counter ("OTC derivatives"), provided that:
  - i) the underlying consists of instruments covered by this Section 10.1.1, financial indices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates or currencies, in which the Sub-Funds may invest according to its investment objectives;
  - ii) the counterparties to OTC derivative transactions are institutions subject to prudential supervision, and belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority; and
  - iii) the OTC derivatives are subject to reliable and verifiable valuation on a daily basis and can be sold, liquidated or closed by an offsetting transaction at any time at their fair value at the Sub-Funds' initiative. Under no circumstances shall such operations cause the Sub-Funds to diverge from its investment objectives.

- (h) Money Market Instruments other than those dealt in on a Regulated Market or on an Other Regulated Market, to the extent that the issue or the issuer of such instruments is itself regulated for the purpose of protecting investors and savings, and provided that such instruments are:
  - i) issued or guaranteed by a central, regional or local authority or by a central bank of a Member State, the European Central Bank, the EU or the European Investment Bank, an Other State or, in case of a Federal State, by one of the members making up the federation, or by a public international body to which one or more Member States belong;
  - ii) issued by an undertaking any securities of which are dealt in on Regulated Markets or on Other Regulated Markets referred to in items (a), (b) or (c) above of this Section 10.1.1;
  - iii) issued or guaranteed by an establishment subject to prudential supervision, in accordance with criteria defined by EU law, or by an establishment which is subject to and complies with prudential rules considered by the Regulatory Authority to be at least as stringent as those laid down by EU law; or
  - iv) issued by other bodies belonging to the categories approved by the Regulatory Authority provided that investments in such instruments are subject to investor protection equivalent to that laid down in any other sub-paragraph of this item (h) provided that the issuer is a company whose capital and reserves amount to at €10,000,000 and which presents and publishes its annual accounts in accordance with EC Directive 78/660/EEC as amended, or is an entity which, within a Group of Companies which includes one or several listed companies, is dedicated to the financing of the group or is an entity which is dedicated to the financing of securitisation vehicles which benefit from a banking liquidity line.

#### 10.1.2 Each Sub-Fund may however:

- (i) invest up to 10% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments other than those referred to above under items (a) to (d) and (h) of Section 10.1.1;
- (j) hold cash and cash equivalents on an ancillary basis (such restriction may exceptionally and temporarily be exceeded if the Board of Directors considers this to be in the best interest of the Shareholders);
- (k) borrow up to 10% of its net assets, provided that such borrowings are made only on a temporary basis (collateral arrangements with respect to the writing of options or the purchase or sale of forward or futures contracts are not deemed to constitute "borrowings" for the purpose of this restriction); and
- (I) acquire foreign currency by means of a back-to-back loan.
- 10.1.3 In addition, the Fund shall comply in respect of the net assets of each Sub-Fund with the following investment restrictions per issuer:
- 10.1.3.1 Risk Diversification Rules

For the purpose of calculating the restrictions described under items (a) to (e) and (h) of this Section 10.1.3, companies which are included in the same Group of Companies are regarded as a single issuer.

Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments

- (a) No Sub-Fund may purchase additional Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of any single issuer if:
  - i) upon such purchase more than 10% of its net assets would consist of Transferable Securities or

Money Market Instruments of one single issuer; or

- ii) the total value of all Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of issuers in which it invests more than 5% of its net assets would exceed 40% of the value of its net assets.
- (b) A Sub-Fund may invest on a cumulative basis up to 20% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by the same Group of Companies.
- (c) The limit of 10% set forth above under item (a) i) of this Section 10.1.3.1 is increased to 35% in respect of Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any Other State or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s).
- (d) The limit of 10% set forth above under item (a) i) of this Section 10.1.3.1 is increased up to 25% in respect of qualifying debt securities issued by a credit institution which has its registered office in a Member State and which, under applicable law, is submitted to specific public control in order to protect the holders of such qualifying debt securities. For the purposes hereof, "qualifying debt securities" are securities the proceeds of which are invested in accordance with applicable law in assets providing a return which will cover the debt service through to the maturity date of the securities and which will be applied on a priority basis to the payment of principal and interest in the event of a default by the issuer. To the extent that a relevant Sub-Fund invests more than 5% of its net assets in debt securities issued by such an issuer, the total value of such investments may not exceed 80% of the net assets of such Sub-Fund.
- (e) The securities specified above under items c) and d) above of this Section 10.1.3.1 are not to be included for purposes of computing the limit of 40% set forth above under item (a) ii) of this Section 10.1.3.1
- (f) Notwithstanding the limits set forth above and subject to sufficient shareholders' protection, each Sub-Fund is authorised to invest, in accordance with the principle of risk spreading, up to 100% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any other country which is a member of the OECD or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s), provided that:
  - (i) such securities are part of at least six different issues; and
- (ii) the securities from any such issue do not account for more than 30% of the net assets of such Sub-Fund. (g) Without prejudice to the limits set forth under Section 10.1.3.2, the limits set forth under item (a) above of this Section 10.1.3.1 are raised to a maximum of 20% for investments in shares and/or bonds issued by the same body when the aim of the Sub-Fund's investment policy is to replicate the composition of a certain stock or bond index which is recognised by the Regulatory Authority, on the following basis:
  - i) the composition of the index is sufficiently diversified;
  - ii) the index represents an adequate benchmark for the market to which it refers; and
  - iii) the index is published in an appropriate manner.

The limit of 20% is raised to 35% where justified by exceptional market conditions in particular in Regulated Markets where certain Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments are highly dominant. Investment up to such limit is only permitted for a single issuer.

Intra-fund Investment

For the avoidance of doubt, a Sub-Fund may invest in another Sub-Fund of the Fund provided that;

- The target Sub-Fund does not invest in turn (at the same time) in the acquiring Sub-Fund;
- ii) No more than 10% of the assets of the target Sub-Fund whose acquisition is contemplated may be invested in other target compartments of the Fund;

- iii) Voting rights, if any attaching to the relevant securities are suspended for as long as they are held by the acquiring Sub-Fund and without prejudice to the appropriate processing in the accounts and the periodic reports;
- iv) For as long as these securities are held by the acquiring Sub-Fund their value will not be taken into consideration for the calculation of the net assets of the Fund for the purposes of verifying the minimum asset thresholds imposed by law and;
- v) There is no duplication of management /subscription or repurchase fees between those at the level of acquiring Sub-Fund and the target Sub-Fund.

#### **Bank Deposits**

(h) A Sub-Fund may not invest more than 20% of its net assets in deposits made with the same body.

### **Financial Derivative Instruments**

- (i) The risk exposure to a counterparty in an OTC derivative transaction may not exceed 10% of the Sub- Fund's net assets when the counterparty is a credit institution referred to in item (f) of Section 10.1.1 above or 5% of its net assets in other cases.
- (j) Investment in financial derivative instruments shall only be made provided that the exposure to the underlying assets does not exceed in aggregate the investment limits set forth in items (a) to (e), (h), (i), (m) and (n) of this Section 10.1.3. When the Sub-Fund invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not have to be combined to the limits set forth in items (a) to (e), (h), (i), (m) and (n) of this Section 10.1.3.
- (k) When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a financial derivative instrument, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of such sub-section related to financial derivative instruments as well as with the risk exposure and information requirements laid down in this Prospectus.

### Units of Open-Ended Funds

(I) Except as otherwise stated in Appendix 1 with respect to a specific Sub Fund, no Sub-Fund may invest more than 20% of its net assets in the units of other single UCITS or other UCIs.

For the purpose of the application of this investment limit, each sub-fund of a UCI with multiple sub-funds is to be considered as a separate issuer provided that the principle of segregation of the obligations of the various sub-funds vis-à-vis third parties is ensured.

Investments made in units of UCIs other than UCITS may not in aggregate exceed 30% of the assets of a UCITS.

- (I') By derogation to the above, any Sub-Fund may act as a feeder fund (the "Feeder") of a master fund. In such case, the Feeder shall invest at least 85% of its assets in shares/units of another UCITS or of a Sub-Fund of such UCITS (the "Master"), which shall neither itself be a feeder fund nor hold units/shares of a feeder fund. The Feeder may not invest more than 15% of its assets in one or more of the following:
  - i. ancillary liquid assets in accordance with Article 41 (2) of the Law of 2010;

- ii. financial derivative instruments, which may be used only for hedging purposes, in accordance with Article 41 (1) g) and Article 42 (2) and (3) of the Law of 2010;
- iii. movable and immovable property which is essential for the direct pursuit of the Fund's business.

#### Combined limits

- (m) Notwithstanding the individual limits laid down in items (a), (h) and (i) above, a Sub-Fund may not combine:
  - i) investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by;
  - ii) deposits made with; and/or
  - iii) exposures arising from OTC derivative transactions undertaken with a single body in excess of 20% of its net assets.
- (n) The limits set out in items (a), (c), (d), (h), (i) and (m) above of this Section 10.1.3.1 may not be combined, and thus investments in Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments issued by the same body, in deposits or financial derivative instruments made with this body carried out in accordance with (a), (c), (d), (h), (i) and (m) above of this Section 10.1.3.1 may not exceed a total of 35% of the net assets of a Sub-Fund.

#### 10.1.3.2 Limitations on Control

- (o) No Sub-Fund may acquire such amount of shares carrying voting rights which would enable the Fund to exercise a significant influence over the management of the issuer.
- (p) No Sub-Fund may acquire:
  - i) more than 10% of the outstanding non-voting shares of any one issuer;
  - ii) more than 10% of the outstanding debt securities of any one issuer;
  - iii) more than 10% of the Money Market Instruments of any one issuer; or
  - iv) more than 25% of the outstanding shares or units of any one UCI.

The limits set forth in sub-paragraphs ii) to iv) above of this item (p) may be disregarded at the time of acquisition if at that time the gross amount of bonds or of the Money Market Instruments or the net amount of the securities in issue cannot be calculated.

- (q) The limits set forth above under items (o) and (p) of this Section 10.1.3 do not apply in respect of:
  - i) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State or by its local authorities;
  - ii) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by any Other State;
  - iii) Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s);
  - iv) shares in the capital of a company which is incorporated under or organised pursuant to the laws of an Other State provided that: (i) such company invests its assets principally in securities issued by issuers of that State; (ii) pursuant to the laws of that State a participation by the relevant Sub-Fund in the equity of such company constitutes the only possible way to purchase securities of issuers of that State; and (iii) such company observes in its investments policy the restrictions set forth in items (a) to (e), (h), (i) and (l) to (p) (except (l') of this Section 10.1.3; or
  - v) shares in the capital of subsidiary companies which, exclusively on its or their behalf carry on only the business of management, advice or marketing in the country where the subsidiary is located, in regard to the redemption of shares at the request of shareholders.

10.1.4 Finally, the Fund shall comply in respect of the assets of each Sub-Fund with the following investment restrictions:

- (a) No Sub-Fund may acquire precious metals or certificates representative thereof.
- (b) No Sub-Fund may invest in real estate provided that investments may be made in securities secured by real estate or interests therein or issued by companies which invest in real estate or interests therein.
- (c) No Sub-Fund may use its assets to underwrite any securities.
- (d) No Sub-Fund may issue warrants or other rights to subscribe for Shares in such Sub-Fund.
- (e) A Sub-Fund may not grant loans or guarantees in favour of a third party, provided that such restriction shall not prevent each Sub-Fund from investing in non fully paid-up Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments, as detailed in items (e), (g) and (h) of Section 10.1.1.
- (f) No Sub-Fund may enter into uncovered sales of Transferable Securities, Money Market Instruments or other financial instruments as listed in items (e), (g) and (h) of Section 10.1.1.

## 10.1.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained:

- (a) The limits set forth above may be disregarded by each Sub-Fund when exercising subscription rights attaching to Transferable Securities or Money Market Instruments in such Sub-Fund's portfolio.
- (b) If such limits are exceeded for reasons beyond the control of a Sub-Fund or as a result of the exercise of subscription rights, such Sub-Fund must adopt as its priority objective in its sale transactions the remedying of such situation, taking due account of the interests of its Shareholders.
- (c) The Board of Directors has the right to amend investment restrictions to the extent that those restrictions are necessary to comply with the laws and regulations of countries where Shares in the Fund are offered or sold.

# 10.2 Investment Techniques and Instruments

With the exception of the Shari'a compliant Sub-Funds as defined under Appendix 1, each Sub-Fund may employ techniques and instruments relating to Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments (including but not limited to securities lending and borrowing, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements) for investment purpose and efficient portfolio management, where this is in the best interest of the Sub-Fund and in line with its investment objectives (as set forth in detail in Section 5 "Investment Policies" and in Appendix 1) and its investor's risk profile. In doing so, the Fund shall comply with applicable restrictions and in particular with ESMA guidelines on ETFs and other UCITS issues as described in CSSF circular 13/559.

# **Financial Derivative Instruments**

When operations concern the use of financial derivative instruments, the relevant techniques and instruments shall conform to the provisions laid down in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions". In addition, the provisions laid down in Section 10.3 "Risk Management Process" must be complied with. Under no circumstances shall these operations cause a Sub-Fund to diverge from its investment policies and objectives as laid down in Section 5 "Investment Policies" and in Appendix 1. A Sub-Fund may invest in financial derivative instruments including but not limited to

foreign exchange forwards, non-deliverable forwards, total return swaps, interest rate swaps, currency swaps, options, swaptions, credit default swaps, and credit linked note for either investment or for hedging purposes.

Please refer to section 6. "Risk Factors" (in particular sections 6.36 and 6.37) for risks linked to securities lending transactions and collateral management.

Non deliverable forwards is a generic term for a set of financial derivative instruments which cover notional currency transactions, including FX forward swaps, cross currency swaps and coupon swaps in non-convertible or highly restricted securities. Non deliverable forwards calculate the implied interest rates of the non-deliverable currency, given the settlement currency interest rates and either the current spot exchange rate and forward points, or the outright forwards.

Total return swaps are any swaps in which the non-floating rate side is based on the total return of a currency or fixed income instrument with a life longer than the swap. Total return swaps are most common in equity or physical commodity markets, but they can be used in fixed income markets where the non-domestic holder of a fixed income security would be subject to a withholding tax, but where the withholding tax may be avoided if the debt instrument is held by a domestic investor who pays the total return to a foreign investor by way of a total return swap. Total return swaps are also used to transfer credit exposure.

Where a Sub-Fund enters into a total return swap or invests in other derivatives with similar characteristics:

- (a) the assets held by the Sub-Fund should comply with the investment limits set out in articles 52 to 56 of Directive 2009/65/EC; and
- (b) the underlying exposures of such derivatives must be taken into account to calculate the investment limits laid down in article 52 of Directive 2009/65/EC.

Interest rate swaps provide for an exchange between two parties of interest rate exposures from floating to fixed rate or vice versa. Each party thereby gains indirect access to the fixed or floating capital markets. Currency swaps are bilateral financial contracts to exchange the principal and interest in one currency for the same in another currency in order to hedge specific currency risk. Swaptions are options on an interest rate swap. The buyer of a swaption has the right to enter into an interest rate swap agreement by some specified date in the future. The swaption agreement will specify whether the buyer of the swaption will be a fixed-rate receiver or a fixed-rate payer. The writer of the swaption becomes the counterparty if the buyer exercises. Credit default swaps are bilateral financial contracts in which one counterparty (the "protection buyer") pays a periodic fee in return for a contingent payment by the other counterparty (the "protection seller") following a credit event of a reference issuer. The protection buyer acquires the right to exchange particular bonds or loans issued by the reference issuer with the protection seller for its or their par value, in an aggregate amount up to the notional value of the contract, when a credit event occurs. A credit event is commonly defined as bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, material adverse restructuring of debt, or failure to meet payment obligations when due. The ISDA has produced standardised documentation for these transactions under the umbrella of its ISDA Master Agreement. Credit linked notes are structured notes that enable access to local or external assets which are otherwise inaccessible to the Sub-Fund. Credit linked notes are issued by highly rated financial institutions; where credit linked notes are not listed or dealt in on a Regulated Market, the investment in credit linked notes shall always be within the limit of 10% laid down in item (a) of Section 10.1.2; the legal restrictions are applied to the issuer of the credit linked notes as well as to the underlying thereof. In those cases where credit linked notes are listed or dealt in on a Regulated Market, the aforementioned limit of 10% shall not apply and the investment restrictions applicable to credit linked notes shall be those laid down in Section 10.1.3. "Securities Lending and Borrowing, and Repurchase" and "Reverse Repurchase Agreement Transactions" Each Sub-Fund may further for efficient portfolio management purposes, enter into securities lending and borrowing and repurchase and reverse repurchase agreement transactions in compliance with the applicable regulations.

The risk exposures to a counterparty arising from OTC financial derivative transactions and efficient portfolio management techniques should be combined when calculating the counterparty risk limits of Article 52 of Directive 2009/65/EC.

Authorised counterparties to OTC financial derivative transactions, including total return swaps, are specialised in the relevant types of transactions and are either credit institutions with a registered office in New York, London, Hong Kong or the GCC or an investment firm, authorised under the MiFID II directive or an equivalent set of rules, and subject to prudential supervision, with a minimum rating of Baa3 or its equivalent.

# **Securities Lending**

Securities lending and borrowing transactions consist in transactions whereby a lender transfers securities or instruments to a borrower, subject to a commitment that the borrower will return equivalent securities or instruments on a future date or when requested to do so by the lender, such transaction being considered as securities lending for the party transferring the securities or instruments and being considered as securities borrowing for the counterparty to which they are transferred. Sub-Funds may enter into securities lending or borrowing transactions, provided that such transactions are carried out in accordance with the applicable guidelines and regulations.

- i) the borrower in a securities lending transaction must be subject to prudential supervision rules considered by the Authority as equivalent to those prescribed by EU law.
- securities clearing institution, such as Clearstream and Euroclear, through a lending program organised by a financial institution or through a first-class financial institution with a minimum investment grade, credit rating, and which have their headquarters in any of the OECD or G20 countries, specialised in this type of transactions, subject to prudential supervision rules and which are considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those provided by EU Law.
- The Fund will ensure that it is able at any time to recall the securities lent out or to terminate the securities lending agreement into which it has entered. All assets received by Fund in the context of efficient portfolio management techniques should be considered as collateral. The collateral which must comply with the conditions set forth below under "Collateral".
- iv) The net exposures (i.e. the exposures of a Sub-Fund less the collateral received by this Sub-Fund) to a counterparty arising from securities lending transactions shall be taken into account in the 20% limit provided for in Article 43(2) of the Law of 2010.
- v) Securities lending or borrowing transactions may not extend beyond a period of 30 days.

## Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

- (a) A repurchase (or repo) agreement is a contract by which the holder of securities sells the securities at a specified price to a counterparty with a commitment to repurchase the same or similar securities at a specified price from the same counterparty at a later date. A reverse repurchase (or reverse repo) agreement is a contract for the purchase of securities from a counterparty with an agreement to resell the same or similar securities at a specified price to the same counterparty at a later date. (b) Sub-Funds may, on an ancillary or a principal basis, as specified for each Sub-Fund in Appendix 1, enter into repurchase or reverse repurchase agreement transactions consisting of the purchase and sale of transferable securities, Sub-Funds may act as buyer or seller under a repurchase agreement or series of repurchase agreement transactions. However, Sub-Funds may only engage in such transactions subject to the following conditions;
- (b) Sub-Funds may not buy or sell securities under a repurchase agreement unless the counterparty to such transaction is a first-class financial institution specialised in transactions of such type subject to prudential supervision rules considered by the CSSF as equivalent to those provided by EU Law;
- (c) The net exposures (i.e. the exposures of a Sub-Fund less the collateral received by this Sub-Fund) to a counterparty arising from reverse repurchase / repurchase agreement transactions shall be taken into account in the 20% limit provided for in Article 43(2) of the Law of 2010. It is not anticipated that repurchase agreements shall be entered into other than on an occasional basis.

The Fund should ensure that it is able at any time to recall the full amount of cash or to terminate the reverse repurchase agreement on either an accrued basis or a mark-to-market basis. When the cash is recallable at any time on a mark-to-market basis, the mark-to-market value of the reverse repurchase agreement should be used for the calculation of the net asset value of the Fund. The Fund should ensure that it is able at any time to recall any securities subject to the repurchase agreement or to terminate the repurchase agreement into which it has entered. The Fund shall further ensure that the level of its exposure to repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements is such that it is able to comply at all times with its redemption obligations.

Fixed-term repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements that do not exceed seven days should be considered as arrangements on terms that allow the assets to be recalled at any time by the Fund.

### Collateral

The Fund must receive a collateral where engaging into OTC financial derivatives and efficient portfolio techniques. Such collateral should comply with the following rules:

- 1. **Liquidity** any collateral received other than cash should be highly liquid and traded on a regulated market or multilateral trading facility with transparent pricing in order that it can be sold quickly at a price that is close to pre-sale valuation. Collateral received should also comply with the provisions of Article 56 of the Directive 2009/65/EC reflected under indent (o) to (q) of sub-section 10.1.3.2. herein.
- 2. **Valuation** the collateral received should be valued on at least a daily basis and assets that exhibit high price volatility should not be accepted as collateral unless suitably conservative haircuts are in place.
- 3. *Issuer credit quality* the collateral received should be of high quality.
- 4. **Correlation** the collateral received by the Fund should be issued by an entity that is independent from the counterparty and is expected not to display a high correlation with the performance of the counterparty.

- 5. **Collateral diversification (asset concentration)** collateral should be sufficiently diversified in terms of country, markets and issuers. The criterion of sufficient diversification with respect to issuer concentration is considered to be respected if the Fund receives from a counterparty of efficient portfolio management and over-the-counter financial derivative transactions a basket of collateral with a maximum exposure to a given issuer of 20% of its net asset value. When the Fund is exposed to different counterparties, the different baskets of collateral should be aggregated to calculate the 20% limit of exposure to a single issuer.
- 6. The Risks linked to the management of collateral, such as operational and legal risks, should be identified, managed and mitigated by the *risk management process*.
- 7. Where there is a title transfer, the collateral received should be **held by the Depositary Bank** or one of its subcustodians to which the Depositary Bank has delegated the custody of such collateral. For other types of collateral arrangement, the collateral can be held by a third party custodian which is subject to prudential supervision, and which is unrelated to the provider of the collateral.
- 8. The Collateral received should be capable of being fully **enforced** by the Fund at any time without reference to or approval from the counterparty.
- 9. Non-cash collateral received should not be sold, re-invested or pledged.
- 10. Cash collateral received should only be:
  - placed on deposit with entities prescribed in Article 50 (f) of the Directive 2009/65/EC reflected under indent (f) of sub-section 10.1.3.1.;
  - invested in high-quality government bonds;
  - used for the purpose of reverse repo transactions provided the transactions are with credit institutions subject to prudential supervision and the Fund is able to recall at any time the full amount of cash on accrued basis:
  - invested in short-term money market funds as defined in the Guidelines on a Common Definition of European Money Market Funds.

The re-invested cash collateral should be diversified in accordance with the diversification requirements applicable to non-cash collateral. Re-investment of cash collateral involves certain risks for the Sub-Fund, as described under section "Collateral Management".

# Collateral policy

Collateral received by a Fund, where applicable, shall predominantly be limited to cash and government bonds. In the context of securities lending, the collateral will represent 90 % of the assets transferred by the relevant Fund. In addition, the cash collateral received may be re-invested in line with the guidelines of ESMA 2012/832EN.

## Valuation of collateral

Collateral will be valued, on a daily basis, using available market prices in accordance with the rules set out in this Prospectus as well as a daily variation margins, and taking into account appropriate discounts which will be determined by the Fund for each asset class based on its haircut policy. The policy takes into account a variety of factors, depending on the nature of the collateral received, such as the issuer's credit standing, the maturity, currency, price volatility of the assets and, where applicable, the outcome of liquidity stress tests carried out by the Fund under normal and exceptional liquidity conditions.

## Haircut policy

The following haircuts for collateral in OTC transactions are applied by the Management Company (the Management Company reserves the right to vary this policy at any time in which case this prospectus shall be amended accordingly, subject to CSSF approval):

Eligible Collateral	Remaining Maturity	Valuation Percentage
Cash	N/A	0%
Government Bonds	One year or under	0%
	More than one year up to and including five years	3%
	More than five years up to and including ten years	5%
	More than ten years up to and including thirty years	10%
	More than thirty years up to and including forty years	15%
	More than forty years up to and including fifty years	15%

# 10.3 Risk Management Process

In accordance with the Law of 2010 and other applicable regulations, in particular CSSF Circular 11/512, the Fund, through the Management Company, uses a risk management process which enables it to assess the exposure of the Fund to market, liquidity and counterparty risks, and to all other risks, including operational risks, which are material for the Fund. In relation to financial derivative instruments the Fund employs a process for accurate and independent assessment of the value of OTC derivatives and the Fund ensures for each of its Sub-Funds that its global exposure relating to financial derivative instruments does not exceed the limits as set out in Appendix 1. The global exposure is calculated taking into account the current value of the underlying assets, the counterparty risk, future market movements and the time available to liquidate the positions. Each Sub-Fund may invest, according to its investment policy and within the limits laid down in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions", in financial derivative instruments provided that the global exposure to the underlying assets does not exceed in aggregate the investment limits laid down in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions". When a Sub-Fund invests in index-based financial derivative instruments, these investments do not have to be combined to the limits laid down in Section 10.1 "Investment Restrictions".

When a Transferable Security or Money Market Instrument embeds a financial derivative instrument, the latter must be taken into account when complying with the requirements of this Section 10.3.

## 10.4 Benchmarks

The Management Company with the assistance of the Investment Manager has adopted a written plan setting out actions, which it will take in the event that any of the benchmarks listed in the table below materially changes or ceases to be provided (the "Contingency Plan"), as required by article 28(2) of the Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds/ Shareholders may access the Contingency Plan free of charges at the registered office of the Fund or via the following website: www.emiratesnbd.com/en/asset-management.

The benchmarks listed in the table below are being provided by the entity specified next to the name of the relevant benchmark in the table below, in its capacity as administrator, as defined in the Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds (the "Benchmarks Regulation") (each the "Benchmark Administrator" and collectively the "Benchmark Administrators"). The status of each Benchmark Administrator in relation to the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation as of the date of this visa-stamped Prospectus is set out next to the name of the relevant Benchmark Administrator in the table below. A Benchmark Administrator may avail of the transitional arrangements permitting that the benchmarks do not appear on the register of administrators and benchmarks maintained by ESMA

Sub-Fund	Benchmark Name	Benchmark Administrator	Status
Emirates Emerging Market Debt Fund	Goldman Sachs USD GS 3 Month Money Market Index	Goldman Sachs International	Listed in the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation as an administrator registered pursuant to Article 34 of the Benchmark Regulation
Emirates Mena Fixed Income Fund	JP Morgan MECI GCC Total Return Index	JP Morgan	Listed in the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation as an administrator registered pursuant to Article 34 of the Benchmark Regulation
Emirates Mena Top Companies Fund	MSCI Arabian Markets Combined Net Total Return Index USD	MSCI Limited	Listed in the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation as an administrator registered pursuant to Article 34 of the Benchmark Regulation
Emirates World Opportunities Fund	MSCI World Islamic Index	MSCI Limited	Listed in the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation as an administrator registered pursuant to Article 34 of the Benchmark Regulation
Emirates India Equity Fund	S&P BSE 500 Shariah Index	S&P	Listed in the register referred to in article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation as an administrator registered pursuant to Article 34 of the Benchmark Regulation

### 10.5 Sustainability related disclosures

Pursuant to EU Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 on sustainability-related disclosures in the financial services sector (the "SFDR"), the Fund is required to disclose the manner in which Sustainability Risks are integrated into the investment decision and the results of the assessment of the likely impacts of Sustainability Risks on the returns of the Fund.

The Fund does not actively promote Sustainability Factors and does not maximize portfolio alignment with Sustainability Factors, however it remains exposed to Sustainability Risks. Such Sustainability Risks are integrated into the investment decision making and risk monitoring to the extent that they represent a potential or actual material risks and/or opportunities to maximizing the long-term risk-adjusted returns. As such, the Fund complies with articles 6 and 7(2) of the SFDR. The investments underlying this Fund do not take into account the EU criteria for environmentally sustainable economic activities.

The impacts following the occurrence of a Sustainability Risk may be numerous and vary depending on the specific risk, region and asset class. In general, where a sustainability risk occurs in respect of an asset, there will be a negative impact on, or entire loss of, its value. Such assessment of the likely impact must therefore be conducted at portfolio level, further detail and specific information is given where relevant in each relevant Sub-Fund specific supplement.

For the time being, except as may be otherwise disclosed at a later stage on its website, Management Company does not consider adverse impacts of investment decisions on sustainability factors. The main reason is actually the lack of information and data available to adequately assess such principal adverse impacts.

### 11. Taxation

## 11.1 Taxation of the Fund

### Subscription tax

The Fund is as a rule liable in Luxembourg to a subscription tax (taxe d'abonnement) of 0.05% per annum of its net asset value, such tax being payable quarterly on the basis of the value of the aggregate net assets of each Sub-Fund at the end of the relevant calendar quarter.

This rate is however of 0.01% per annum for:

- individual Sub-Funds of UCIs the exclusive object of which is the collective investment in money market instruments and the placing of deposits with credit institutions;
- individual Sub-Funds of UCIs the exclusive object of which is the collective investment in deposits with credit institutions;
- individual Sub-Funds of undertakings which are subject to the law of 13 February 2007 concerning specialised investment funds; and
- individual Sub-Funds of UCIs with multiple Sub-Funds as well as for individual classes of securities issued within a UCI or within a Sub-Fund of a UCI with multiple Sub-Funds, provided that the securities of such Sub-Funds or classes are reserved to one or more institutional investors.

The I and P share classes are reserved for institutional investors and consequently bear a subscription tax of 0,01% per annum.

Are further exempt from the subscription tax:

- the value of the assets represented by units held in other UCIs, provided such units have already been subject to the subscription tax;
- UCIs as well as individual Sub-Funds of umbrella funds (i) whose securities are reserved for institutional investors, (ii) whose exclusive object is the collective investment in money market instruments and the placing of deposits with credit institutions, (iii) whose weighted residual portfolio maturity must not exceed ninety (90) days, and (iv) which have obtained the highest possible rating from a recognized rating agency;
- UCIs whose securities are reserved for (i) institutions for occupational retirement provision, or similar investment vehicles, created on the initiative of a same group for the benefit of its employees and (ii) undertakings of this same group investing funds they hold, to provide retirement benefits to their employees;
- UCIs as well as individual compartments of UCIs with multiple compartments whose main objective is the investment in microfinance institution; and
- UCIs as well as individual compartments of UCIs with multiple compartments (i) whose securities are listed or traded on at least one stock exchange or another regulated market operating regularly, recognised and open to the public; and (ii) whose exclusive object is to replicate the performance of one more indices. If several classes of securities exist within the UCI or the compartment, the exemption only applies to classes fulfilling the condition of sub-point (i).

#### Income tax

Under current law and practice, the Fund is not liable to any Luxembourg income tax.

### Value added tax

The Fund is considered in Luxembourg as a taxable person for value added tax ("VAT") purposes without input VAT deduction right. A VAT exemption applies in Luxembourg for services qualifying as fund management services. Other services supplied to the Fund could potentially trigger VAT and require the VAT registration of the Fund in Luxembourg as to self-assess the VAT regarded as due in Luxembourg on taxable services (or goods to some extent) purchased from abroad.

No VAT liability arises in principle in Luxembourg in respect of any payments made by the Fund to its Shareholders, as such payments are linked to their subscription to the Fund's Shares and do therefore not constitute the consideration received for taxable services supplied.

The above information is based on the law in force and current practice and is subject to change. In particular, a pending case law before the European Court of Justice might impact the VAT treatment of the investment advisory services (C-275/11).

### Other taxes

No stamp or other tax is generally payable at a proportional rate in Luxembourg in connection with the issue of Shares against cash by the Fund.

Any amendment to the Articles of the Fund is generally subject to a fixed registration duty of seventy-five Euro (EUR 75.-).

## 11.2 Taxation of the Shareholders

# Luxembourg tax residency of the shareholders

A shareholder will not become resident, nor be deemed to be resident, in Luxembourg by reason only of the holding and/or disposing of the shares or the execution, performance or enforcement of his/her rights hereunder.

#### Income tax

A Luxembourg resident Shareholder is not liable to any Luxembourg income tax on reimbursement of share capital previously contributed to the Fund.

Luxembourg resident individuals

Dividends and other payments derived from the Shares by a resident individual Shareholder, who acts in the course of the management of either his/her private wealth or his/her professional/business activity, are subject to income tax at the ordinary progressive rates.

Capital gains realized upon the disposal of the Shares by a resident individual Shareholder, who acts in the course of the management of his/her private wealth, are not subject to income tax, unless said capital gains qualify either as speculative gains or as gains on a substantial participation. Capital gains are deemed to be speculative and are thus subject to income tax at ordinary rates if the shares are disposed of within six (6) months after their acquisition or if their disposal precedes their acquisition. A participation is deemed to be substantial where a resident individual shareholder holds or has held, either alone or together with his spouse or partner and/or minor children, directly or indirectly at any time within the five (5) years preceding the disposal, more than ten percent (10%) of the share capital of the Fund whose shares are being disposed of. A shareholder is also deemed to alienate a substantial participation if he acquired free of charge, within the five (5) years preceding the transfer, a participation that was constituting a substantial participation in the hands of the alienator (or the alienators in case of successive transfers free of charge within the same five-year period). Capital gains realized on a substantial participation more than six (6) months after the acquisition thereof are taxed according to the half-global rate method (i.e. the average rate applicable to the total income is calculated according to progressive income tax rates and half of the average rate is applied to the capital gains realized on the substantial participation). A disposal may include a sale, an exchange, a contribution or any other kind of alienation of the participation.

Capital gains realized on the disposal of the Shares by a resident individual Shareholder, who acts in the course of the management of his/her professional/business activity, are subject to income tax at ordinary rates. Taxable gains are determined as being the difference between the price for which the Shares have been disposed of and the lower of their cost or book value.

### Luxembourg resident companies

A Luxembourg resident Fund (société de capitaux) must include any profits derived, as well as any gain realized on the sale, disposal or redemption of Shares, in their taxable profits for Luxembourg income tax assessment purposes.

• Luxembourg residents benefiting from a special tax regime

Shareholders which are Luxembourg resident companies benefiting from a special tax regime, such as (i) undertakings for collective investment subject to the law of 17 December 2010, (ii) specialized investment funds subject to the amended Law of 13 February 2007 and (iii) family wealth management companies governed by the law of 11 May 2007, are income tax exempt entities in Luxembourg, and are thus not subject to any Luxembourg income tax.

### Luxembourg non-resident shareholders

A non-resident, who has neither a permanent establishment nor a permanent representative in Luxembourg to which or whom the Shares are attributable, is generally not liable to any Luxembourg income tax on income received and capital gains realized upon the sale, disposal or redemption of the Shares.

A non-resident Fund which has a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg to which the Shares are attributable, must include any income received, as well as any gain realized on the sale, disposal or redemption of Shares, in its taxable income for Luxembourg tax assessment purposes. The same inclusion applies to an individual, acting in the course of the management of a professional or business undertaking, who has a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg, to which the Shares are attributable. Taxable gains are determined as being the difference between the sale, repurchase or redemption price and the lower of the cost or book value of the Shares sold or redeemed.

#### Net wealth tax

A Luxembourg resident, or a non-resident who has a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in Luxembourg to which the Shares are attributable, is subject to Luxembourg net wealth tax on such Shares, except if the Shareholder is (i) a resident or non-resident individual taxpayer, (ii) an undertaking for collective investment subject to the law of 17 December 2010, (iii) a securitization Fund governed by the law of 22 March 2004 on securitization, (iv) a Fund governed by the law of 15 June 2004 on venture capital vehicles, (v) a specialized investment fund governed by the amended law of 13 February 2007, or (vi) a family wealth management Fund governed by the law of 11 May 2007.

# Other taxes

Under Luxembourg tax law, where an individual Shareholder is a resident of Luxembourg for tax purposes at the time of his/her death, the Shares are included in his or her taxable basis for inheritance tax purposes. On the contrary, no inheritance tax is levied on the transfer of the Shares upon death of a Shareholder in cases where the deceased was not a resident of Luxembourg for inheritance purposes.

Gift tax may be due on a gift or donation of the shares, if the gift is recorded in a Luxembourg notary deed or otherwise registered in Luxembourg.

## 11.3 UK Reporting Funds

On 1 December 2009, the UK Government enacted the Offshore Funds (Tax) Regulations 2009 (SI 2009/3001) which replaced the UK Distributor Status regime. Funds which have opted to enter this new regime are referred to as 'Reporting Funds'. Under the new regime, investors in Reporting Funds are subject to tax on the share of the

Reporting Fund's income attributable to their holding in the Fund, whether or not distributed, but any gains on disposal of their holding are subject to capital gains tax. The new UK Reporting Funds regime applies to the Fund with effect from 1 July 2011.

#### 11.4 US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Requirements ("FATCA")

# General introduction of the FATCA obligations

The Fund may be subject to regulations imposed by foreign regulators, in particular, the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act (the "Hire Act") which was signed into U.S. law in March 2010. It includes provisions generally known as the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act ("FATCA"). The objective of this law is to combat U.S. tax evasion by certain U.S. Persons and obtain from non-US financial institutions ("Foreign Financial Institutions" or "FFIs") information relating to such persons that have direct or indirect accounts or investments in those FFIs.

In case FFIs choose not to comply with FATCA, FATCA will impose a withholding tax of 30 % on certain U.S. source income and gross sales proceeds. This regime is being implemented in phases from July 1 2014 to 2017.

To be relieved of this 30% withholding tax, FFIs will need to enter into an agreement (the "FFI agreement") with the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") except if they are incorporated in a country that entered into a Model I Intergovernmental Agreement ("IGA") with the United States. In this latter case, FFIs will be obliged to comply with the provisions of FATCA under the terms of their IGA and their country-equivalent IGA legislation implementing FATCA.

In particular, as of July 2014, FFIs are required to report directly or indirectly through their local authority to the IRS certain holdings by and payments made to (i) certain U.S. Persons, (ii) certain non-financial foreign entities ("NFFEs") owned by certain U.S. Persons (iii) and FFIs that do not comply with the terms of the FATCA Legislation.

## Applicability to the Fund

Being established in Luxembourg and subject to the supervision of the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier ("CSSF"), in accordance with the Law of 17 December 2010, the Fund will be treated as an FFI for FATCA purposes.

Luxembourg has entered into a Model I IGA with the United States on 28 March 2014, which means the Fund must comply with the requirements of the Luxembourg IGA. This includes the obligation for the Fund to regularly assess the status of its investors. To this extent, the Fund will need to obtain and verify information on all of its investors. Upon request of the Fund, each investor agrees to provide certain information, including, in case of a NFFE, the direct or indirect owners above a certain threshold of ownership of such shareholder, along with the required supporting documentation. Similarly, each investor agrees to actively provide to the Fund within thirty days any information like for instance a new mailing address or a new residency address that would affect its status.

In certain conditions when the investor does not provide sufficient information, the Fund will take actions to comply with FATCA. This may result in the obligation for the Fund to disclose the name, address and taxpayer identification

number (if available) of the investor as well as information like account balances, income and capital gains (non-exhaustive list) to its local tax authority under the terms of the applicable IGA.

A failure for the Fund to obtain such information from each shareholder and to transmit it to the Luxembourg authorities may trigger the 30% withholding tax to be imposed on payments of U.S. source incomes and on proceeds from the sale of property or other assets that could give rise to US source interests and dividends.

The Fund may with regards to any shareholder that fails to comply with the Fund's documentation requests in its sole discretion, redeem the shares of such shareholder.

All prospective shareholders are reminded to check if and how their intermediaries will comply with this U.S. withholding tax and reporting regime. Investors should consult a U.S. tax advisor or otherwise seek professional advice regarding the above requirements.

# Appendix 1: Investment Objectives, Policies and Additional Information for Sub-Funds

The information set out below in relation to each Sub-Fund should be read in conjunction with the full text of this Prospectus. Any investment policy will always be subject to the restrictions set out in Section 10 "Investment Restrictions and Financial Techniques and Instruments". The specific risk factors for each Sub-Fund are set out below by reference to Section 6 "Risk Factors" which sets out the relevant risk factors for each Sub-Fund in more detail. For the purpose of all credit ratings, in instances where two different credit ratings are published by independent credit rating agencies for a specific security, the lower of these ratings shall be decisive. Where three or more ratings are published by independent credit rating agencies for a specific security, the lower of the top two ratings shall be decisive. Ancillary liquid assets are excluded from net assets for the purposes of calculating all minimum investment thresholds detailed below. Ancillary liquid assets are included within net assets for the purposes of calculating all maximum investment thresholds detailed below. Ancillary liquid assets are those assets invested outside the main investment strategy of a Sub-Fund including, but not limited to, cash, cash equivalents and assets linked to repurchase agreements as part of a treasury management strategy. The Sub-Funds may invest in unrated securities whose creditworthiness is, in the opinion of the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be, of comparable quality to other securities eligible for inclusion in the relevant Sub-Fund's portfolio and/or the constituents of the relevant benchmark index of such Sub-Fund. The internal rating assigned to such securities by the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager will be used for the purpose of calculating the specified thresholds within each Sub-Fund's investment policy. For each investment policy detailed below, all references to investment shall include both direct and indirect investment, unless otherwise stated. For each investment policy detailed below, an entity's country of domicile may be determined by the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager to be the country in which, in the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager's reasonable opinion, such entity carries out its significant business operations. Where valuation of the net asset value per Share occurs weekly, the Valuation Day shall be each Tuesday which is a Business Day or, for each Tuesday which is not a Business Day, the following Business Day. Where valuation of the net asset value per Share occurs daily, each Business Day shall be a Valuation Day.

The Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager may manage the currency allocation of each Sub-Fund.

### Definitions

In this Appendix, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"B-/B3" means rated B- by Standards & Poor's, B3 by Moody's, or the equivalent rating of any other recognized ratings agency or investment authority deemed appropriate by the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be.

"Investment Grade" means rated BBB- or above by Standard & Poor's, Baa3 or above by Moody's, or an equivalent rating from any other recognised rating agency.

"Emerging Market Countries" means all countries in the following regions: Asia (excluding Japan), Eastern Europe, Middle East, Africa and Latin America, or such countries as reasonably determined by the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager, as the case may be, from time to time.

"Emerging Market Issuer" means an entity domiciled in an Emerging Market Country.

"Local Currencies" means currencies of Emerging Market Countries.

"Hard Currencies" means G7 country currencies, i.e. USD, Canadian Dollars, EUR, GBP or Japanese Yen.

+++++

### SCHEDULE A: EMIRATES EMERGING MARKET DEBT FUND

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** the primary investment objective of the portfolio is to achieve absolute return, i.e. high income and some capital growth, predominantly from a diversified portfolio of emerging market corporate debt securities of varying maturities along with cash, cash-equivalent and other ancillary instruments, including medium term notes (MTNs), futures, forwards and swaps. The portfolio may also make use of leverage through investments in the above derivatives for EPM purposes. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

On a temporary basis and under certain circumstances (as further described below), the Sub-Fund will enter into securities lending transactions, repurchase transactions and reverse repurchase transactions for efficient portfolio management purposes as described in section 5.2 "Use of derivative instrumetrs and other invested assetss", as further detailed in the table below with respect to, amongst other things, equity securities, markets, interest rates, credit, currencies, commodity indices.

The Sub-Fund will enter into repurchase transactions, reverse repurchase transactions and securities lending operations opportunistically and depending on market conditions, in circumstances where the Investment Manager considers that the market rates will allow the Sub-Fund to generate additional capital or income.

When entering into repurchase transactions and securities lending, the Sub-Fund will generally seek to reinvest the cash collateral received in eligible financial instruments that provide greater return than the financial costs incurred when entering into these transactions.

The principal amount of the Sub-Fund's assets that can be subject to SFTs described above may represent a maximum of 50% of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund.

exposure to SFTR techniques is as set out below (in each case as a percentage of net asset value).

Type of transaction	Under normal circumstances it	The principal amount of the
	is generally expected that the	Portfolio's assets that can be
	principal amount of such	subject to the transaction may
	transactions will not exceed a	represent up to a maximum of
	proportion of the Sub-Fund's	the proportion of the Sub-
	net asset value indicated	Fund's net asset value indicated
	below.*	below.
Repurchase, including reverse	0 %	50 %
repurchase, transactions		
Securities lending transactions	0 %	50 %

## **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may invest:

- Up to 100% of its assets in fixed and floating rate securities which shall be principally, but not limited to, securities issued by issuers domiciled in emerging markets.
- In recognised collective investment schemes, such that no single collective investment scheme at the time of acquisition shall represent more than 10% of its assets. Exposure to non UCITS compliant collective investment schemes is capped at 15% of its assets, subject to the above mentioned investment restrictions.
- In a way that the portfolio will have a maximum exposure of 60% of its assets to a single country.

- In a manner that within the portfolio there is no term deposit investment (or investment without liquidity) that exceeds a maturity of 12 months. No more than 15% of its assets may be invested in term deposits with a single counterparty.
- Up to 60% of its assets in non-USD or non-USD-pegged assets. The maximum limit on any single non-USD currency is 50% of its assets.
- No more than 80% of its assets will be invested in non-rated securities or securities rated below Investment Grade. Ratings will be defined as the highest rating from Moody's, S&P or Fitch.
- In a manner that the counterparty risk exposure linked to OTC transactions is limited to 9%. The risk will be calculated as the net positive mark-to-market value of all underlying contracts with the counterparties.
- In instruments to manage interest rate risk, currency risk and credit risk. Futures, forwards, options and swaps may be used to manage these risks. Where the Sub-Fund uses total return swaps, the underlying consists of instruments in which the Sub-Fund may invest according to its Investment Objective.
- Up to 10% of its assets in Contingent Convertible debt securities

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2 to 6.21, 6.22, 6.23, 6.25 to 6.29, 6.31 and 6.43.

**Sustainability Risk**: The Sub-Fund is exposed to Sustainability Risks linked to investments in emerging markets which usually have greater exposure to Sustainability Risks. For instance, companies in many emerging markets are traditionally less transparent and provide limited disclosures which makes it more difficult to identify and assess the materiality of eventual Sustainability Risks. In light of the Sub-Fund's diversification, the likely impacts of the above Sustainability Risks on the Sub-Fund's returns are expected to be low.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) looking for an actively managed portfolio of fixed income securities of Emerging Market Issuers.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

**Global Exposure:** The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the VaR methodology, as further defined above.

The VaR is absolutely limited to 20% at the 99% confidence level. The leverage based on the sum of notionals is expected to reach 200% maximum.

++++++

## SCHEDULE B: EMIRATES GLOBAL QUARTERLY INCOME FUND

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

Sub-Investment Manager: Jupiter Asset Management Limited.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund will seek to provide investors with a high level of income, paid quarterly, by investing in income producing assets, predominantly through a fund of funds structure. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and or securities
  of listed closed-ended funds that operate on the principle of risk spreading.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with a majority of the Sub-Fund's assets invested in
  collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equities and fixed income
  strategies as well as other asset classes that the Sub-Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with
  the mandate of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure through collective investment
  schemes to other asset classes including but not limited to commodities, real estate and alternative
  strategies.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.
- Invest up to 100% of its assets in fixed income, up to 50% of its assets in equity and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, mainly through collective investment schemes.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Sub-Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Sub-Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained and it may be necessary to dispose of assets in order to meet redemptions.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager, the Sub-Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2 to 6.21, 6.23 and 6.25 to 6.29 and 6.35.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager, by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, or by the Sub-Investment Manager, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

Investor Profile: Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) looking for an actively managed portfolio of asset classes that generate a high level of income and some capital growth.

Valuation: Daily.

Distributions: The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. Income targets set are 1.5% paid quarterly or such other amounts as may be reasonably determined by the Investment Manager and Board of Directors of the Fund. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

## **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's global exposure shall be calculated according to the commitment methodology

### **SCHEDULE C: EMIRATES ACTIVE MANAGED FUND**

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

Sub-Investment Manager: Jupiter Asset Management Limited.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund will invest globally through collective investment schemes in a range of asset classes with the aim of providing long-term capital growth and with a strong bias towards global equity markets. It will however seek to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets by offering some diversification across asset classes. Additionally, certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. Declarations of distribution will be made at the end of March, end of June, end of September & end of December of each year. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and or securities
  of listed closed-ended funds that operate on the principle of risk spreading.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with a majority of the Sub-Fund's assets invested in
  collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equities and fixed income
  strategies as well as other asset classes that the Sub-Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with
  the mandate of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure through collective investment
  schemes to other asset classes including but not limited to commodities, real estate and alternative
  strategies.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.
- Permit exposure up to 50% of the assets of the Sub-Fund to closed-ended funds including investment trusts and exchange traded funds, provided that the security is listed on a Regulated Market or Other Regulated Market and that the trust operates on the principle of risk spreading.
- Invest up to 85% of its assets in global equity, up to 100% of its assets in fixed income and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, mainly through collective investment schemes.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Sub-Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Sub-Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained and it may be necessary to dispose of assets in order to meet redemptions.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager, the Sub-Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.14, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.25, 6.35.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and seeking to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets through broad asset class and manager diversification.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

# **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology.

### SCHEDULE D: EMIRATES BALANCED MANAGED FUND

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

Sub-Investment Manager: Jupiter Asset Management Limited.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund will invest globally through collective investment schemes across a balanced spread of asset classes with the aim of providing long-term capital growth. It will seek to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets by offering diversification across a broad spread of asset classes. Additionally, certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. Declarations of distribution will be made at the end of March, end of June, end of September & end of December of each year. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and or securities of listed closed-ended funds that operate on the principle of risk spreading.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with a majority of the Sub-Fund's assets invested in
  collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equity and fixed income
  strategies as well as other asset classes that the Sub-Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with
  the mandate of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure to other asset classes through
  collective investment scheme including but not limited to commodities, property and alternative strategies.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.
- Permit exposure up to 50% of the assets of the Sub-Fund to closed-ended funds including investment trusts
  and exchange traded funds, provided that the security is listed on a Regulated Market or on an Other
  Regulated Market and that the trust operates on the principle of risk spreading.
- Invest up to 60% of its assets in global equity, up to 100% of its assets in fixed income and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, mainly through collective investment schemes.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Sub-Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Sub-Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other funds where the Investment Manager or the Sub-Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager, the Sub-Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.14, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.25, 6.35.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and seeking to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets through broad asset class and manager diversification.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology.

## SCHEDULE E: EMIRATES MENA FIXED INCOME FUND

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund will aim to achieve a high level of income as well as capital growth, predominantly through a diversified portfolio of Middle East and North Africa (MENA) debt securities of varying maturities along with cash and cash equivalent instruments such as money market funds with efficient portfolio management. The Sub-Fund may also take on exposure to issuers outside the MENA region. Additionally, certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. Declarations of distribution will be made at the end of March, end of June, end of September & December of each year. The Sub-Fund is managed actively and uses the JP Morgan MECI GCC Total Return index as a universe to select securities from. The possible deviation of the portfolio composition of the Sub-Fund compared to the benchmark is material.

### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- invest up to 100% of its assets in fixed and floating rate securities which shall be principally, but not limited to, MENA markets.
- The Sub-Fund may take exposure to non-MENA securities up to a limit of 30%.
- Under normal circumstances, hold, cash equivalent investments only when the Investment Manager
  reasonably regards it as necessary in order to enable redemptions of Shares to be made, for the efficient
  management of the Sub-Fund, to protect capital or where the interest rate is higher from these deposits
  than capital otherwise employed and in accordance with the Sub-Fund's investment objectives.
- Invest in collective investment schemes. No one collective investment schemes shall, at time of acquisition, represent more than 10% of the assets of the Sub-Fund.
- Not have more than 10% exposure to a single issuer or Money Market Instruments (excluding cash deposits). The Sub-Fund may not hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. The counterparty limits for cash deposits required for efficient portfolio management purposes is 20%. Notwithstanding the limits set forth above and subject to sufficient shareholders' protection, the Sub-Fund is authorised to invest, in accordance with the principle of risk spreading, up to 100% of its net assets in Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments issued or guaranteed by a Member State, by its local authorities, by any other country which is a member of the OECD or by a public international body of which one or more Member State(s) are member(s), provided that: (i) such securities are part of at least six different issues; and (ii) the securities from any such issue do not account for more than 30% of the net assets of the Sub-Fund.
- Ratings will be defined as the highest rating from Moody's, S&P or Fitch.Invest in instruments to manage interest rate risk, currency risk and credit risk. Futures, forwards, options and swaps may be used to manage these risks. Where the Sub-Fund uses total return swaps, the underlying consists of instruments in which the Sub-Fund may invest according to its Investment Objective.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained.

Furthermore, the Sub-Fund may, during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.5, 6.7, 6.8, 6.11, 6.15, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.22, 6.3 and 6.43.

**Sustainability Risk**: The Sub-Fund is exposed to Sustainability Risks linked to investments in emerging markets which usually have greater exposure to Sustainability Risks. For instance, companies in many emerging markets are traditionally less transparent and provide limited disclosures which makes it more difficult to identify and assess the materiality of eventual Sustainability Risks. In light of the Sub-Fund's investment diversification, the likely impacts of the above Sustainability Risks on the Sub-Fund's returns are expected to be low.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years), medium risk profile, seeking fixed income diversification, with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and are seeking to receive income on a regular basis (if investing in income share classes).

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

**Global Exposure:** The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the VaR methodology, as further defined above. The VaR is absolutely limited to 20% at the 99% confidence level. The leverage based on the sum of notional is expected to reach 100% maximum.

### SCHEDULE F: EMIRATES MENA TOP COMPANIES FUND

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund will aim to achieve medium- to long-term capital growth, along with the option of an income paying share class, through investments made directly and indirectly, i.e. by way of investment funds in a portfolio of MENA equities. The Sub-Fund will use an active management style (utilizing both a top down approach to determine country and sector allocations and a bottom up approach to select individual securities) and take advantage of price distortions and specific opportunities that display potential for strong gains. The Sub-Fund can also make income distributions on a quarterly basis using both gains on investments and dividends received. The Sub-Fund is managed actively and uses the MSCI Arabian Markets Combined Net Total Return Index USD as a universe to select securities from. The possible deviation of the portfolio composition of the Sub-Fund compared to the benchmark is significant.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Not invest more than 60% of its assets in any one MENA country.
- Not invest more than 10% of its assets in the securities of a single corporate issuer (excluding cash deposits).
   In addition to the above limit, the total value of all Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of issuers in which it invests more than 5% of its assets may not exceed 40% of the value of the assets of the Sub-Fund.
- Not borrow, other than for the purpose of meeting redemptions as stated elsewhere in the Prospectus.
- Not invest in unlimited liability obligations.
- Not take legal or management control in any of its investments.
- Not invest more than 40% of its assets in cash equivalent instruments. Notwithstanding the above limit the Sub-Fund may not have more than 20% of its assets invested in in cash deposits within the same body. The Sub-Fund shall not invest more than 10% of its assets in Money Market Instruments issued by the same entity.
- Not have exposure, in aggregate, to cash equivalent instruments and non-equity based investments, but excluding index derivatives, of greater than 50%.
- Invest in collective investment schemes upto a limit of 10% per underlying fund. For the purpose of the application of this investment limit, each sub-fund of a UCI with multiple sub-funds is to be considered as a separate issuer provided that the principle of segregation of the obligations of the various sub-funds vis-à-vis third parties is ensured.
- Not directly acquire any asset that involves the assumption of any liability which is unlimited.
- Invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest Any investments
  into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all
  investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should
  this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.
- In order to gain exposure to stocks listed on the markets of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Sub-Fund may hold participatory notes (P Notes), swaps or other instruments providing a synthetic form of exposure to such markets. P Notes will be treated as derivatives for the purposes of Section 10. Other forms of direct investment into Saudi equities could be employed if the appropriate means present themselves (such as Qualified Foreign Investor (QFI) quota).

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no

guarantee that such cash may be retained. Assets of the Sub-Fund may be held via a sub-custody arrangement where access by the Sub-Fund to a particular market or asset merits such an approach.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.9, 6.14, 6.15, 6.25.

**Sustainability Risk**: The Sub-Fund is exposed to Sustainability Risks linked to investments in emerging markets which usually have greater exposure to Sustainability Risks. For instance, companies in many emerging markets are traditionally less transparent and provide limited disclosures which makes it more difficult to identify and assess the materiality of eventual Sustainability Risks. In light of the Sub-Fund's diversification, the likely impacts of the above Sustainability Risks on the Sub-Fund's returns are expected to be low.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years), high risk profile and seeking exposure to GCC and MENA equities. Investors can also look to take advantage of active management style, price distortions and specific opportunities that display strong gains. Investors can expect to receive income on a regular basis (if investing in income share classes).

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub-Fund will seek to distribute to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For the avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

# **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the VaR methodology, as further defined above. The VaR is absolutely limited to 20% at the 99% confidence level. The leverage based on the sum of notionals is expected to reach 200% maximum.

### SCHEDULE G: EMIRATES GLOBAL SUKUK FUND

Shari'a Compliance: Yes.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund is a Shari'a compliant sub-fund that will invest in a diversified portfolio of unsecured asset-based Sukuks both in the MENA region and globally. Sukuks will mainly qualify as Ijara, Wakala, Mudarabah and Murabah.

The primary investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to achieve high income as well as capital growth. Certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will make income distributions on a quarterly basis, predominantly derived from income generated by the underlying Sukuk or maturity proceeds of Sukuk. The Sub-Fund will achieve diversification by investing in a basket of eligible Sukuk with various maturities, from a variety of issuers. The Sub-Fund may also invest in structured product to gain exposure to the above. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

Benchmark: None.

### **Islamic Sukuk Market:**

Sukuk are Islamic financial certificates which were extensively used by Muslims in the middle ages as papers representing financial obligations originating from trade and other commercial activities. However, the present structure of Sukuk is different from that originally used and is akin to the conventional concept of debt securitization, a process in which ownership of the underlying assets is transferred to a large number of investors through certificates of ownership representing the investor's proportionate share value of the relevant asset.

Developments in the Sukuk sector have resulted in more sophisticated and specialised structures. Sukuks have been structured using different underlying contracts, the most popular of which has been an ijarah contract. Ijarah based Sukuks involve a process in which ownership of the underlying assets is transferred to a large number of investors through certificates of ownership representing the investor's proportionate share value of the relevant asset.

Sukuk returns must be linked to the returns and cash flows generated by the asset purchased which is usually held in trust or through a special purpose vehicle. This deviates from conventional bonds in which the returns generated are generally solely interest based as the payment and receipt of interest is prohibited under Shari'a law. As such, financing must only be raised for identifiable assets.

The use of Sukuk has become increasingly popular in the last few years, both as a means of raising government finance through sovereign issues, and as a way for companies to obtain funding through the offer of corporate Sukuk. In 2001, there were only four Sukuk issued out of Malaysia and Bahrain. By 2007 there were over 100 Sukuk issued across ten countries. The first issues date back to 2000 and the growth and evolution of the Sukuk market, particularly in the Gulf region, is among the most significant developments in Islamic finance over recent years. Sukuk issuance more than doubled in 2007 to exceed \$60 billion and although 2008 saw a slowdown in issuance due to the global financial crisis, S&P reported Sukuk issuance reached \$51.2 billion in 2010. The MENA region has been a strong supporter of the Sukuk market and has contributed 33% of global Sukuk issues. A good example of this was the launch of the \$2.5 billion Sukuk programme by Dubai government which was very well subscribed. The universe also includes issues from Deutsche Bank AG and the recent issued GE Capital Sukuk.

Although the development of the Sukuk market is still in its nascent stages, there are a number of issues available to investors. Investors should however note that the Sukuk market is a relatively new market and may at times display less liquidity, involve higher trading costs and have other limitations as stated in the section 6, entitled 'Risk Factors'.

## **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund will, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Only invest in Sukuk approved by the Shari'a Board.
- Only hold cash (if any) in either a non-interest bearing account or with an Islamic Finance Institution.
- Not invest or transact in any derivatives, including but not limited to options, futures, forwards and swaps, unless the same has been re-structured in a Shari'a compliant manner acceptable to the Shari'a Board.
- Oblige its service providers to carry out all activities specifically related to the management of the Sub-Fund in a Shari'a compliant manner.
- Hold up to 100% of the assets of the Sub-Fund in Transferable Securities including asset-based Sukuk. Under normal circumstances, cash equivalent investments or ancillary liquid instruments, such as Wakala and Murabaha instruments, may also be held when the Investment Manager regards it as necessary for the efficient management of the Sub-Fund, or where the profit rate is higher from these deposits than capital otherwise employed in the Sukuk market. Investors should be aware that, notwithstanding the investment restrictions stated herein, the Sub-Fund may concentrate its assets in a limited number of Sukuk (along with Murabaha and Wakala instruments).
- Manage Sukuk portfolio in a manner that no single Sukuk shall represent more than 10% of the value of the Sub-Fund.
- Invest in Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes upto a limit of 10% of the value of the Sub-Fund.
- Ratings will be defined as the highest rating from Moody's, S&P or Fitch.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained.

The Sub-Fund may, during its period of existence invest in other Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes where the Investment Manager have a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Shari'a Guidelines:** The Sub-Fund will only use Shari'a compliant contracts and agreements and make investments in line with the restrictions mentioned above. Should the Sub-Fund earn from time to time any Non Shari'a Compliant Return, such return will be segregated from the assets of the Sub-Fund and will be paid to charitable causes under the guidance, instructions and supervision of the Shari'a Board.

**Non Shari'a Compliant Return** means any return passed on to the Sub-Fund as a result of any financial transaction, instrument or corporate action held as inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a, including but not limited to interest amounts paid in respect to cash deposits or other liquid assets, or any other return that may be from time to time declared inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a by the Shari'a Board, will be given to charity.

The Shari'a Board will periodically review all assets within the Sub-Fund with regards to ongoing Shari'a compliance and advise the Manager and the Fund accordingly.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.5, 6.7, 6.11, 6.15, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.22, 6.31, 6.36,6.37 and 6.43.

**Sustainability Risk**: The Sub-Fund is exposed to Sustainability Risks linked to its investments in Sukuk, which are issued by governments, local authorities or public companies which may be located in emerging markets. These markets usually have greater exposure to Sustainability Risks as they are traditionally less transparent and provide

limited disclosures which make it more difficult to identify and assess the materiality of eventual Sustainability Risks. In addition, sukuk's financing can only be raised for identifiable assets, which may be exposed, among others, to potential physical risks resulting from climate change. For example the tail risk of significant damage due to increasing erratic and potentially catastrophic weather phenomena such as droughts, wildfires, flooding and heavy precipitations, heat waves, landslides or storms. As the frequency of extreme weather events increases, the Sub-Fund assets exposure to these events increases too. Flood risk is an example of such risk. Flooding may cause damage requiring refurbishment works on a building which might impact its resale value and/or make it more difficult or even impossible to resale and impact the return of the Sub-Fund. However, in light of the Sub-Fund's diversification, the likely impacts of the above Sustainability Risks on the Sub-Fund's returns are expected to be low.

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager or by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

In addition to the risks in the "Risk Factors", it should be noted that differences exists among Islamic scholars as to the nature of Shari'a compliance of any product, accordingly no assurance can be given that Islamic scholars, other than those who are members of the Shari'a Board, would determine that the Sub-Fund and its underlying investments are Shari'a compliant. In case of any doubt, investors should consult their own Shari'a advisors and scholars to determine the Shari'a compliance of the Sub-Fund before investing in the Sub-Fund.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years), medium risk profile, seeking Shari'a compliant fixed income diversification, with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and are seeking to receive income on a regular basis (if investing in income share classes).

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the VaR methodology, as further defined above. The VaR is absolutely limited to 20% at the 99% confidence level. The leverage based on the sum of notionals is expected to reach 200% maximum.

### SCHEDULE H: EMIRATES WORLD OPPORTUNITIES FUND

Shari'a Compliance: Yes.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund is a US Dollar denominated, open ended Shari'a compliant fund that aims to achieve medium- to long-term capital growth, along with the option of an income paying share class, through Shari'a compliant investments across a range of global markets. The Sub-Fund is managed actively and uses the MSCI World Islamic Index as a as a universe to select securities from. The possible deviation of the portfolio composition of the Sub-Fund compared to the benchmark is material.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund will, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Only invest in equities of those entities that meet the Shari'a guidelines below.
- Only hold cash (if any) in either a non-interest bearing account or with an Islamic Finance Institution.
- Not invest or transact in any derivatives, including but not limited to options, futures, forwards and swaps, unless the same has been re-structured in a Shari'a compliant manner acceptable to the Shari'a Board.
- Oblige its service providers to carry out all activities specifically related to the management of the Sub-Fund in a Shari'a compliant manner.
- Invest up to 100% of the assets of the Sub-Fund in Shari'a compliant equity investments, both directly by
  holding Transferable Securities in its own name (or that of an appointed Depositary or Sub-Custodian as
  may be required from time to time) and indirectly via collective investment schemes.
- Not borrow.
- Not invest in unlimited liability obligations.
- Not take legal or management control in any of its investments.
- Invest in Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes. The Sub-Fund shall however not invest more than 10% of its assets in aggregate in UCITS and other UCIs.
- During its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.
- The Sub-Fund will seek exposure to China A-shares through the Fund's own and/or third party's QFII quota in the form of equity-linked notes, participating certificates, fully funded swaps and other similar instruments issued by third party QFIIs and/or Stock Connect and may invest in other equity linked (e.g. convertible bonds) and fixed-income securities issued by China-related companies. Direct investment in China A-shares through the Fund's own QFII quota, or through third party's quota and/or the Stock Connect as the case may be, shall not exceed 35% of the Sub-Fund's net asset value

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained. Assets of the Sub-Fund may be held via a sub-custody arrangement where access by the Sub-Fund to a particular market or asset merits such an approach.

Shari'a Guidelines: The Sub-Fund shall invest in equity of any entity that:

(a) Are constituents of MSCI Islamic index, or MSCI Islamic M-Series Index, or Dow Jones Islamic index, or S&P Islamic Index or any Islamic Index as approved by the Shari'a Board; or

- (b) Are deemed Shari'a compliant as per the Unified Committee of Islamic Bank for Shari'a Screening of Equities; or
- (c) Are in line with the fatwa issued from time to time by the Sharia Board, as further described in its latest Sharia Manual.
- (d) Are Shari'a compliant according to calculation arriving from using MSCI or MSCI-M or S&P or Ideal Ratings methodology

Should the Sub-Fund earn from time to time any Non Shari'a Compliant Return, such return will be segregated from the asset of the Sub-Fund and will be paid to charitable causes under the guidance, instructions and supervision of the Shari'a Board.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Non Shari'a Compliant Return** means any return passed on to the Sub-Fund as a result of any financial transaction, instrument or corporate action held as inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a, including but not limited to interest amounts paid in respect to cash deposits or other liquid assets, or any other return that may be from time to time declared inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a by the Shari'a Board, will be given to charity.

The Shari'a Board will periodically review all assets within the Sub-Fund with regards to ongoing Shari'a compliance and advise the Investment Manager and the Fund accordingly.

During the course of investment, the following scenarios may arise:

- (a) Change of status a particular entity may change its status from being "Shari'a compliant" to become "Non-Shari'a compliant" due to various factors, including but not limited to, financing, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, which may result in that entity's business activities and/or the financial ratios to be non-compliant with the Shari'a. Once a particular investment has changed its status from being Shari'a compliant to become non-Shari'a compliant, the Sub-Fund must exit its position in such entity within 45 calendar days of becoming informed. If the investment is in a loss and the Investment Manager believes that some of the losses can be recovered by holding the stock, the Sub-Fund can hold the stock for a maximum of 90 days. The Sub-Fund may re-invest in the entity once it has become Shari'a compliant again.
- (b) Incorrect investment it may be identified that the entity was not Shari'a compliant at the time of investment. In such instances, the Sub-Fund must exit its position in such securities immediately.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.9, 6.13, 6.14, 6.15, 6.24, 6.26, 6.37 and 6.38.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund.

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager or by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

In addition to the risks in the "Risk Factors", it should be noted that differences exists among Islamic Scholars as to the nature of Shari'a compliance of any product, accordingly no assurance can be given that Islamic scholars, other than those who are members of the Shari'a Board, would determine that the Sub-Fund and its underlying investments are Shari'a compliant. In case of any doubt, investors should consult their own Shari'a advisors and scholars to determine the Shari'a compliance of the Sub-Fund before investing in the Sub-Fund.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years), high risk profile and seeking exposure to Shari'a compliant Global securities and other investment opportunities into diversified asset classes. Investors can expect to receive income on a regular basis (if investing in income share classes).

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub-Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class of holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For the avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund were the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the VaR methodology, as further defined above. The VaR is absolutely limited to 20% at the 99% confidence level. The leverage based on the sum of notionals is expected to reach 200% maximum.

## SCHEDULE I: EMIRATES ISLAMIC GLOBAL BALANCED FUND

Shari'a Compliance: Yes.

Reference Currency: USD.

# **Investment Objective:**

The Sub-Fund will seek to achieve long-term capital growth through investment across equities, asset-based Sukuks (such as mainly Sukuks structured as Ijara, Wakala, Mudarabah and Murabah), money market instruments and cash. It will invest predominantly through Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes and Exchange Traded Funds ("ETFs"). The Sub-Fund may hold structured products to gain exposure to the above. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund will, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Only invest in Sukuk, Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes and other instruments that are preapproved by the Shari'a Board for investment.
- Only hold cash (if any) in either a non-interest bearing account or with an Islamic Finance Institution.
- Not invest or transact in any derivatives, including but not limited to options, futures, forwards and swaps, unless the same has been re-structured in a Shari'a compliant manner acceptable to the Shari'a Board.
- Oblige its service providers to carry out all activities specifically related to the management of the Sub-Fund in a Shari'a compliant manner.
- Hold units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and or Transferable Securities of closed-ended funds that operate on the principle of risk spreading.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with a majority of the Sub-Fund's assets invested in Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equity and asset-based Sukuk based strategies as well as other asset classes that the Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with the mandate of the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure to other asset classes including but not limited to commodities, real estate and alternative strategies.
- Not directly acquire any asset that involves the assumption of any liability which is unlimited.

Exposure to these asset classes within the Sub-Fund will be principally achieved indirectly through the use of collective investment schemes investing in such instruments although the Sub-Fund may take direct exposure to all asset classes if the Investment Manager believes it would be prudent to do so, and to the extent permitted by the Luxembourg law and regulations. The Sub-Fund will seek to mitigate the effects of securities market volatility through efficient portfolio management, asset allocation and asset class diversification.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund may directly hold Shari'a compliant deposits. Due to the perceived low risk of these types of assets, these can be held directly by the Sub-Fund or through sub-custody arrangements where required.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note,

however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

#### Shari'a Guidelines:

Investments made by the Sub-Fund will only be into assets that are in compliance with Shari'a principles and are pre-approved by the Shari'a Board under principles as further described in its Sharia manual. Should the Sub-Fund earn from time to time any Non Shari'a Compliant Return, such return will be segregated from the assets of the Sub-Fund and will be paid to charitable causes under the guidance, instructions and supervision of the Shari'a Board.

**Non Shari'a Compliant Return** means any return passed on to the Sub-Fund as a result of any financial transaction, instrument or corporate action held as inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a, including but not limited to interest amounts paid in respect to cash deposits or other liquid assets, or any other return that may be from time to time declared inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a by the Shari'a Board, will be given to charity.

The Shari'a Board will periodically review all assets within the Sub-Fund with regards to ongoing Shari'a compliance and advise the Manager and the Fund accordingly.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.14, 6.15, 6.16, 6.25, 6.35, 6.36 and 6.38.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund.

In addition to the risks in the "Risk Factors", it should be noted that differences exists among Islamic Scholars as to the nature of Shari'a compliance of any product, accordingly no assurance can be given that Islamic scholars, other than those who are members of the Shari'a Board, would determine that the Sub-Fund and its underlying investments are Shari'a compliant. In case of any doubt, investors should consult their own Shari'a advisors and scholars to determine the Shari'a compliance of the Sub-Fund before investing in the Sub-Fund.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and seeking to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets through broad asset class and manager diversification in a Shari'a compliant manner.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub-Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class of holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For the avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund were the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

Trading cut offs: As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

## **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology, as further defined above.

## **SCHEDULE J: EMIRATES INDIA EQUITY FUND**

Shari'a Compliance: YES.

Reference Currency: USD.

Sub-Investment Manager: UTI International (Singapore) Private Limited.

### **Investment Objective:**

The Sub-Fund will aim to achieve medium- to long-term capital growth, along with the option of an income paying share class, through investments made directly and indirectly, i.e. by way of investment funds in a portfolio of Shari'a compliant Indian equities. The Sub-Fund will use an active management style and take advantage of price distortions and specific opportunities that display potential for strong gains. The Sub-Fund will invest in stocks which are, in the opinion of the Shari'a Board, compliant with Shari'a. The Sub-Fund is managed actively and uses the S&P BSE 500 SHARIAH INDEX as a universe to select securities from. The possible deviation of the portfolio composition of the Sub-Fund compared to the benchmark is material.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

Subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10, the Sub-Fund may:

- Only hold cash (if any) in either a non-interest bearing account or with an Islamic Finance Institution.
- Not invest or transact in any derivatives, including but not limited to options, futures, forwards and swaps, unless the same has been re-structured in a Shari'a compliant manner acceptable to the Shari'a Board.
- Oblige its service providers to carry out all activities specifically related to the management of the Sub-Fund in a Shari'a compliant manner.
- Not invest more than 10% of its assets in the securities of a single corporate issuer (excluding cash deposits).
   In addition to the above limit, the total value of all Transferable Securities and Money Market Instruments of issuers in which it invests more than 5% of its assets may not exceed 40% of the value of the assets of the Sub-Fund.
- Not borrow.
- Not take legal or management control in any of its investments.
- Not invest more than 20% of its assets in cash or cash equivalent instruments. The Sub-Fund shall not invest more than 10% of its assets in Money Market Instruments issued by the same entity.
- Invest in recognised Shari'a compliant collective investment schemes up to a limit of 10%. For the purpose of the application of this investment limit, each sub-fund of a UCI with multiple sub-funds is to be considered as a separate issuer provided that the principle of segregation of the obligations of the various sub-funds vis-à-vis third parties is ensured. No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.
- Not directly acquire any asset that involves the assumption of any liability which is unlimited.
- Invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that in order to meet redemption requests each Share Class may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained. Assets of the Sub-Fund may be held via a sub-custody arrangement where access by the Sub-Fund to a particular market or asset merits such an approach.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

### Shari'a Guidelines:

Investments made by the Sub-Fund will only be into assets that are in compliance with Shari'a principles and are pre-approved by the Shari'a Board under principles as further described in its Sharia manual. Should the Sub-Fund earn from time to time any Non Shari'a Compliant Return, such return will be segregated from the assets of the Sub-Fund and will be paid to charitable causes under the guidance, instructions and supervision of the Shari'a Board.

Non Shari'a Compliant Return means any return passed on to the Sub-Fund as a result of any financial transaction, instrument or corporate action held as inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a, including but not limited to interest amounts paid in respect to cash deposits or other liquid assets, or any other return that may be from time to time declared inconsistent with the precepts of Shari'a by the Shari'a Board, will be given to charity. The Shari'a Board will periodically review all assets within the Sub-Fund with regards to ongoing Shari'a compliance and advise the Manager and the Fund accordingly.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4, 6.6, 6.7, 6.8, 6.9, 6.13, 6.14, 6.15, and 6.25.

Sustainability Risks; It is expected that the Sub-Fund will be exposed to a range of Sustainability Risks linked to its investments concentrated in India, where less sustainability-related regulations are implemented and monitored. Lag on labor and human rights practices, child labor, corruption are examples of Sustainability Risks in India that could damage a company's reputation and earnings prospects, or increase the risk of regulatory scrutiny and sanctions. In addition, governance risks can be more pronounced in India, with a lack of maturity or corporate tenure being one of the contributing factors. Besides, India is increasingly subject to extreme natural events, as the frequency of such event increases, the Sub-Fund assets exposure to these events increases too. Such events could significantly impact the return of the Sub-Fund. In addition to the risks in the "Risk Factors", it should be noted that differences exists among Islamic Scholars as to the nature of Shari'a compliance of any product, accordingly no assurance can be given that Islamic scholars, other than those who are members of the Shari'a Board, would determine that the Sub-Fund and its underlying investments are Shari'a compliant. In case of any doubt, investors should consult their own Shari'a advisors and scholars to determine the Shari'a compliance of the Sub-Fund before investing in the Sub-Fund.

Capital gains on direct investments in Indian equities may under certain conditions be taxed in India.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years), high risk profile and seeking exposure to Shari'a compliant Indian equities. Investors can also look to take advantage of active management style, price distortions and specific opportunities that display strong gains.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

#### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology, as further defined above.

### SCHEDULE K: EMIRATES SIGNATURE CAUTIOUS FUND<sup>1</sup>

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund is a fund of funds. It will seek to provide investors with a professionally managed means of gaining exposure to a range of asset classes including, but not limited to, equities, fixed income, real estate, money market, commodities and alternative strategies, through the investment in investment funds which are eligible in accordance with the rules foreseen in the section 10 of this prospectus.

The Sub-Fund aims at providing investors with long-term capital growth, while seeking to preserve capital over 3 years period. Certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold only units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and cash.
- Gain exposure up to 100% of its assets in fixed income (through collective investment schemes) and cash (the investment up to 100% in cash is only possible on a temporary basis), up to 30% of its assets in equity and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, only through collective investment schemes.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with the Sub-Fund's assets invested in collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equities or of fixed income strategies as well as other asset classes that the Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with the mandate of the Sub-Fund always in a manner allowing the Sub-Fund to monitor the above exposure.
   The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure through collective investment schemes to other asset classes including but not limited to commodities, real estate and alternative strategies, always in a manner allowing the Sub-Fund to monitor the above exposure.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that for efficient portfolio management and in order to meet redemption requests the Sub-Fund may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained and it may be necessary to dispose of assets in order to meet redemptions.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Only available to Emirates NBD Bank clients

Specific Risk Factors: When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2 to 6.21, 6.23 and 6.25 to 6.29, 6.35 and 6.37.

Sustainability Risk: It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material

negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager, by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

Investor Profile: Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) looking for an actively managed portfolio of asset classes that generate a high level of income and some capital growth.

Valuation: Daily.

Distributions: The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

#### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's global exposure shall be calculated according to the commitment methodology.

### SCHEDULE L: EMIRATES SIGNATURE MODERATE FUND<sup>2</sup>

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund is a fund of funds. It will seek to provide investors with a professionally managed means of gaining exposure to a range of asset classes including, but not limited to, equities, fixed income, real estate, money market, commodities and alternative strategies, through the investment in investment funds which are eligible in accordance with the rules foreseen in the section 10 of this prospectus.

The Sub-Fund aims at providing long-term capital growth, while seeking to preserve capital over 5 years period. Certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold only units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and cash.
- Gain exposure up to 50% of its assets in global equity (through collective investment schemes), up to 100% of its assets in fixed income (through collective investment schemes) and cash (the investment up to 100% in cash is only possible on a temporary basis) and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, only through collective investment schemes.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with the Sub-Fund's assets invested in collective investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equity or of fixed income strategies as well as other asset classes that the Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with the mandate of the Sub-Fund, always in a manner allowing the Sub-Fund to monitor the above exposure. The Sub-Fund may also take indirect exposure to other asset classes through collective investment scheme including but not limited to commodities, property and alternative strategies, always in a manner allowing the Sub-Fund to monitor the above exposure.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative
  exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that for efficient portfolio management and in order to meet redemption requests the Sub-Fund may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other funds where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager, or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.14, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.25, 6.35 and 6.37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Only available to Emirates NBD Bank clients

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager, by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and seeking to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets through broad asset class and manager diversification.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology.

### SCHEDULE M: EMIRATES SIGNATURE AGGRESSIVE FUND<sup>3</sup>

Shari'a Compliance: No.

Reference Currency: USD.

**Investment Objective:** The Sub-Fund is a fund of funds. It will seek to provide investors with a professionally managed means of gaining exposure to a range of asset classes including, but not limited to, equities, fixed income, real estate, money market, commodities and alternative strategies, through the investment in investment funds which are eligible in accordance with the rules foreseen in the section 10 of this prospectus.

The Sub-Fund aims at providing long-term capital growth, while seeking to preserve capital over 7 years period. Certain share classes of the Sub-Fund will also distribute income on a quarterly basis. The Sub-Fund is managed actively without reference to any benchmark.

#### **Investment Restrictions:**

The Sub-Fund may, subject to the general investment restrictions in Section 10:

- Hold only units or shares of collective investment schemes (including exchange traded funds) and cash.
- Invest up to 85% of its assets in global equity (through collective investment schemes), up to 100% of its
  assets in fixed income (through collective investment schemes) and cash (the investment up to 100% in
  cash is only possible on a temporary basis) and up to 40% of its assets in alternative strategies, only through
  collective investment schemes.
- Diversify its investments across a range of asset classes with the Sub-Fund's assets invested in collective
  investment schemes predominantly offering exposure to a range of equities or of fixed income strategies
  as well as other asset classes that the Investment Manager perceives to be consistent with the mandate of
  the Sub-Fund, always in a manner allowing the Sub-Fund to monitor the above exposure. The Sub-Fund
  may also take indirect exposure through collective investment schemes to other asset classes including but
  not limited to commodities, real estate and alternative strategies, always in a manner allowing the SubFund to monitor the above exposure.
- Permit hedging to protect the USD value of the investments provided this does not create net negative
  exposure (hedge not to exceed the value of assets being hedged) measured at the time the trade is placed.

In addition to the restrictions above, the Investment Manager has determined that for efficient portfolio management and in order to meet redemption requests the Sub-Fund may, where practicable, retain in cash or other readily liquid assets such amount as the Investment Manager may from time to time consider appropriate. The Sub-Fund may not, however, hold more than 20% of its net assets in cash under normal circumstances. Investors should be aware, however, that there is no guarantee that such cash may be retained and it may be necessary to dispose of assets in order to meet redemptions.

The Sub-Fund may during its period of existence invest in other investment vehicles where the Investment Manager has a material interest. Any investments into these underlying funds shall incur no additional subscription fee at the underlying fund level and all investments into these funds will be done at commercial rates. Investors should note, however, that, should this occur, a potential conflict of interests may exist for the Investment Manager or any related party.

No underlying fund will be purchased with an annual Management Fee greater than 2%.

The Sub-Fund does not intend to enter into SFTs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Only available to Emirates NBD Bank clients

**Specific Risk Factors:** When investing in the Sub-Fund, investors should review the risk factors set out in Section 6 "Risk Factors". Investors of the Sub-Fund should be specifically aware that the Sub-Fund is particularly exposed to the risk factors set out in Sections 6.2, 6.4, 6.7, 6.8, 6.14, 6.16, 6.17, 6.18, 6.19, 6.20, 6.25, 6.35 and 6.37.

**Sustainability Risk:** It is expected that this Sub-fund will be exposed to a broad range of sustainability risks. However, as the Sub-fund is broadly diversified, it is not anticipated that any single Sustainability Risk will drive a material negative financial impact on the value of the Sub-Fund

Where the Sub-Fund invests in other funds which are managed, directly or by delegation by the Investment Manager, by any other company of the Emirates NBD group of companies, the Sub-Fund shall not be charged any subscription or redemption fees on such investments.

**Investor Profile:** Investors with a medium to long term time horizon (three to five years) with an aim to achieve long term capital growth and seeking to reduce the volatility traditionally associated with investments in securities markets through broad asset class and manager diversification.

Valuation: Daily.

**Distributions:** The Sub Fund will seek to distribute income to relevant class holders at quarterly intervals, being end March, end June, end September and end December. For avoidance of doubt, income may also be paid from capital and/or general profits of the Sub-Fund where the Board of Directors deems it is practical to do so.

**Trading cut offs:** As stated in section 7.2, 7.4 and 7.5.

### **Global Exposure:**

The Sub-Fund's risk exposure shall be calculated in accordance with the Commitment methodology.

### Appendix 2: Summary of Fees and Expenses for Sub-Funds

The tables below set out:

- The relevant Management Fee, performance fees and fixed fees and expenses for each Sub-Fund
- The relevant benchmark or hurdle rates, where applicable, for the purposes of calculating the performance and performance fee (where applicable) for each sub-fund
- Whether the Management Company has the discretion to move the pricing basis in accordance with the provision of swing pricing as outlined in section 9.8 in respect of each Sub-Fund
- The minimum subscription and holding amounts, and minimum additional subscription amount for each Sub-Fund, if different from those specified in Section 7 "The Shares"

Detailed information about the various fund charges is set out in Section 9 "Management and fund charges". Specific charges on each share class is detailed below.

Initial charges

# <u>Sub-Funds: Emirates Emerging Market Debt Fund, Emirates MENA Fixed Income Fund and Emirates Global Sukuk</u> Fund

Directors of the Fund have determined that different Share Classes shall carry different subscription charges.

In respect of the A, E, G, GI, I, P, R and S Share Classes, the Directors have determined that the Global Distributor or any of the appointed sub-distributors may levy a subscription charge not exceeding 4% of the subscription amount (or such higher percentage as may from time to time be determined by the Directors subject to this prospectus being amended) to be retained for its absolute use and benefit.

The Directors may, at their sole discretion, decide to reduce or waive this subscription charge in specific circumstances.

In respect of the B Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 1.20% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Share Class to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day for the first year since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect of the C Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 4% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Fund to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day

for the first five years since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect of the D Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 1.80% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Fund to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day for the first three years since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect to the X Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors (being Feeder Funds or Sub-Funds of the Fund) will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of the subscription amount.

Sub-Funds: Emirates Global Quarterly Income Fund, Emirates Active Managed Fund, Emirates Balanced Managed Fund, Emirates Islamic Global Balanced Fund, Emirates World Opportunities Fund, Emirates MENA Top Companies Fund, Emirates India Equity Fund, Emirates Signature Cautious Fund, Emirates Signature Moderate Fund and Emirates Signature Aggressive Fund.

Directors of the Fund have determined that different Share Classes shall carry different subscription charges.

In respect of the A, E, G, GI, I, P, R and S Share Classes, the Directors have determined that the Global Distributor or any of the appointed sub-distributors may levy a subscription charge not exceeding 5% of the subscription amount (or such higher percentage as may from time to time be determined by the Directors subject to this prospectus being amended) to be retained for its absolute use and benefit.

The Directors may, at their sole discretion, decide to reduce or waive this subscription charge in specific circumstances.

In respect of the B Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 1.20% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Share Class to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day for the first year since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect of the C Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 5% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Fund to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day for the first five years since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect of the D Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of their subscription amount. A deferred sales fee, amounting to 2.40% of the value of any subscription, (the "Deferred Sales Fee") will be payable by the Fund to the Investment Manager for its absolute use and benefit in full following the subscription confirmation and amortised back to the Fund on each Valuation Day for the first three years since subscription. The Deferred Sales Fee will therefore be reflected in the Net Asset Value of the Share Class. The Deferred Sales Fee shall apply to all initial subscriptions and any subsequent subscriptions.

In respect to the X Share Classes, there is no subscription charge and investors (being Feeder Funds or Sub-Funds of the Fund) will receive an initial allotment of Shares equivalent to 100% of the subscription amount.

### Summary of fees

Class	Currency	Manageme	Performance	Deferred	Class	Minimum	Minimum	Minimum
		nt Fee (p.a.)	fee	Sales Fee	type	initial	top up	holding
						investment		
Α	USD	1.50%	15% on	Nil	Inc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
			returns		and			
			above the		Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
Α	SGD***	1.50%	15% on	Nil	Inc	SGD 1,000	SGD 500	SGD 1,000
			returns		and			
			above the		Acc			
			Hurdle Rate Return**					
A	EUR ***	1.50%	15% on	Nil	Acc	EUR 1,000	EUR 500	EUR 1,000
A	LUK	1.50%	returns	IVII	ACC	LOK 1,000	LOK 300	LOK 1,000
			above the					
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
B*	USD	1.60%	15% on	See	Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
			returns	table	and			
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
B*	SGD***	1.60%	15% on	See	Inc	SGD40,000	SGD5,000	SGD15,000
			returns	table	and			
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
B*	GBP***	1.60%	Return** 15% on	See	Inc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
ט	GDF	1.00%	returns	table	and	GBF 13,000	GBF3,000	GBF 7,300
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate	SCIOW	7.00			
			Return**					

C*	USD	1.60%	15% on	See	Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
			returns	table	and			
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
C*	SGD***	1.600/	Return**	Coo	Inc	SCD40 000	SCDE 000	SCD1F 000
C*	SGD***	1.60%	15% on returns	See table	Inc and	SGD40,000	SGD5,000	SGD15,000
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate	DCIOW	Acc			
			Return**					
C*	GBP***	1.60%	15% on	See	Inc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
			returns	table	and			
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
D	USD	1.50%	15% on	See	Inc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
			returns	table	and			
			above the Hurdle Rate	below	Acc			
			Return**					
D	AED	1.50%	15% on	See	Inc	AED 1,000	AED 500	AED 1,000
	7125	1.5070	returns	table	and	7122 1,000	7.25 300	7.25 2,000
			above the	below	Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
Е	AED	1.6%	15% on	Nil	Inc	AED75,000	AED75,000	AED50,000
			returns		and			
			above the		Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
C*	LICE	4.600/	Return**	A1'1	<b>.</b>	425.000	640.000	¢40.000
G*	USD	1.60%	15% on	Nil	Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
			returns above the		and Acc			
			Hurdle Rate		Acc			
			Return**					
G*	SGD***	1.60%	15% on	Nil	Inc	SGD40,000	SGD5,000	SGD15,000
			returns		and	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
			above the		Acc			
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					
I	USD	1.25%	15% on	Nil	Inc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
			returns		and			
			above the		Acc			
			Hurdle Rate Return**					
P	USD	1.25%	Nil	Nil	Inc	\$10,000,000	\$2,500,000	\$5,000,000
Г	עכט	1.25%	INII	INII	and	\$10,000,000	, γ∠,300,000	\$3,000,000
					Acc			
S	USD	0.75%	15% on	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10
			returns					
			above the					
			Hurdle Rate					
			Return**					

Х	USD	0.00%	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swing	pricing		Up to 1.5 % in	accordance	with sec	tion 9.8 of the p	rospectus	

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

### **Examples of performance fee calculations**

#### **Emirates Emerging Market Debt Fund**

					Hurdl e Rate			Per	formance o	arried forw	vard			
Year	Openin g NAV of the period	NAV at the end of the period	Index retur n (%)	Performan ce (%)	Retur n (HRR) (%) (inde x retur n+ 400 bps)	Outperforman ce against HRR (USD) (current period)	Outperforman ce against HRR (%) (current period)	curre nt perio d -1	curre nt perio d -2	curre nt perio d -3	curre nt perio d -4	Net performan ce (5-year rolling)	Performan ce fee at 15%	Final NAV after performan ce fees
1	100.00	102.24	-3.63	2.24	0.37	1.87	1.87	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.87	0.28	101.96
2	101.96	95.23	-4.12	-6.60	0.00	-6.73	-6.60	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-6.73	0.00	95.23
3	95.23	96.86	-2.83	1.71	1.17	0.51	0.54	-6.73	0.00	0.00	0.00	-6.22	0.00	96.86
4	96.86	97.80	-3.60	0.97	0.40	0.55	0.57	0.51	-6.73	0.00	0.00	-5.66	0.00	97.80
5	97.80	98.98	-3.39	1.21	0.61	0.59	0.60	0.55	0.51	-6.73	0.00	-5.08	0.00	98.98
6	98.98	99.83	-3.47	0.86	0.53	0.32	0.32	0.59	0.55	0.51	-6.73	-4.75	0.00	99.83
7	99.83	101.03	-4.22	1.20	0.00	1.20	1.20	0.32	0.59	0.55	0.51	1.20	0.18	100.85
8	100.85	98.54	-3.84	-2.29	0.16	-2.47	-2.45	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-2.47	0.00	98.54
9	98.54	101.88	-3.84	3.39	0.16	3.18	3.23	-2.47	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.71	0.11	101.773

The fund is launched with the initial NAV of 100 USD.

At the end of year 1, the fund achieves positive performance with NAV of 102.24 USD (or 2.24%) and exceeds Hurdle Rate Return (HRR) by 1.87 %. During the first period following the fund launch, HRR is calculated by applying the total of index return of -3.63 % and adding 400 bps. It should be noted that the HRR will be floored at zero if it is negative, i.e. if the index return is lower than -4%. The performance fee of the sub-fund given its outperformance of the HRR results in 0.28 USD payment for year 1 (15% performance fee rate is applied to the amount by which NAV at the end of period outperformed HRR).

<sup>\*\*</sup> The Hurdle Rate Return will be equal to Goldman Sachs USD GS 3 Month Money Market Index plus 400 bps, applicable on a pro rata basis to the aggregate of the NAV of the Share Class as at the Calculation Day of the previous Crystallisation Date (or the NAV on launch of the Share Class in respect of the first Calculation Day), adjusted for the total of all subsequent subscriptions and redemptions (calculated at the time of the relevant subscription or redemption) made in respect of the Share Class since the Calculation Day of the previous Crystallisation Date (or since launch of the Sub-Fund in respect of the first Calculation Day.)

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

At the end of year 2, the fund suffers a loss. Its performance is measured against HRR that is calculated by applying the floored HRR to take into consideration the lower than -4% performance of the index return.. The loss of 6.73 USD (6.6 %) is carried forward to the following years and needs to be recovered before any performance fee is charged. There is no payment.

Although the fund performance against HRR is positive 0.51 USD (0.54 %) at the end of year 3, there is still 6.73 USD to recover from year 2. This year's outperformance reduces the loss incurred so far leaving 6.22 USD (6.06 %) to be clawed back the following years. There is no payment.

Year 4, 5 and 6 follow the same pattern. The fund again outperforms HRR, but hasn't yet recovered from the previous underperformance. The cumulative overperformance from the previous 4 years (0.54%+0.57%+0.6%+0.32%=2.03%) doesn't exceed the loss incurred in year 2, 6.73 USD(6.60%), therefore once again there is no payment.

At the end of year 7, the fund outperforms HRR by 1.2 USD (1.2 %), given for this period the HRR is floored at 0% due to the Index return performing lower than 4% (-4.22%). The loss from year 2 is written off, since only last 5 years are taken into account as performance reference period. The previous years' positive return cannot exceed the current year overperformance, therefore performance fee based on 1.20 USD return is paid.

At the end of year 8, the fund underperforms HRR by 2.47 USD (2.45 %). The underperformance is carried forward to the following years. There is no payment.

At the end of year 9, the fund outperforms HRR by 3.18 USD (3.23 %). This amount is diminished by the previous year's loss leaving us with the net performance of 1.12 USD. The performance fee of 0.17 USD is charged. No underperformance is carried forward.

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for B Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

#### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	4%
12 months to 24 months	3.2%
24 months to 36 months	2.4%
36 months and 48 months	1.6%
48 months and 60 months	0.8%
More than 60 months	0%

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.80%
12 months to 24 months	1.20%
24 months to 36 months	0.60%

The gross exposure shall not exceed 200%.

B*  B*  C*  C*	USD SGD*** USD SGD*** USD SGD***	1.50%  1.50%  1.50%  1.60%  1.60%	Sales Fee  Nil  Nil  See table below  See table below  See table below  See table below	Inc, Inc² and Acc Inc and Acc	initial investment \$ 1,000 SGD 1,000 SGD 1,000 SGD40,000 SGD40,000 EUR20,000	\$500 \$500 \$GD 500 \$BP 500 \$10,000 \$GBP5,000	\$1,000 \$GD 1,000 \$GBP 1,000 \$10,000 \$GBP7,500
A A B*  B*  C*  C*	SGD***  GBP***  USD  SGD***  GBP***	1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60%	Nil Nil See table below See table below See table below See table below	and Acc Inc and	\$ 1,000 SGD 1,000 GBP 1,000 \$25,000 SGD40,000 GBP15,000	\$GD 500 GBP 500 \$10,000 \$GD5,000 GBP5,000	SGD 1,000  GBP 1,000  \$10,000  SGD15,000
A A B*  B*  C*  C*	SGD***  GBP***  USD  SGD***  GBP***	1.50% 1.50% 1.60% 1.60%	Nil Nil See table below See table below See table below See table below	and Acc Inc and	\$GD 1,000 GBP 1,000 \$25,000 \$GD40,000 GBP15,000	\$GD 500 GBP 500 \$10,000 \$GD5,000 GBP5,000	SGD 1,000  GBP 1,000  \$10,000  SGD15,000
A A B* B* C* C* C*	GBP*** USD SGD*** GBP***	1.50% 1.60% 1.60%	Nil See table below See table below See table below See table	Inc and Acc Inc and	GBP 1,000 \$25,000 SGD40,000 GBP15,000	GBP 500 \$10,000 SGD5,000 GBP5,000	\$10,000 \$10,000 \$GD15,000
A  B*  B*  C*  C*	GBP*** USD SGD*** GBP***	1.50% 1.60% 1.60%	Nil See table below See table below See table below See table	Acc Inc and	GBP 1,000 \$25,000 SGD40,000 GBP15,000	GBP 500 \$10,000 SGD5,000 GBP5,000	\$10,000 \$10,000 \$GD15,000
B*  B*  C*  C*	USD SGD*** GBP*** EUR***	1.60% 1.60%	See table below  See table below  See table below  See table	Inc and Acc Inc and	\$25,000 SGD40,000 GBP15,000	\$10,000 SGD5,000 GBP5,000	\$10,000 SGD15,000
B*  B*  C*  C*	USD SGD*** GBP*** EUR***	1.60% 1.60%	See table below  See table below  See table below  See table	Acc Inc and	\$25,000 SGD40,000 GBP15,000	\$10,000 SGD5,000 GBP5,000	\$10,000 SGD15,000
B*  B*  C*  C*	SGD***  GBP***  EUR***	1.60%	See table below  See table below  See table below	Inc and Acc Inc and Acc Inc and Acc Inc and	SGD40,000 GBP15,000	SGD5,000 GBP5,000	SGD15,000
B*  B*  C*  C*	SGD***  GBP***  EUR***	1.60%	See table below  See table below  See table below	Acc Inc and Acc Inc and Acc Inc and Acc	SGD40,000 GBP15,000	SGD5,000 GBP5,000	SGD15,000
B*  C*  C*	GBP*** EUR***	1.60%	See table below  See table below  See table	Inc and Acc Inc and Acc Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	
B*  C*  C*	GBP*** EUR***	1.60%	See table below See table	Acc Inc and Acc Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	
B*  C*  C*	GBP*** EUR***	1.60%	See table below See table	Acc Inc and Acc Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	
B*  C*  C*	EUR***		See table below See table	Inc and Acc		·	GBP7,500
B*  C*  C*	EUR***		below See table	Acc Inc and		·	GBP7,500
C* C*		1.60%	See table	Inc and	EUR20,000	FUR10 000	
C* C*		1.60%			EUR20,000	FUR10 000	1
C* C*					1 -,	U.TU,UUU	EUR12,500
C*	USD			Acc		,	
C*	USD	1					
C*		1.60%	See table	Inc and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
C*			below	Acc			
	SGD***	1.60%	See table	Inc and	SGD40,000	SGD5,000	SGD15,000
			below	Acc			
	GBP***	1.60%	See table	Inc. and	CDD1E 000	CDDE 000	GPD7 F00
C*	GBP	1.00%	below	Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
C*			SCIOV	Acc			
	EUR***	1.60%	See table	Inc and	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR12,500
			below	Acc			
D	USD	1.50%	See table	Inc and	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
_	555	1.50/0	below	Acc	71,000	7500	72,000
E	AED	1.6%	Nil	Inc and	AED80,000	AED80,000	AED50,000
				Acc			
G*	USD	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
				Acc			
G*	SGD***	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	SGD40,000	SGD5,000	SGD15,000
				Acc			
G*	GBP***	1.60%	Nil	Inc and Acc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500

G*	AED	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	AED80,000	AED80,000	AED50,000
				Acc			
I	USD	1.25%	Nil	Inc, Inc <sup>2</sup>	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
				and Acc			
S	USD	1.50%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%
12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emirat	Emirates Active Managed Fund									
Class	Currency	Investment Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top up	Minimum holding			
A	USD	1.50%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000			
B*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000			

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

B*	GBP***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
C*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
C*	GBP***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
C*	EUR***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR12,500
D	USD	1.50%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
G*	USD	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
G*	GBP***	1.60%	Nil	Inc and Acc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
G*	AED	1.60%	Nil	Inc and Acc	AED80,000	AED80,000	AED50,000
S	USD	1.50%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee		
Up to 12 months	1.2%		
12 months +	0%		

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%
12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
-------------	--------------------

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

++++++

Emirat	Emirates Balanced Managed Fund									
Class	Currency	Investment Management	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial	Minimum top up	Minimum holding			
		Fee (p.a.)			investment					
Α	USD	1.50%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000			
B*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000			
B*	GBP***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500			
C*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000			
C*	GBP***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500			
C*	EUR***	1.60%	See table below	Inc and Acc	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR12,500			
D	USD	1.50%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000			
G*	USD	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000			
G*	GBP***	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500			
G*	AED	1.60%	Nil	Inc and	AED80,000	AED80,000	AED50,000			
S	USD	1.50%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10			
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000			

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Deferred Sales Fee schedule for B Class

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee		
Up to 12 months	1.2%		
12 months +	0%		

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%
12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emirate	Emirates MENA Fixed Income Fund									
Class	Curren	Management	Deferred	Class	Class Minimum		Minimum	Minimum		
	су	Fee (p.a.)	Sales Fee	type		initial	top up	holding		
						investment				
Α	USD	1.25%	Nil	Inc	and	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000		
				Acc						
Α	GBP**	1.25%	Nil	Inc	and	GBP 1,000	GBP 500	GBP 1,000		
	*			Acc						
Α	EUR**	1.25%	Nil	Inc	and	EUR 1,000	EUR 500	EUR 1,000		
	*			Acc						
B*	USD	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000		
			below	Acc						
B*	GBP**	1.25%	See table	Acc		GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500		
	*		below							
- 4										
B*	EUR**	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR10,000		
	*		below	Acc						

C*	USD	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
	035	1.2370	below	Acc	una	723,000	710,000	710,000
			Delow	ACC				
C*	GBP**	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
	*		below	Acc				
C*	EUR**	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR10,000
	*		below	Acc				
D	USD	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
D	USD	1.25%			anu	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
			below	Acc				
D	AED	1.25%	See table	Inc	and	AED 1,000	AED 500	AED 1,000
			below	Acc		·		
E	AED	1.25%	Nil	Acc		AED3,500,00	AED1,000,00	AED1,000,000
						0	0	
G*	USD	1.35%	Nil	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
				Acc				
GI*	USD	1.40%	Nil	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
				Acc				
1	USD	1.00%	Nil	Inc	and	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
·	002	1.0075		Acc		φ = , σ σ σ , σ σ σ	φ=30,000	4555,555
R	USD	1.00%	Nil	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
N	030	1.00%	INII		anu	\$23,000	\$10,000	310,000
_				Acc				
R	GBP**	1.00%	Nil	Inc	and	GBP15,000	GBP5,000	GBP7,500
	*			Acc				
R	EUR**	1.00%	Nil	Inc	and	EUR20,000	EUR10,000	EUR10,000
	*			Acc				
S	USD	0.75%	Nil	Acc		\$10	\$10	\$10
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc		\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swing		Un to 1 5 % in a	l accordance w	ith sec	tion 9	.8 of the prospe	l ectus	
pricing		Sp to 1.5 /0 III t		500		or the prospe		
Pricing								

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee			
Up to 12 months	1.2%			
12 months +	0%			

# Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Up to 12 months	4%
12 months to 24 months	3.2%
24 months to 36 months	2.4%
36 months and 48 months	1.6%
48 months and 60 months	0.8%
More than 60 months	0%

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee			
Up to 12 months	1.80%			
12 months to 24 months	1.20%			
24 months to 36 months	0.60%			

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emira	Emirates MENA Top Companies Fund								
Class	Currency	Management Fee (p.a.)	Performance fee	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investme nt	Minimum top up	Minimum holding	
A	USD	1.75%	10% above the Hurdle Rate Return**	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$ 1,000	\$500	\$1,000	
A	GBP***	1.75%	10% above the Hurdle Rate Return**	Nil	Inc and Acc	GBP 1,000	GBP 500	GBP 1,000	
Α	EUR***	1.75%	10% above the Hurdle Rate Return**	Nil	Inc and Acc	EUR 1,000	EUR 500	EUR 1,000	
В*	USD	1.75%	10% above the Hurdle Rate Return**	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000	
В*	GBP***	1.75%	10% above the Hurdle Rate Return**	See table below	Inc and Acc	GBP15,0 00	GBP5,000	GBP7,50 0	

B*	EUR***	1.75%	10% above	See table	Inc	and	EUR20,0	EUR10,00	EUR10,0
			the Hurdle	below	Acc		00	0	00
			Rate		7.00				
			Return**						
C*	USD	1.75%	10% above	See table	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
	030	1.7570	the Hurdle	below	Acc	and	723,000	710,000	\$10,000
			Rate	DEIOW	Acc				
			Return**						
C*	GBP***	1.75%	10% above	See table	Inc	and	GBP15,0	GBP5,000	GBP7,50
C	GBP	1.75%				and		GBP3,000	0
			the Hurdle	below	Acc		00		
			Rate						
	5115444	4 750/	Return**				511822.2	511540.00	EUD400
C*	EUR***	1.75%	10% above	See table	Inc	and	EUR20,0	EUR10,00	EUR10,0 00
			the Hurdle	below	Acc		00	0	00
			Rate						
			Return**						
D	USD	1.75%	10% above	See table	Inc	and	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
			the Hurdle	below	Acc				
			Rate						
			Return**						
Е	AED	2.00%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	AED50,0	AED25,00	AED25,0
			the Hurdle		Acc		00	0	00
			Rate						
			Return**						
G*	USD	1.75%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
			the Hurdle		Acc				
			Rate						
			Return**						
G*	GBP***	1.75%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	GBP15,0	GBP5,000	GBP7,50
			the Hurdle		Acc		00		0
			Rate						
			Return**						
I	USD	1.50%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	\$1,000,0	\$250,000	\$250,000
			the Hurdle		Acc		00		
			Rate						
			Return**						
Р	USD	1.50%	Nil	Nil	Inc	and	\$5,000,0	\$2,500,0	\$250,000
					Acc		00	00	
Р	EUR***	1.50%	Nil	Nil	Inc	and	EUR5,00	EUR2,500	EUR250,
					Acc		0,000	,000	000
R	USD	1.50%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
		1.55/0	the Hurdle		Acc	and	723,000	710,000	710,000
	1		the nurule		ALL			<u> </u>	

			Rate						
			Return**						
R	GBP***	1.50%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	GBP15,0	GBP5,000	GBP7,50
			the Hurdle		Acc		00		0
			Rate						
			Return**						
R	EUR***	1.50%	10% above	Nil	Inc	and	EUR20,0	EUR10,00	EUR10,0
			the Hurdle		Acc		00	0	00
			Rate						
			Return**						
S	USD	1.00%	10% above	Nil	Acc		\$10	\$10	\$10
			the Hurdle						
			Rate						
			Return**						
X	USD	0.00%	Nil	Nil	Acc		\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swin	Swing pricing Up to 1.5 % in accordance with section 9.8 of the prospectus							spectus	

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

- the NAV of the Share Class as at the Calculation Day of the previous Crystalization Date (including distributions payable (if any) at that Calculation Day) (or the NAV on launch of the Share Class in respect of the first Calculation Day),
- adjusted for the total of all subsequent subscriptions and redemptions (calculated at the time of the relevant subscription or redemption) made in respect of the Share Class since the Calculation Day of the previous Crystalization Date (or since launch of the Sub-Fund in respect of the first Calculation Day.)

Examples of performance fee calculations

### **Emirates MENA Top Companies Fund**

	Opening NAV of	NAV at the	at the Return R	Hurdle against HRR (current period)	Outperformance against HRR	Per	formance c	arried forv	vard	Net performance	Performance	Final NAV after	
Year	the period	end of the period	(%)	Return (HRR) (USD)	(70)	(current period) (USD)	current period -1	current period -2	current period -3	current period -4	(5-year rolling)	fee at 10% (USD)	performance fees
1	100.00	120.00	10.00	110.00	10.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.00	1.00	119.00
2	119.00	115.00	10.00	130.90	-13.36	-15.90	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-15.90	0.00	115.00
3	115.00	130.00	10.00	126.50	3.04	3.50	-15.90	0.00	0.00	0.00	-12.40	0.00	130.00
4	130.00	145.00	10.00	143.00	1.54	2.00	3.50	-15.90	0.00	0.00	-10.40	0.00	145.00

<sup>\*\*</sup>The "Hurdle Rate Return" will be equal to the amount calculated by applying on a pro rata basis an annual rate of return of 10% to the aggregate of:

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

5	145.00	160.00	10.00	159.50	0.34	0.50	2.00	3.50	-15.90	0.00	-9.90	0.00	160.00
-	160.00	180.00	10.00	176.00	2.50	4.00	0.50	2.00	3.50	-15.90	-5.90	0.00	180.00
6	160.00	180.00	10.00	176.00	2.50	4.00	0.50	2.00	3.30	-15.90	-5.90	0.00	180.00
7	180.00	200.00	10.00	198.00	1.11	2.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	2.00	0.20	199.80
8	199.80	215.00	10.00	219.78	-2.39	-4.78	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-4.78	0.00	215.00
9	215.00	242.00	10.00	236.50	2.56	5.50	-4.78	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.72	0.07	241.93

The fund is launched with the initial NAV of 100 USD.

At the end of year 1, the fund achieves positive performance with NAV of 120 USD and exceeds Hurdle Rate Return (HRR) by 10 USD. During the first period following the fund launch, HRR is calculated by applying 10% rate to the initial NAV. The return of the fund measured against HRR results in 1 USD payment for year 1 (10% performance fee rate is applied to the amount by which NAV at the end of period outperformed HRR).

At the end of year 2, the fund suffers a loss. Its performance is measured against HRR that is calculated by applying 10% rate to the final NAV at the end of the preceding period. The loss of 15.9 USD is carried forward to the following years and needs to be recovered before any performance fee is charged. There is no payment.

Although the fund performance against HRR is positive (3.5 USD) at the end of year 3, there is still 15.9 USD to recover from year 2. This year's outperformance reduces the loss incurred so far leaving 12.40 USD to be clawed back the following years. There is no payment.

Year 4, 5 and 6 follow the same pattern. The fund again outperforms HRR, but hasn't yet recovered from the previous underperformance. The cumulative overperformance from the previous 4 years (3.5+2+0.5+4=10 USD) doesn't exceed the loss incurred in year 2 (15.90 USD). There is no payment.

At the end of year 7, the fund outperforms HRR by 2 USD. The loss from year 2 is written off, since only last 5 years are taken into account as performance reference period. The previous years' positive return cannot exceed the current year overperformance, therefore performance fee based on 2 USD return is paid.

At the end of year 8, the fund underperforms HRR by 4.78 USD. The underperformance is carried forward to the following years. There is no payment.

At the end of year 9, the fund outperforms HRR by 5.50 USD. This amount is diminished by the previous year's loss leaving us with the net performance of 0.72 USD. The performance fee of 0.07 USD is charged. No underperformance is carried forward.

#### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for B Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee		
Up to 12 months	1.2%		
12 months +	0%		

### Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%

12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

Emirat	es Global Su	kuk Fund					
Class	Currency	Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top	Minimum holding
Α	USD	1.25%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
Α	GBP***	1.25%	Nil	Inc and Acc	£1,000	£500	£1,000
Α	EUR***	1.25%	Nil	Inc and Acc	EUR 1,000	EUR 500	EUR 1,000
B*	USD	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
B*	EUR***	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	EUR7,000	EUR4,000	EUR4,000
B*	AED	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
C*	USD	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
C*	EUR***	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	EUR7,000	EUR4,000	EUR4,000
C*	AED	1.25%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
D	USD	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
D	AED	1.10%	See table below	Inc and	AED 1,000	AED 500	AED 1,000
G*	USD	1.25%	Nil	Inc and	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
I	USD	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
I	EUR***	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	EUR 1,000,000	EUR 250,000	EUR 500,000
R	USD	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
R	GBP***	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	£5,000	£4,000	£4,000

R	EUR***	1.10%	Nil	Inc and	EUR 7,000	EUR4,000	EUR4,000
				Acc			
S	USD	0.75%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swing		Up to 1.5 % in accordance with section 9.8 of the prospectus					
pricing							

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

# Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	4%
12 months to 24 months	3.2%
24 months to 36 months	2.4%
36 months and 48 months	1.6%
48 months and 60 months	0.8%
More than 60 months	0%

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.80%
12 months to 24 months	1.20%
24 months to 36 months	0.60%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Emira	Emirates World Opportunities Fund						
Class	Currency	Managemen t Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top	Minimum holding
Α	USD	1.50%	Nil	Acc / Inc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
В	USD	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
В	EUR	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	EUR10,000	EUR5,000	EUR5,000
В	AED	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
С	USD	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
С	EUR	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	EUR10,000	EUR5,000	EUR5,000
С	AED	1.50%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
D	USD	1.50%	See table below	Inc and	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
E	AED	1.50%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	AED50,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
G	USD	1.50%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
I	USD	1.00%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$250,000
Р	USD	0.75%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$5,000,000	\$250,000	\$250,000
R	USD	1.00%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
R	GBP	1.00%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	£5,000	£4,000	£4,000
R	EUR	1.00%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	EUR10,000	EUR5,000	EUR5,000
S	USD	1.00%	Nil	Acc	USD 10	USD 10	USD 10
Χ	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swing	pricing		Up to 1.5 %	in accordanc	e with section 9.8	of the prospect	us

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

# Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%
12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

Class	Currency	Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial	Minimum top	Minimum holding
					investment		
Α	USD	1.60%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
B*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
B*	AED	1.60%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
C*	USD	1.60%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
C*	AED	1.60%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	AED100,000	AED25,000	AED25,000
D	USD	1.25%	See table below	Acc/Inc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
D	AED	1.25%	See table below	Acc/Inc	AED 1,000	AED 500	AED 1,000
G*	USD	1.60%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$10,000	\$5,000	\$5,000
S	USD	1.00%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for B Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

# Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%

12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%
48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emirates India Equity Fund							
Class	Currency	Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top up	Minimum holding
Α	USD	1.75%	Nil	Acc /	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
B*	USD	1.75%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
C*	USD	1.75%	See table below	Acc/ Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
D	USD	1.75%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$1,000	\$500	\$1,000
G*	USD	1.75%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
GI*	USD	1.80%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$25,000	\$10,000	\$10,000
I	USD	1.25%	Nil	Acc/ Inc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
S	USD	1.00%	Nil	Acc	\$10	\$10	\$10
Х	USD	0.00%	Nil	Acc	\$100,000	\$50,000	\$50,000
Swing pricing		Up to 1.5 % in a	ccordance wit	h section 9	0.8 of the prosp	ectus	

<sup>\*</sup> Distribution fee of 0.50% per annum applies

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

# Deferred Sales Fee schedule for C Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	5%
12 months to 24 months	4%
24 months to 36 months	3%
36 months and 48 months	2%

48 months and 60 months	1%
More than 60 months	0%

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

 $\label{thm:continuous} The \ Sub-Fund\ will\ not\ invest\ in\ any\ underlying\ fund\ with\ an\ annual\ Management\ Fee\ in\ excess\ of\ 2\%.$ 

++	***	-+-	++

Class	Currency	Investment Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top up	Minimum holding
A	USD	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
Α	AED	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
Α	Euro***	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50
В	USD	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
В	AED	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
В	Euro***	1.10%	See table below	Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50
D	USD	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
D	AED	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
I	USD	0.75%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
I	Euro***	0.75%	Nil	Inc and	Euro 1,000,000	Euro 250,000	Euro 500,0
Р	USD	0.50%	Nil	Inc and	\$2,500,000	\$1,000,000	\$2,500,000

Р	Euro***	0.50%	Nil	Inc and	Euro	Euro	Euro
				Acc	2,500,000	1,000,000	2,500,000

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emirates Signature Moderate Fund							
Class	Currency	Investment Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top up	Minimum holding
A	USD	1.10%	Nil	Inc and	\$10	\$10	\$50
Α	AED	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
Α	Euro***	1.10%	Nil	Inc and Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50
В	USD	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
В	AED	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
В	Euro***	1.10%	See table below	Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50
D	USD	1.10%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50

D	AED	1.10%	See table	Inc and	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
			below	Acc			
I	USD	0.75%	Nil	Inc and	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
				Acc			
I	Euro***	0.75%	Nil	Inc and	Euro	Euro 250,000	Euro 500,000
				Acc	1,000,000		
Р	USD	0.50%	Nil	Inc and	\$2,500,000	\$1,000,000	\$2,500,000
				Acc			
Р	Euro***	0.50%	Nil	Inc and	Euro	Euro	Euro
				Acc	2,500,000	1,000,000	2,500,000

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

Emirates Signature Aggressive Fund							
Class	Currency	Investment Management Fee (p.a.)	Deferred Sales Fee	Class type	Minimum initial investment	Minimum top up	Minimum holding
Α	USD	1.20%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
Α	AED	1.20%	Nil	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
A	Euro***	1.20%	Nil	Inc and Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50

B*	USD	1.20%	See table below	Inc and	\$10	\$10	\$50
В	AED	1.20%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
В	Euro***	1.20%	See table below	Acc	Euro 10	Euro 10	Euro 50
D	USD	1.20%	See table below	Inc and Acc	\$10	\$10	\$50
D	AED	1.20%	See table below	Inc and Acc	AED 10	AED 10	AED 50
I	USD	0.75%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$1,000,000	\$250,000	\$500,000
I	Euro***	0.75%	Nil	Inc and Acc	Euro 1,000,000	Euro 250,000	Euro 500,000
Р	USD	0.50%	Nil	Inc and Acc	\$2,500,000	\$1,000,000	\$2,500,000
Р	Euro***	0.50%	Nil	Inc and Acc	Euro 2,500,000	Euro 1,000,000	Euro 2,500,000

<sup>\*\*\* 100%</sup> hedged into USD

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	1.2%
12 months +	0%

## Deferred Sales Fee schedule for D Class

Time period	Deferred Sales Fee
Up to 12 months	2.40%
12 months to 24 months	1.60%
24 months to 36 months	0.80%

The Sub-Fund will not invest in any underlying fund with an annual Management Fee in excess of 2%.

#### Administration Fees

For its services as Administrator and unless otherwise agreed for a specific Sub-Fund, State Street Bank International GmbH, Luxembourg Branch shall receive an annual fee based upon a reducing scale, from 0.45% to 0.15%, depending upon the value of the Fund's net assets. This fee is calculated and accrued on each Valuation Day and is payable by the Fund monthly in arrears and as agreed from time to time in writing.

Such fee shall accrue at each Valuation Point and shall be payable to the Administrator by monthly payments in arrears and shall be payable out of the assets of each Sub-Fund within fifteen days of the relevant month's end. Additional charges may arise from time to time at the discretion of the Directors.

### **Depositary Fees**

The Depositary, or other such depositary who may at the discretion of the Directors be appointed to the Sub-Fund, will be paid custody fees at market rates, or as agreed between the Fund, and the Depositary from time to time, subject to a maximum rate of 12 bps per annum based on the daily average net assets of each Sub-Fund.

The Custody Fees are divided into two categories for each market of investment, namely safekeeping fees and transaction fees. The safekeeping fee is an annual fee, billable monthly, based on the value of the month end assets. Safekeeping fees are based on a "per country" basis and include the safekeeping fees charged by any sub custodians. The transaction fee is essentially a trade settlement fee and also includes any sub custodian expenses.

Such fees in respect of the Sub-Fund will accrue at each Valuation Day and shall be payable monthly in arrears to the Depositary from the assets of the Sub-Fund and within fifteen days of the relevant month's end.

For the avoidance of doubt, therefore, these fees will not apply for leverage taken solely to meet any temporary shortages of funds created by redemption requests for the redemption of Shares or leverage used because of timing differences in connection with the purchase and settlement of Fund property. No leverage may be taken by a Sub-Fund which is Shari' compliant.

#### Management Company Fees

In consideration of its services, the Management Company is entitled to receive fees of up to 0.05% p.a. with a minimum of €40,000 p.a. for the Fund made up of two Sub-Funds. A minimum fee of EUR 15,000.- will be charged for each additional Sub-Fund. These fees shall be calculated based on the quarterly average of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Funds and shall be paid quarterly in arrears. In addition to the Management Company Fees, the Management Company is entitled to a fee of EUR 11,000.- p.a per non-complex Sub-Fund and EUR 16,000.- p.a per complex Sub-Fund for the additional performance of risk management and investment compliance services. Moreover, the Management Company shall be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Company additional fees corresponding to the provision of additional services, as agreed from time to time, allowing the Company to comply with any new regulatory requirements impacting the Company. In addition, the Management Company shall be entitled to receive reimbursement for its reasonable disbursements, included but not limited to out-of-pocket expenses, incurred in the performance of its duties. Third parties to whom functions have been delegated by the Management Company with the approval of the Fund will be remunerated directly by the Fund (out of the assets of

the relevant Sub-Fund). Such remunerations are not included in the Management Company Fee payable to the Management Company.

#### Global Distributor Fees

For its services, the Global Distributor shall receive an annual fee based on the Fund's net assets of 0.03 % p.a. Such fee shall be accrued on each Valuation Day and is payable by each class of each Sub-Fund monthly in arrears, as agreed, from time to time.

#### Other fees

The Management Company, the Investment Manager, the Depositary and the Administrator are also entitled to be reimbursed their out of pocket expenses properly incurred in the performance of their respective duties attributable to each Sub-Fund. The relevant Sub-Fund will in addition settle all its own expenses including the costs and expenses of advisers, consultants, Shari'a board, developers, surveyors and other agents engaged on its behalf, commissions, banking fees, legal expenses, auditors, and the costs of distribution of reports and accounts and similar documentation of Shareholders and attribute such expenses amongst the Sub-Funds as the Directors deem appropriate.

All normal operating expenses including (but not limited to) audit fees, registration and permit fees, legal fees, tax, charges incurred on the acquisition and realization of investments, costs of publication and distribution of prospectuses and annual reports, the publication of share prices and other costs (including advisory costs on formation or costs directly linked to the formation itself) will be apportioned between the Sub-Funds as the Directors deem appropriate.